# Drug use and drug-related problems in nursing homes: prevalence, changes following medication review and variation between institutions

Drug use and medication review in nursing homes in Oslo



Thesis for the degree philosophiae doctor (ph.d.) at the University of Oslo

# Amura Francesca Gladhaug

Department of General Practice Institute of Health and Society University of Oslo

# © Amura Francesca Gladhaug, 2022

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8377-954-7

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

# CONTENTS

1	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS				
2	SUMMARY				
3	NORSK SAMMENDRAG AV AVHANDLINGEN				
4	PREFACE				
5	LIST OF PUBLICATIONS				
6	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS				
7	BACKGROUND				
	7.1	General background	15		
	7.2	Drug utilization areas in need for further knowledge	24		
8	AIMS	AIMS			
9	METI	METHODS AND MATERIALS			
10	ETHICS AND DATA SECURITY				
11	FUNDING				
12	SYNOPSIS OF THE ARTICLES				
	12.1	Article I	40		
	12.2	Article II	42		
	12.3	Article III	44		
13	GENERAL DISCUSSION				
	13.1	Methodological considerations	46		
	13.2	Discussion of results	48		
		<ul><li>13.2.1 Drug utilization at nursing homes</li><li>13.2.2 Medication review to reduce drug-related problems</li></ul>	48 52		
14	CONCLUSIONS				
15	CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH 5				
16	REFERENCES				
17	ARTI	CLES	72		

## **1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I want to thank the Medical Faculty of the University of Oslo, The Nursing Home Agency in Oslo municipality and the Norwegian Research Council for giving me the opportunity to perform this ph.d. project.

I am deeply grateful for the support received from my supervisor Professor Jørund Straand, Head of the Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, for his time and professional supervision throughout the project, from planning the studies, delivering the papers, presenting at congresses and to completing this thesis. I express my gratitude to my co-supervisor Professor Emeritus Knut Engedal from the University of Oslo and the National Center for Ageing and Health for his time and valuable advice throughout the entire ph.d. project and publication work. I also express my gratitude to my co-supervisor senior researcher and Professor II Hege Salvesen Blix from the Norwegian Institute of Public Health in Oslo for her valuable advice, encouraging attitude and for providing the drug prescription information from the Norwegian Prescription Database for the second paper.

I also thank my co-author Ibrahimu Mdala from the Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, for his guidance on statistical matters and help with the statistical analyses in all three papers.

I also acknowledge my colleagues at the Department of General Practice, the Institute of Health and Society for the friendly and supportive working environment, especially my office mates Lene Dalbak and Kjersti Nøkleby with whom I shared up- and downturns as ph.d. fellows, and Siri E. Janssen and Anja Brænd for their kind help in all matters. I am also grateful for all the support from the Nursing Home Agency in Oslo municipality for partly funding this ph.d. and for the supportive mentoring from Bente Thoresen and Siri Seterelv, chief physicians at the Agency. Special gratitude to Gunnar Kvalvaag, former chief physician at the Agency for believing in my motivation for research and for giving me the opportunity to use data from the Medication Review Project in my ph.d. work. I hope that outcomes of this thesis will contribute to improving the drug use quality in nursing homes and to future research in the municipality.

Special thanks to my sons Franck and Erik and to my husband Ole, for their patience and encouragement while working on this thesis. Moreover, deep gratitude to my parents from whom I learned that dreams and ambitious targets are within reach.

#### 2 SUMMARY

#### Background

Nursing home (NH) residents are characterized by old age, multimorbidity, polypharmacy and a high prevalence of dementia. The common use of potentially inappropriate medications increases the risk for drug-related problems (DRPs), such as adverse drug reactions, sometimes with serious consequences. In Norway, the national prescription database does not include individual drug prescription data for persons living in NHs. Such data must therefore be collected from the institutions, e.g. as part of a research project. Although NH residents are considered more multimorbid and frail than their peers living at home, little is known about drug utilization of older people living at home as compared with their peers residing in NHs. Little has been published about the drug use at NHs in Oslo, even though the municipality has the largest NH population in Norway. Previous medication review (MR) studies, predominately from other regions in Norway, have shown variation between NHs in drug use, but little is known about the reasons for the variation. Knowledge about variation in DRPs between NHs is scarce. Whether the increased attention towards more appropriate drug treatment in NHs during the last decade has led to more uniform drug use needs to be investigated in larger studies. MRs are recommended interventions for identifying and resolving DRPs in NHs, but to which extent they reduce inappropriate medication use needs to be researched further.

This present thesis has focused on the drug utilization in NHs in Oslo investigating the:

- DRPs and changes in drug utilization after MRs in NHs (article I)
- variation between NHs in drug use and in DRPs (article II)
- differences between the drug use of older NH residents and their peers living at home (*article III*).

## Methods and materials

This thesis consists of three cross-sectional studies. The drug use data in NHs was generated by 2,465 MRs performed at 41 NHs in Oslo during 2011 - 2014. The drug use data of Oslo residents  $\geq$  70 years old living at home in 2012 (n = 48,944) was retrieved from the Norwegian Prescription Database.

The MRs were performed according to a standardized procedure by multidisciplinary teams consisting of a pharmacist, NH physician and NH nurse. The pharmacists identified potential

DRPs by using the explicit criteria STOPP/START, the NORGEP criteria and the Norwegian drug–drug interaction database. The potential DRPs were discussed during MR meetings, taken into account the clinical information about the patients. Thereafter the teams agreed upon the DRPs and the interventions to resolve them.

*Article I:* The use of regular and pro re nata (prn) drugs was compared before and after the MRs in 2,465 long-term NH patients and the DRPs and interventions to solve them were described. Factors associated with DRPs and with change in the number of drugs after MR were explored by regression analysis.

*Article II:* The variation between 41 NHs in the use of regular drugs and in the DRPs was described. The NH quartiles with highest and lowest mean drugs per patient were compared in terms of drug use and DRPs. Relationships between drug use and DRPs and factors associated with DRPs at the respective NH were explored by using the Pearson's correlation coefficient and regression analysis.

*Article III:* the drug use of older people ( $\geq$  70 years) living in a NH or in their own homes in Oslo during 2012 was described and compared by gender and by age.

## **Main findings**

*Article I:* Following the MRs an average of 2.6 DRPs per patient were identified, 2.0 for regular and 0.6 for prn drugs. The use of unnecessary drugs (43.5%), excess dosing (12.5%) and lack of monitoring of the drug use (11%) were the most frequent DRPs. Opioids and psychotropic drugs were most commonly involved in all DRPs. Being a woman was associated with an 11% increased risk of DRPs. DPRs were not associated with the age of the NH residents. The most frequent change in drug use was to stop using the drug (42.4%) and almost half of the discontinued drugs (47.6%) were drugs for prn use. The need to monitor the drug use (22.7%) and to adjust, mainly decrease, the dosages (17.8%) involved almost exclusively drugs for regular use (96.0%). The mean number of drugs per patient decreased by 9.3% (p < 0.01) after the MR, from 6.8 to 6.3 for regular drugs and from 3.0 to 2.6 for prn drugs. For regular drugs, the reduction was significant for diuretics (4.7%), antidepressants (3.9%), hypnotics/sedatives (3.7%), antithrombotic agents (2.7%), antacid drugs (2.1%) and antipsychotics (1.8%). For prn drugs, the reduction was significant for opioids (11.2%), anxiolytics (7.1%), hypnotics/sedatives (5.8%), metoclopramide (3.5%), nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (2.9%), expectorants (2.7%) and antipsychotics (1.5%).

*Article II:* There was a large variation between the NHs in mean numbers of regular drugs per patient (from 4.8 to 9.3) and in mean DRPs per patient (from 0.5 to 3.4). The proportion of patients within each NH using psychotropic and analgesic drugs varied substantially between different institutions: antipsychotics from 3% to 50%, benzodiazepines from 24% to 99%, antidepressants from 9% to 75%, antidementia drugs from no use to 42%, opioids from no use to 65% and paracetamol from 16% to 74%. Using more drugs (IRR 95% CI: 1.07) and the use of opioids (IRR: 1.07), antipsychotics (IRR: 1.20), benzodiazepines (IRR: 1.08) and antidepressants (IRR: 1.18) were associated with more DRPs at the respective NHs. The quartiles of NHs with highest and lowest mean number of drugs per patient (7.7 vs. 5.7, p < 0.001) had comparable mean number of DRPs per patient (2.2 vs. 1.8, p = 0.2).

*Article III:* NH patients were more likely than their peers living at home to use antidementia drugs (Relative risk, RR = 5.7), antipsychotics (RR = 4.0), paracetamol (RR = 4.0), anxiolytics (RR = 3.0), antidepressants (RR = 2.8), dopaminergic drugs (RR = 2.7), antiepileptic drugs (RR = 2.4), loop diuretics (RR = 2.3), cardiac nitrates (RR = 2.1) or opioids (RR = 2.0). On the other hand, the NH residents were less likely to use statins (RR = 0.2), NSAIDs (RR = 0.3), osteoporosis drugs (RR = 0.3), thiazide diuretics (RR = 0.4), calcium channel blockers (RR = 0.5) or renin–angiotensin inhibitors (RR = 0.5). Both populations had only minor differences in drug use by gender and a trend towards less drug use with increasing age (p < 0.01). In each setting, ten drugs/therapeutic groups were identified which we consider to be in particular need for critical rethinking during future educational interventions or MRs.

#### Conclusions

The use of psychotropic and analgesic drugs was high and varied substantially between different NHs. The prevalence of DRPs also varied largely between the NHs, suggesting different prescription cultures at the institutions. The use of unnecessary drugs and excessive dosing were common, suggesting overtreatment. The use of more drugs, opioids and psychotropic drugs was associated with an increased risk for DRPs at the respective NHs. No difference was found in DRPs between the NH-groups with highest vs. lowest drug use. The MRs resulted in overall less drug use due to withdrawal of drugs, especially opioids and psychotropic drugs, and due to lowering of drug dosages.

Drug use by older people differs according to care level, and so do areas in need for quality improvement and further research.

## **3 NORSK SAMMENDRAG AV AVHANDLINGEN**

#### Bakgrunn

Sykehjemsbeboere karakteriseres av høy alder, multimorbiditet, et høyt forbruk av legemidler og økt risiko for legemiddelinteraksjoner og bivirkninger. En stor andel har i tillegg kognitiv svikt som gjør det vanskelig å kommunisere om (bi)virkninger av legemidler. En stor andel av de som bor på norske sykehjem eksponeres for uhensiktsmessig medisinering og legemiddelrelaterte problemer som eksempelvis legemiddelbivirkninger, noen ganger med alvorlige konsekvenser. Fordi Reseptregisteret ikke omfatter sykehjemsbeboere, må deres legemiddelbruk hentes ut fra hver enkelt institusjon, for eksempel som del av et forskningsprosjekt. Man antar at sykehjemsbeboere er sykere enn hjemmeboende eldre, men det finnes lite kunnskap om eventuelle forskjeller i legemiddelbruken mellom sykehjemsbeboere og hjemmeboende eldre. Lite er kjent om legemiddelbruken på sykehjem i Oslo, på tross av at kommunen har den største sykehjemspopulasjonen i Norge. Tidligere studier av legemiddelgjennomgang på sykehjem, hovedsakelig fra andre deler av landet, har vist til dels stor variasjon i legemiddelbruken mellom sykehjemmene, men lite er kjent om årsakene til denne. Kunnskap om variasjon i legemiddelrelaterte problemer mellom sykehjemmene er veldig begrenset. Det er behov for nye og større studier for å undersøke om økt fokus på mer hensiktsmessig medisinering i sykehjem de siste årene har bedret kvaliteten og ført til mindre forskjeller i legemiddelbruken og legemiddelrelaterte problemer mellom sykehjemmene. Legemiddelgjennomgang er anbefalt metode for å heve kvaliteten av legemiddelbehandling i sykehjem. I hvilken grad legemiddelgjennomganger egentlig fører til mer hensiktsmessig legemiddelbruk er imidlertid fortsatt et åpent spørsmål. Det er derfor nødvendig med ytterligere forskning på dette området.

Denne avhandlingen beskriver legemiddelbruken på sykehjemmene i Oslo, med fokus på:
legemiddelrelaterte problemer og endringer i legemiddelbruken etter
legemiddelgjennomgang på sykehjemmene (*artikkel I*)

• variasjonen blant sykehjemmene i legemiddelbruken og i legemiddelrelaterte problemer (*artikkel II*)

• forskjeller mellom legemiddelbruken blant eldre Osloborgere som bor på sykehjem eller hjemme (*artikkel III*)

#### Metoder og materiale

Avhandlingen består av tre tverrsnittsstudier. Legemiddeldataene for sykehjemsbeboerne ble generert av 2465 legemiddelgjennomganger ved 41 sykehjem som har deltatt i et kvalitetssikringsprosjekt i perioden 2011-2014 i Oslo kommune. Legemiddeldataene for 48 944 eldre Oslo borgere som bodde hjemme i 2012, ble innhentet fra det nasjonale Reseptregisteret.

Legemiddelgjennomgangene ble gjennomført tverrfaglig av farmasøyt, sykehjemslege og sykepleier. Farmasøyten gjennomgikk medisinlisten og identifiserte potensielle legemiddelrelaterte problemer ved bruk av eksplisitte kriterier for uhensiktsmessig legemiddelbruk (STOPP/START og NORGEP) og den norske interaksjonsdatabasen. De identifiserte legemiddelrelaterte problemer og klinisk informasjon om den enkelte sykehjemspasient ble diskutert i de tverrfaglige team, og man ble enige om reelle legemiddelrelaterte problemer og om endringer i legemiddelbehandlingen. *Artikkel I:* Bruken av faste og ved behov legemidler ble sammenlignet før og etter legemiddelgjennomgang på 2465 langtids sykehjemsbeboere. Legemiddelrelaterte problemer som ble identifisert ved legemiddelgjennomgang, og endringer i medisineringen ble beskrevet. Faktorer assosiert med legemiddelrelaterte problemer og med endringer i medisinering ble testet ved regresjonsanalyse.

*Artikkel II:* Variasjonen i bruken av faste legemidler og i legemiddelrelaterte problemer blant 41 sykehjem ble beskrevet. Kvartilene med sykehjem med høyest og lavest antall legemidler per pasient per sykehjem ble sammenlignet i forhold til legemiddelbruk og legemiddelrelaterte problemer. Assosiasjoner mellom legemidler og legemiddelrelaterte problemer, samt faktorer assosiert med legemiddelrelaterte problemer ved det respektive sykehjemmet, ble testet ved Pearson's korrelasjonskoeffisient og regresjonsanalyse. *Artikkel III:* Legemiddelbruken av Osloborgere  $\geq$  70 år gamle boende på sykehjem eller hjemme i 2012 ble beskrevet og sammenlignet etter kjønn og aldersgrupper.

## Resultater

*Artikkel I:* Ved legemiddelgjennomgang ble identifisert gjennomsnittlig 2,6 reelle legemiddelrelaterte problemer per pasient, 2,0 for faste legemidler og 0,6 for legemidler ved behov. De hyppigste legemiddelrelaterte problemer var bruken av unødvendig legemiddel (43,5%), bruken av for høy dose (12,5%) og behov for monitorering av legemiddelbruken (11,0%). Opioider og psykofarmaka var hyppigst involvert i alle legemiddelrelaterte problemer. Kvinner hadde 11% høyere risiko for legemiddelrelaterte problemer enn menn, mens alder var ikke assosiert med risiko for legemiddelrelaterte problemer. Den hyppigste endringen i legemiddelbruken var å seponere unødvendige legemidler (42,4%) og nesten halvparten av disse var legemidler ved behov (47,6%). Monitorering av legemiddelbruken (22,7%) og reduksjon av legemiddeldosen (17,8%) involverte hovedsakelig faste legemidler (96,0%). Antall legemidler per pasient ble redusert med 9,3% (p < 0.01) etter legemiddelgjennomgang fra i gjennomsnitt 6,8 til 6,3 for faste legemidler og fra 3,0 til 2,6 for legemidler ved behov. For faste legemidler var reduksjonen signifikant for diuretika (4,7%), antidepressiva (3,9%), hypnotika/sedativa (3,7%), antitrombotika (2,7%), protonpumpehemmere (2,1%) og antipsykotika (1,8%). For legemidler ved behov var reduksjonen signifikant for opioider (11,2%), anxiolytika (7,1%), hypnotika/sedativa (5,8%), metoklopramid (3,5%), NSAIDs (2, 9%), mukolytika (2,7%) og antipsykotika (1,5%). Artikkel II: Vi fant en stor variasjon blant sykehjemmene i gjennomsnittlig antall faste legemidler per pasient (fra 4,8 til 9,3) og i legemiddelrelaterte problemer per pasient (fra 0,5 til 3,4). Andel av pasienter som brukte psykofarmaka og analgetika varierte mye mellom sykehjemmene: antipsykotika fra 3% til 50 %, benzodiazepiner fra 24% til 99%, antidepressiva fra 9% til 75%, midler mot demens fra ingen bruk til 42%, opioider fra ingen bruk til 65% og paracetamol fra 16% til 74%. Det var ingen forskjell i gjennomsnittlig legemiddelrelaterte problemer per pasient (2, 2 vs. 1, 8, p = 0, 2) mellom kvartilene av sykehjem med henholdsvis høyest og lavest gjennomsnittlig antall legemidler per pasient (7,7 vs. 5,7, p < 0.001). Bruken av flere legemidler (IRR 95 % CI: 1,07), opioider (IRR: 1,07), antipsykotika (IRR: 1,20), benzodiazepiner (IRR: 1,08) eller antidepressiva (IRR: 1,18) var assosiert med en høyere risiko for legemiddelrelaterte problemer ved det enkelte sykehjem. Artikkel III: Sammenlignet med eldre hjemmeboende, brukte sykehjemsbeboerne oftere midler mot demens (relativ risk, RR = 5,7), antipsykotika (RR = 4,0), paracetamol (RR = 4,0), anxiolytika (RR = 3.0), antidepressiva (RR = 2.8), dopaminerge midler (RR = 2.7), antiepileptika (RR = 2,4), slyngediuretika (RR = 2,3), nitrater (RR = 2,1) og opioider (RR = 2,0). På den annen side brukte sykehjemsbeboerne færre statiner (RR = 0,2), NSAIDs (RR =(0,3), bisfosfonater (RR = 0,3), tiazider (RR = 0,4), kalsium antagonister (RR = 0,5) og midler med virkning på renin-angiotensin systemet (RR = 0.5). Begge populasjonene viste små forskjeller i legemiddelbruken etter kjønn, og en trend mot mindre bruk ved økende alder (p < 0,01). I hver av populasjonene har vi identifisert ti legemiddelgrupper vi mener bør være i fokus for fremtidige kvalitetsforbedringstiltak.

# Konklusjoner

Legemiddelbruken på sykehjem var høy, og spesielt bruken av psykofarmaka og analgetika varierte mye mellom sykehjemmene. Omfanget av legemiddelrelaterte problemer varierte mye mellom sykehjemmene, muligens som tegn på forskjellig forskrivningspraksis ved sykehjemmene. De hyppigste legemiddelrelaterte problemer gjaldt overbehandling, enten ved bruk av unødvendige legemidler eller bruk av for høye doser. Det var ingen forskjeller i forekomsten av legemiddelrelaterte problemer mellom sykehjem med høyest versus lavest legemiddelbruk, til tross for at bruk av flere legemidler, opioider, antipsykotika, benzodiazepiner eller antidepressiva var assosiert med økt risiko for legemiddelrelaterte problemer ved de respektive sykehjemmene.

Som følge av seponering av spesielt psykofarmaka og opioider, og redusert legemiddeldosering ble bruken av legemidler redusert etter legemiddelgjennomgangene. Legemiddelbruken hos eldre er svært forskjellig mellom de som bor i eget hjem og de som bor i sykehjem. Forskrivningsområdene med behov for kvalitetsforbedring og forskning vil derfor også være ulik i de to settingene.

# **4 PREFACE**

My motivation for pursuing a ph.d. endeavor so late in my professional life is rooted in my genuine interest in research; from the first article and presentation while I was a medical student, to working with international clinical trials for many years at Nycomed Imaging/GE Healthcare Norway. I returned to clinical work in 2007 and since then, I hold full-time nursing home physician positions at three nursing homes in Oslo. I often experience that prescribing the "correct" medication to nursing home patients is challenging, mainly because of limited evidence on effects and safety of medicines in multimorbid old olds with short life expectancies. Quite often, decisions are difficult and may lead to plenty of concerns, like when you consider if an unsteady patient with atrial fibrillation should continue or should stop anticoagulant treatment after the last fall accident. Therefore, I was highly committed when "my" nursing home volunteered to participate in a project to improve the medication use at the nuring homes in Oslo (the medication review project). We enrolled all bed units at our institution so almost all of our patients underwent a medication review. I have seen the medication review as an opportunity for a systematic team assessment with potentials to improve the pharmacotherapy for our patients. Another incitement was the ongoing discussion on polypharmacy in nursing homes. In my opinion, the number of drugs in itself does not define safe medication use or not. I was also curious if my colleagues might have different prescription cultures. Later, I was given the opportunity to use datasets generated by this project in the planning of my thesis.

This ph.d. is a public-sector ph.d. (offentlig-sektor ph.d.) anchored at the Institute for Health and Society at the University of Oslo. My employer, the Nursing Home Agency in Oslo municipality, co-applied and partly financed my grant from the Norwegian Research Council. The motivation for the Agency was, as stated in the grant application, to establish own clinical research activities in the municipality focusing on geriatric and nursing home medicine issues that can be translated into interventions leading to improved medical care at the nursing homes.

This thesis contributes with new data on the drug utilization in a large nursing home population that has so far not been studied in detail. I hope that this thesis will contribute to improved procedures for drug utilization at the nursing homes and to further research on the pharmacotherapy of this vulnerable population. I am eager to apply the skills acquired during the ph.d. work and I'm looking forward to continuing research activities in nursing homes.

# **5** LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

# Article I:

Fog AF, Kvalvaag G, Engedal K, Straand J. Drug-related problems and changes in drug utilization after medication reviews in nursing homes in Oslo, Norway. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2017;35:329–35. doi: 10.1080/02813432.2017.1397246

# Article II:

Fog AF, Mdala I, Engedal K, Straand J. Variation between nursing homes in drug use and in drug-related problems. BMC Geriatr. 2020;20:336. doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-01745-y

# Article III:

Fog AF, Straand J, Engedal K, Blix HS. Drug use differs by care level. A cross-sectional comparison between older people living at home or in a nursing home in Oslo, Norway. BMC Geriatr. 2019;19(1):49. doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1064-8

# **6** LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

# ATC: Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical

BPSD: Behavioural and Psychological Symptoms in Dementia

CI: Confidence interval

DRP: Drug-related problem

IRR: Incidence rate ratio

MR: Medication review

NH: Nursing home

NH Agency: Nursing Home Agency

NORGEP: The Norwegian General Practice criteria

NORGEP-NH: The Norwegian General Practice - Nursing Home criteria

NorPD: Norwegian Prescription Database

NSAIDs: Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

PCNE: Pharmaceutical Care Network Europe

PIM: Potentially inappropriate medication

prn: pro re nata (as needed)

**RR:** Relative risk

RU: Regular bed unit

SCU: Special care unit for patients with dementia

STOPP/START criteria: Screening Tool of Older People's Prescriptions and Screening Tool to Alert to Right Treatment criteria

#### 7 BACKGROUND

#### 7.1 General background

#### Older people

In developed countries, more and more people live long lives, increasing the share of older people in the population, especially of those 80 years and older, which changes the shape of the population pyramids. In the absence of a better cut-off measure, in most developed countries a chronological age of 65 years and above is accepted as a definition of an "elderly" or old person (1). Due to inter-individual variability in the aging process, health, disease and disability, older people are indeed a heterogeneous group, ranging from fit people living autonomous lives in the community, to frail and dependent nursing home (NH) residents. With the aging of the population, substantially more people of today are living with multimorbidity (2;3), dementia (4) and frailty (5). Despite the prevalence of these conditions, older people today live longer with less functional limitations or disabilities than equally olds in earlier generations (6;7). Most evidence for people aged < 85 years suggests postponement of limitations and disabilities, whereas for people aged  $\geq$  85 years, the situation is less clear (7).

Direct extrapolation of drugs' efficacy or safety to older people should be made with caution because the effects and safety of drugs in general are documented for younger adults with less comorbidities. Especially people older than 80 years of age have been under-enrolled in clinical trials (8). Older people are a "special population" as compared to younger adults due to their higher prevalence of multimorbidity, age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics and an increased risk for adverse drug reactions (8;9).

## **Multimorbidity**

The most common chronic diseases in older people include cardiovascular disease, diabetes, osteoarthritis, cancer and dementia (3;10). The prevalence of older people with two or more chronic diseases (multimorbidity) is above 60% and among persons aged  $\geq$  85 years it is above 80% (11). Multimorbidity is commonly associated with functional decline (12), frailty (13), worse health outcomes, more complex clinical management and increased health care costs (3;14). Therefore, dealing with multimorbidity needs a person-centered rather than a disease-oriented approach (11;15). Although clinical guidelines discuss the older population, only a handful of them adequately address issues related to older patients with multimorbidities (16). A literature survey of trials from 11 Cochrane Reviews for four chronic

diseases (diabetes, heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and stroke) showed that comorbidities receive little attention in trials treating chronic disorders, and that there is a need to better assess the effects of comorbidities on treatment outcomes (17). Due to multiple management regimens, comorbidity has a potential to generate a range of significant patient safety challenges, including use of contraindicated or potentially inappropriate drugs, adverse drug reactions and drug interactions. Age-related structural and physiological changes, like reduced renal and hepatic clearance, increased volume of distribution for lipid soluble drugs and altered sensitivity to several therapeutic drug groups, further increase the risk for adverse drug reactions. Thus, careful monitoring of the response to drugs and dose adjustments are required (9).

## **Polypharmacy**

Without a consensus definition, most definitions of polypharmacy are numerical, e.g. more than four or five and of more than nine or ten concomitant drugs (polypharmacy and excessive polypharmacy, respectively). However, the clinical relevance of using a numerical cut-off has never been validated (18). A European study across eight countries concluded that 49.7% of 4,023 NH residents experienced polypharmacy and 24.3% experienced excessive polypharmacy (19). The concomitant use of multiple psychotropic drug classes (psychotropic polypharmacy) is also prevalent, especially in people with dementia and living in NHs (20). Polypharmacy is associated with increased risk for drug-drug and drug-disease interactions (21;22) and for adverse drug reactions like delirium (23), impaired balance and falls (24) and constipation (25). Polypharmacy is also associated with increased risk for "prescribing cascades". That is when an adverse drug reaction is misinterpreted as a new medical condition, leading to prescription of additional drugs that may lead to a new adverse reaction that may lead to further prescription of drugs (26). A numerical definition is easy to use, in particular in retrospective pharmacoepidemiological database-studies in which inappropriateness would be otherwise very difficult to define. However, polypharmacy defined numerically can be misused normatively, implying that using five or more drugs in itself may reflect poor quality of care and pose a safety risk. Polypharmacy may very well be appropriate in the presence of multimorbidity. Therefore, an alternative definition of polypharmacy that changes the focus from "many" to "too many" is welcomed. The term inappropriate polypharmacy is thus defined as the use of more drugs that are clinically appropriate in the context of a patient's total morbidity (27). This shift is important because polypharmacy has paradoxically also been found to represent an increased risk for

underprescribing in older people (28). Hence, different definitions of polypharmacy are needed.

## Inappropriate prescribing

Inappropriate prescription is defined as a drug prescription that is not in accordance with the clinical indication or the recommended dosage or duration of treatment (29). It encompasses underprescribing (no therapy given for a valid indication), overprescribing (the prescription of a medication that is clinically not indicated) and misprescribing (incorrect prescription for a given indication) (30). By means of expert consensus, several drugs and drug groups are considered potentially inappropriate medications (PIMs) for older people, and should therefore be avoided whenever possible. PIMs can be defined as "*medications or medication classes that should generally be avoided in persons 65 years or older because they are either ineffective or they pose unnecessarily high risk for older persons and a safer alternative exists*" (31). The use of PIMs has been found to be common in NHs (32).

Several explicit criteria listing PIMs have been developed based on published reviews and expert opinions and they have been validated by consensus. Explicit criteria are used as rigid standards to measure pharmacological appropriateness of medication use, without addressing individual clinical differences between patients, or the complexity and appropriateness of the entire medication regimens (33). These criterion-based tools are drug- and/or disease-oriented and can be applied with little or no patient information. However, they are important educational tools that highlight medications for which risks of use more often exceed benefits in older adults, and situations in which potentially appropriate medications should be considered for use (33). As new drugs and safety evidence emerge, such criteria need to be updated to ensure their relevance. The most widely used explicit criteria for inappropriate medication use in older adults are the Beers criteria (31), latest updated in 2019 (34) and the Screening Tool of Older People's Prescriptions/Screening Tool to Alert to Right Treatment (STOPP/START) (35), updated in 2015 (36). The STOPP/START criteria consist of 65 potentially inappropriate drugs and 22 drugs to consider for people  $\geq 65$  years old (35) and they appear to be more sensitive than the Beers criteria in identifying PIMs in older people (37). A recent systematic review (38) found that the application of the STOPP criteria reduced the PIM rates in all the reviewed studies, whereas the application of the STOPP/START criteria could reduce falls, delirium episodes, shorten hospital length-of-stay and reduce primary and emergency care visits. However, none of the reviewed studies could demonstrate effects on quality of life or on mortality (38).

Explicit criteria need to be adapted to the country's specific guidelines and availability of approved medications. Partly based on the Beers criteria, several explicit criteria have been developed across the world, e.g in Canada (39), France (40), Australia (41), Germany (42), Italy (43) and Austria (44). The Norwegian general practice criteria (NORGEP-criteria) developed in 2009 consist of 36 explicit criteria including 21 single drugs and 15 drug-drug combinations, consistent with the national drug formulary and targeting  $\geq$  70 year olds seen in the primary care (45). In 2015, they were tailored for older people living in NHs (NORGEP-NH criteria) (46).

Minimizing inappropriate prescriptions may reduce negative clinical outcomes like adverse drug reactions, hospital admissions and even death (30;33). The Norwegian Knowledge Center for the Health Services published a systematic review of scientific publications on measures to reduce PIMs in NHs (47). Based on 18 randomized studies it was concluded that educational outreach, on-site education and medication reviews (MRs) may reduce PIMs in NHs, but the evidence for these conclusions was based on studies with rather low scientific quality. The report further recommended that better and larger studies should be conducted to determine whether such measures might affect patient-related health outcomes. Other more recent studies found that educational outreach changed the prescribing behaviours of general practitioners, especially for older people (48;49).

Medication appropriateness can also be assessed using implicit criteria, based on clinical judgment and validated using the patients' medical records. Implicit criteria assess the entire medication regimen and are not country specific, but it is time consuming to apply them and they depend on user's expertise in geriatric pharmacotherapy. The most used implicit criteria were developed in US in 1992; the Medication Appropriateness Index (29;50) consisting of ten questions to assess medication appropriateness of each drug in use, and the Lipton's criteria that evaluates each drug in the patient's regimen in seven categories of potential drug-therapy problems (51). Finally, a combination of explicit and implicit criteria is found in the Inappropriate Medication Use and Prescribing Indicators Tool developed in Australia (41).

#### Medication reviews (MRs)

Using explicit criteria, several procedures for medication reviews (MRs) were developed aiming to improve the quality of pharmacotherapy by identification and discontinuing useless or harmful medications, adjusting daily doses, initiating beneficial medicines or ensuring more appropriate monitoring of long-term conditions and medicines (47;52). An official Pharmaceutical Care Network Europe (PCNE) definition from 2016 states that *Medication*  review is a structured evaluation of a patient's medicines with the aim of optimizing medicines use and improving health outcomes. This entails detecting drug related problems and recommending interventions (53). This definition was accepted by 35 countries during a consensus process in 2018 (54).

MRs can be targeted at moments of transitions between health care services (i.e. discharge from hospital, admission to a NH), polypharmacy, the initiation of a new treatment or when the patient takes medications posing a risk for drug-related problems (DRPs), like anticoagulants, diuretics or NSAIDs. The MR procedures may differ by setting (hospital, primary care), if performed during or after drug dispensing (prospective/retrospective), the level of professional collaboration between physician, pharmacist, nurse and patient) and by the comprehensiveness of the documentation (55;56). Based on the comprehensiveness of the procedure, there are three types of MRs (table 1).

Characterisitics	Type I prescription	Type II adherence and	Type III clinical	
	review	compliance review	medication review	
Purpose	Prescription technical	Patient's medicine taking	Drug use in the context of	
	issues	behaviour	clinical conditions	
Review's focus	Medicines	Medicine use	Medicines and conditions	
Patient's involvement	No	Yes	Yes	
Clinical data available	Sometimes	Sometimes	Always	

Table 1: Types and characteristics of medication reviews, modified from Clyne (55)

Community pharmacist-led MRs are available as part of the primary care services in several countries like US (57), UK (55) and Finland (56). However, there is evidence that without clinical information, pharmacists may overestimate potential DRPs using STOPP criteria and underestimate them using START criteria (58).

An online survey in 2010 reported that 16 out of 25 European countries had in place procedures for MRs, however, they varied in terms of who is eligible for MR, access to patient information, patient interview, documentation of the MR and competence requirements for pharmacists (59). Overall, type III MRs were seldom (6/25 countries) and targeted patients at risk for DRPs. In this survey, Norway reported type II local procedures with patient interview and access to prescription information. In the Norwegian guideline on how to conduct MRs issued in 2012 and updated in 2015, MRs performed in multidisciplinary teams of pharmacists, physicians, nurses are recommended in all settings and such collaboration is especially suitable in NHs (60).

A prerequisite for any type of MR is to perform medication reconciliation, by comparing the medication list to those in the patient record or medication orders, to ensure that the medication list is complete and accurate, including all current medications, dosage, frequency and route of administration. Medication reconciliation is especially important for older people with polypharmacy and frequent transitions in care between hospital- and primary health care, as well as in NHs. Although studies suggest that medication reconciliation alone probably does not reduce post-discharge hospital utilization (61) or consistently improve patient outcomes (62), incorrect recording of drugs in use may lead to unintended discontinuation of drugs or failures to detect DRPs.

## Drug related problems (DRPs)

DRPs are defined according to the PCNE as "an event or circumstance involving drug therapy that actually or potentially interferes with desired health outcomes" (63). A potential problem means a condition that may cause drug-related morbidity if no action is undertaken; an actual problem is manifested with signs and symptoms. Other interchangeable or overlapping terms include drug-therapy problem, medication-related problem and medication error. Since the first standardized DRP classification system was developed in US in 1990 (64), several definitions and classifications have been developed in different countries, however without reaching a consensus on a universal definition or on a system for how to categorize the problems and their causes (65). A literature review on 268 studies that have reported DRPs using a DRP classification system, found that the most used systems were that of Cipolle (66) and Strand/Hepler (67). In the NH setting, the vast majority of studies choose to modify the system (65). The variability between classification systems makes comparisons between studies difficult. A summary of the DRP classification systems that are most frequently used in clinical trials in a NH-setting is provided in table 2. Table 2: Drug-related problems classification systems frequently used in clinical studies, adapted from van Mil (68) and Basger (65)

Classification	Main DRP	Explicit	Hierarchical	Classification	Validation	Classification
system	categories*	definitions	system	of causes	published	of
						interventions
Cipolle (66)	7	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes
Hepler-Strand (67)	8	Yes	No	No	No	Yes
PCNE (63)	6	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Westerlund (69)	13	Yes	No	Integrated	Yes	Yes
Norwegian (70)	6	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

\*Cipolle classification: Need for additional drug therapy; Unnecessary drug therapy: Wrong drug; Dose too low; Dose too high; Adverse drug reaction; Inappropriate adherence

\*Hepler-Straand classification: Untreated indications; Improper drug selection; Subtherapeutic dosage; Failure to receive drugs; Over dosage; Adverse reactions; Drug interactions; Drug use without indication

\*Pharmaceutical Care Network Europe PCNE classification v 5 : Adverse drug event; Drug choice problem; Dosing problem; Drug use problem; Interactions; Other

\*Westerlund classification: Uncertainty about aim of drug; Drug duplication; Drug-drug interaction; Contraindication; Therapy failure; Adverse effect

\*Norwegian classification: Drug choice; Dosing; Adverse drug reaction; Interaction; Drug use; Other

The PCNE constructed a classification system in 1999 and since then, the system has been adapted regularly, most recently in 2020 (71). This classification is intended for use in research into the nature, prevalence and incidence of DRPs. It has an open hierarchical structure where higher levels are broadly defined and lower levels are more specific. It has unambiguous definitions for each DRP category and it can be adapted and expanded with subcategories according to need, setting and access to clinical information. The internal validation has been assessed based on case descriptions.

The Norwegian classification system (70) was developed based on the PCNE system v.5 (63) by means of a modified Delphi technique using clinical experience and consensus between physicians and pharmacists from various clinical and scientific positions. A panel of physicians and pharmacists has validated the clinical relevance of the system by using case reports, with an average agreement rate for the DRP category of 70%. The classification is intended for research and practice in primary healthcare, NHs, hospitals and pharmacies. The DRPs are divided into six main categories and 12 subcategories, listed in an order consistent with drug therapy evaluation in clinical practice. The system includes undertreatment under the category "need for additional drug", although this problem is not associated with one

drug, but a presumption of adherence to clinical guidelines. A detailed presentation of the categories is presented in table 3.

DRP category	Definition
1. Drug choice	One or more drugs are missing according to established national/international guidelines. Deviations from guidelines
1a Need for additional drug	risk factors are not considered to be DRPs
1b Unnecessary drug	A drug that is seen as unnecessary if the indication is no longer present, with lack of discontinuation or double prescription of two or more drugs from the same therapeutic group
1c Inappropriate drug choice	Not given reason for deviation from concordance between drug and diagnosis/indication or absolute/relative contraindication because of for example age or comorbidity. Deviations that are based on the patient's individual treatment goal and risk factors are not considered to be DRPs.
2 Dosing	Suboptimal dosing (including dosing time and formulation)
2a Too high dose	according to established national/international guidelines.
2b Too low dose	Deviations that are based on the patient's individual treatment
2c Sub-optimal dosing scheme	goal and fisk factors are not considered to be DRPs.
3 Adverse drug reaction	Any novious unintended and undesired effect of a drug
5 Adverse drug reaction	which occurs at doses in humans for prophylaxis, diagnosis, or therapy (WHO)
4. Interaction	An interaction is occurring when the effect of a drug is changed by the presence of another drug, food, drink or some environmental chemical agent. Drug combinations with intended overall effect are not considered to be DRPs.
<b>5. Drug use</b> 5a Drugs administered by health	Patients' real drug use deviate from the doctor's prescription with respect to type of drug, dose or scheme. It is a
b personnel	prerequisite that prescriptions are based on a common understanding (concordance) between prescriber and patient
patient	(exception: patient with dementia, emergency situation, etc.) Problems with logistics are not considered to be DRPs.
6. Other	Monitoring with respect to effect and toxicity of drugs is not
6a Need for/lack of monitoring of	done or does not adhere to guidelines
effect and toxicity of drugs	
6b Lack of or unclear	
about about the drug	
6c Other	In general therapy discussions that include several problems
	and do not belong in any other category

Table 3: The Norwegian classification system for drug-related problems, from Ruths (70)

# Nursing homes in Norway

NHs are important institutions for housing and care of frail older people who are unable to live in own homes any longer. By law, the municipalities must provide NH services for their inhabitants. Like in many other countries, NHs provide care at a level between hospitals and home based care. NHs are financed by municipalities with block grants from the state and taxes paid by their inhabitants. All NHs receive a fixed amount based on the number of shortand long-term beds; the NHs can decide how to spend the fixed payment and how to organize the care. The NHs do not receive direct payment from their residents, the residents pay 85% of their pension to the state. The vast majority of the NHs are managed by municipalities (public NHs), but management may also be outsourced to private foundations (private nonprofit NHs) or companies (private for-profit NHs).

The NH coverage is high, corresponding to approximately 15% of the population  $\geq$  80 years old, comparable to that in Denmark and Sweden (13% and 16%, respectively). In 2019, the Norwegian NH sector comprised approximately 1000 NHs with 39,466 beds, of which 32,105 were for long-term stay (72). The size of the NHs varies from relatively few beds, especially in rural areas, to large NHs with over 200 beds, the average size being about 50 beds. NHs usually have long-term beds for permanent residence and a few short-term beds for rehabilitation, but there are also NHs with exclusively long- or short-term beds.

The NHs provide care for both physically disabled and psychogeriatric patients. Admission to NH is based on needs, regardless of income and the admission criteria are rather uniform. NHs are institutions for treatment, but also a home-like place for permanent residence with single rooms with on-suite bathroom. The majority of long-term residents are women, the mean age is around 85 years, almost 80% have dementia (73) and the vast majority use many drugs due to multimorbidity (74). The average residence time is around two years and almost half of all deaths in Norway occur in NHs (75). People with behavioral and psychological symptoms (BPSD) are often cared for at special care bed units for people with dementia (SCU); compared to the regular bed units (RU), the SCUs are typically smaller and have a higher staff/resident ratio. Medical treatment is mostly provided by general practitioners working part-time in the NHs, but larger NHs in urban settings like Oslo, have employed fulltime working NH physicians. The proposed standard of care by the Norwegian Medical Association was 90 long-term care NH residents per full time physician in 2012, but the coverage varies because the Health Authorities have not defined explicit minimum standards for NH-staffing. Further, the level of staffing with nurses varies across the NHs and at present, NHs do not employ in-house pharmacists.

# 7.2 Drug utilization areas in need for further knowledge

Strict adherence to therapy guidelines may expose NH residents to polypharmacy (19;22;76) and to inappropriate polypharmacy (77) and hence to an increased risk of drug–drug interactions (22) and adverse drug reactions (78). The presence of dementia adds further to this risk due to impaired ability to communicate drug effects. In Norway, the mean number of regular drugs per NH resident has increased during the last decades, from five in 2003 (79) to seven in 2007 (80) and eight in 2010 (76). Few studies report on the use of drugs used as needed (pro re nata, prn drugs), but a mean of three to four prn drugs per patient has been reported (76;81). Concerns regarding the quality of prn drugs administration in NHs have been put forward (82). A cross-sectional study of 513 long-term patients at seven NHs in Bergen addressed comorbidity correlations, especially in respect to cognitive impairment (81). In that study, the mean number of drugs per patient was 6.1 for regular drugs and 3.8 for prn drugs. Patients with cognitive impairment were prescribed significantly fewer regular drugs (5.7. vs. 7.1 drugs) and fewer cardiovascular drugs than cognitive intact patients.

Except for antipsychotics that now seems to decline (83), the prescribing of psychotropic drugs (84;85) and opioids (86) has increased during the last decades, about one in five residents using more than one psychotropic drug at the same time (83), in most cases as inappropriate long-term treatment for BPSD (87). A secondary data analysis of six cross sectional studies conducted between 1997 and 2009 reported prevalence of psychotropic drug use among 7,661 patients  $\geq$  65 years old from 336 Norwegian NHs (85). The study confirmed that the use of psychotropic drugs in NHs had increased considerably, especially due to the frequent use of antidepressant drugs. Predictors for psychotropic drug use were female gender (except for antipsychotics), age less than 80 years, and residency in SCU for patients with dementia (except for hypnotics). Although an increased prevalence rate of depression in old age has been reported in Norway (88), this alone cannot explain the extended use of antidepressants in NH settings. Staff distress (89) and pressure from nursing staff to calm down challenging behaviour is probably contributing to this increase (90). The use of antidepressants in older people was linked to falls, hyponatremia and stroke/transient ischemic attacks (91). Antidepressants were shown to have poor effect in NH

residents with dementia (92;93) and tapering down dosage and deprescribing is generally well tolerated (94). In the national guideline, antidepressants are recommended for treating BPSD only when non-pharmacological interventions alone had no effect (95).

The widespread long-term use of antipsychotic drugs, benzodiazepines and antidepressants for treating BPSD in NH patients is largely considered inappropriate and their use is associated with increased risk for adverse drug reactions like delirium (23), impaired balance and falls (24), stroke (96) and premature death (97).

One particular challenge for the NH-sector is the substantial variations in drug utilization patterns seen between otherwise comparable institutions with comparable patient populations. A study including 1,552 patients at 23 NHs in Bergen conducted in 1997 (79) showed especially large variations in the proportion of residents using antipsychotics (from 0% to 61%) and antidepressants (from 10% to 63%). Being in the oldest age group predicted less psychotropic drug use, while neither patients' gender, size of institution, or level of qualified nurse staffing were associated with the use of psychotropic drugs. Another study showed that patients were more likely to receive antidepressants if living in NHs with relatively more physician time (98). In a cross-sectional study of 513 long-term patients at seven NHs in Bergen, significant differences between NHs were shown for utilization of antipsychotics and antidepressants (81). Adding defined daily doses within each drug class increased the differences between institutions, indicating that institutions with high prevalence of use also used higher dosages. The authors concluded that the reasons for variation might also include skills and attitudes among the staff, since neither patients' age nor gender, or the level of staffing influenced the variation (81). Substantial variations in the use of antipsychotics between otherwise similar institutions have also been reported from other countries (99;100).

Systematic reviews on interventions to optimize prescribing for older people (52;101) concluded that MRs may identify and resolve DRPs, however with lack of evidence on effects of patient-related outcomes like adverse drug events, hospital admissions or mortality.

In the NH setting, MRs are recommended for improving quality and follow-up of drug therapy by disclosing needs for continued use or for better balancing risks with potential benefits (32). MRs involving collaboration between physicians, pharmacists and nurses has been used in NH settings in several countries and such collaboration is recommended in the Norwegian national guideline (60).

In Norwegian studies, PIMs and DRPs have been identified using explicit criteria for pharmacological inappropriateness (35;45;46) and drug-drug interaction database (102). DRPs are defined according to PCNE (63) and they are classified according to a national consensus classification system applicable for primary care, hospitals, NHs and pharmacies published in 2007 (70). Several studies have shown that a large proportion of NH residents are exposed to

DRPs (76;79;85;103-105). In two of these studies, a proportion of 77% and 88% of the patients experienced DRPs (mean 2.5 DRP per patient), with "lack of indication" being the most common DRP (76;104). Another study with MR by a pharmacist reported 3.5 DRPs per patient, with "unnecessary drug" and "monitoring required" being the most frequent DRPs (76).

In the absence of a common used procedure for performing MRs and for identifying PIMs, in combination with a lack of universal classification system for DRPs, comparing studies investigating DRPs is not straightforward. A selection of studies with MRs carried out by multidisciplinary teams is presented in table 4.

Table 4: Multidisciplinary medication review studies investigating drug-related problems in nursing homes

Study, year/ country/ (reference)	Patients (NHs)	Mean drugs/ patient	MR procedure	Mean DRP/patient (mean DRPs/NH)	Most common DRPs	Changes after MRs
Ruths, 2003/ Norway (79)	1354 (23)	5.0	Panel of 3 physicians and 1 pharmacist	1.8	Risk of adverse drug reaction Choice of drug	NR
Finkers, 2007/ The Netherlands (106)	91 (5)	> 9	Pharmacist Physician	3.5	Unclear indication Need for review	Mean reduction of drugs/patient from 13.5 to 12.7 (p < 0.001)
Kersten, 2009/ Norway (103)	48 (2)	8.0	Pharmacist Panel of 2 physicians	$ \begin{array}{c} 4.0 \\ (3.0 - 5.5)^1 \end{array} $	Unnecessary drug Monitoring required	NR
Halvorsen, 2010/ Norway (76)	(3)	8.1 (3.4) <sup>3</sup>	Pharmacist Physician Nurse	3.5 (5.1) <sup>2</sup>	Unnecessary drug Monitoring required	Mean reduction of 1.5 regular drugs/patient (p < 0.01)
Davidsson, 2011/ Norway (104)	93 (1)	7.5	Pharmacist Physician Nurse	2.5	No clear indication Inappropriate drug choice	Mean reduction of drugs/patient from 7.4 to 6.8 (p < 0.01)
Brulhart, 2011/ Switzerland (107)	329 (10)	12.8	Pharmacist Physician Nurse	3.7	Unnecessary drug Too high dose	803 treatment adaptations - 373 drugs stopped - 197 dosages changed
Tverborgvik, 2012/ Norway (105)	(4)	10.5	Pharmacist Physician Nurse	$2.0 \\ (1.6 - 2.4)^1$	Unnecessary drug Inappropriate drug	10.7% mean reduction of drugs/NH (p < 0.001)
Devik, 2018/ Norway (108)	61 (5)	8.0	Pharmacist Physician Nurse	3.7	Unnecessary drug Need for additional drug	72% of interventions were accepted by the physician
Lenander, 2018/ Sweden (109)	1508 (25)	8.5 (2.8) <sup>3</sup>	Pharmacist Physician Nurse	2.2	Unnecessary drug Too high dose	Less patients used antipsychotics, anticholinergics, benzodiazepines and tramadol ( $p < 0.001$ )
Halvorsen, 2019/ Norway (110)	151 (4)	8.0 (3.7) <sup>3</sup>	Pharmacist Physician Nurse	$4.6^2$ (2.7 - 5.6) <sup>1</sup>	Unnecessary drug Too high dose	63% of interventions were accepted by the physician

<sup>1</sup> Range between the NHs; <sup>2</sup> DRPs identified by the pharmacist alone; <sup>3</sup> pro re nata drugs; NR not reported

Little was known about the variation in DRPs between NHs when this thesis was in planning. The mean DRPs per patient per NH varied between 3.0 and 5.0 in one study (103) and between 1.6 and 2.4 in another study (105). The NH with more physician resources used less drugs per patient and had less DRPs (103). However, due to the small number of patients, the external validity of these studies is limited. During the work with this thesis, another study found a mean number of DRPs per patient from 2.7 to 5.6 between four rural NHs (110).

In Norway, people older than 67 years represent about 15% of the population but use 45% of all prescription drugs (111), the vast majority prescribed by general practitioners. Direct comparisons of morbidity between older persons living in NHs and at home are lacking, but cognitive impairment, BPSD, Parkinson's disease and stroke are all more prevalent in NH residents than among people living in the community (10). In 2008, a national survey reported that one in three people  $\geq$  70 years living at home were exposed to PIMs and that one in five were issued more than ten different drugs (112). In 2011, another cross-sectional study of 11,254 patients aged  $\geq$  65 years using multi-dose dispensed drugs, reported significant differences between drug use in NHs compared with elderly people receiving home nursing services, with more use of psychotropic drugs in NHs (113). Due to differences in morbidity and life expectancy, it is likely that the drug use differs by care level, for example with more symptomatic and palliative approach in the NH setting.

To conclude, this review of previous studies in Norwegian NHs has identified several areas in need for further knowledge:

• The drug use in NHs, in particular psychotropic and opioid drugs has been a topic of research during the last years and knowing the prevalence of drug use is important for both research and clinical practice. As long as NorPD does not cover the NH-sector, residents' drug use data must therefore be collected from the institutions, e.g. as part of a research project. In particular it is needed more data from Oslo because, although the municipality has the largest NH-sector in the country, just a few small studies have investigated the drug use at the NHs in Oslo. There is also a need to know more about the prn drug use in NHs because these drugs add to the medication burden of the patients and consequently might pose a safety risk.

• MR studies substantiate that DRPs are common in NHs, however, there is limited knowledge about changes in drug use following MRs. The development of new clinical guidelines and an increased awareness on PIMs and safety issues in old age support the continuous need for more MR studies and more knowledge about DRPs.

• The variation in drug use between NHs should be investigated further because little is known about the variation in DRPs between NHs and factors associated with it. One should expect that the focus during the last years on a more appropriate medication in the NH-setting might have reduced the variation in drug use. To the best of our knowledge, we have not found any studies investigating the variation in the drug use and in the DRPs among NHs with comparable physician and qualified nurse staffing.

• NH residents are regarded to be frailer than home-dwelling older people, but whether they are treated differently with pharmaceuticals than their peers living at home remains to be substantiated.

# 8 AIMS

The aim of this thesis was to investigate the drug use at NHs in Oslo municipality, and more specifically:

1) Describe the DRPs identified by multidisciplinary MRs and the interventions carried out to resolve them. Compare the drug use before and after MR and explore predictors for the observed changes in drug use (*article I*).

2) Describe the variation between the NHs in their drug use, particularly psychotropic drugs and analgesics. Describe the variation in DRPs between the NHs and explore the associations between the drug use and the DRPs at the respective NHs (*article II*).

3) Compare the drug use in older people living at home and in a NH and identify the most pronounced differences in drug use, aiming also to identify areas of concern as well as in need for quality improvement of the drug use in the two settings (*article III*).

# 9 METHODS AND MATERIALS

This thesis consists of three cross-sectional studies based on drug use data generated by a Medication Review Project (NH population) and drug use data retrieved from the NorPD (Home population).



Figure 1: Overview on data materials

# **The Medication Review Project**

The Medication Review Project (MR Project) was performed by the Nursing Home Agency (NH Agency) in Oslo municipality at 41 NHs in Oslo during 2011 to 2014. Among other tasks, the NH Agency assists the NHs in processes related to quality improvement and professional development. The MR Project aimed to improve the quality of drug use in the NHs of the municipality, in line with a national campaign on safe drug utilization in NHs (74).

Although NHs in Oslo are heterogeneous with regard to size, type of services (long-term or short-term care), bed units (RU and SCU) and management (public and private), they have fairly comparable staff time and employ full-time physicians, not part-time general practitioners as in many other places in Norway. Most NHs are using the electronic patient record system Gerica (114), a system that does not support prescription tools or drug interaction databases (102), thus the NH physician must validate their own prescriptions without the help of electronically alert systems integrated with the electronic patient record system.

All NHs with long-term care residents in Oslo municipality (n = 51) were invited to participate in the project. The NHs that volunteered to participate (n = 41) selected one, several or all the bed units in their institution to perform MRs. The participating bed units were either RU or SCU with long-term care beds. The NH Agency performed MRs in two rounds, respectively between November 2011 - November 2012 and August 2013 - February 2014. In total 30 NHs participated in the first round and 24 NHs in the second. Thirteen of the NHs participated in both rounds, however with different bed units and patients than in the first round.

It was aimed that all patients from the selected bed units should undergo MR. Except for those terminally ill (those receiving end-of-life palliative treatment), all patients and their next of kin received information about the project in written, including that the data collected during the project could later be used for research purposes.

In total 2,625 long-term care patients were asked to participate in the project. Eighteen patients refused and 142 scheduled MRs were not performed because the patient either died (n = 32), became terminally ill (n = 33), moved to another institution (n = 18), or for some other logistical reasons (n = 59). Thus 2,465 patients (on average 60 patients per NH, range from19 to 136 patients) had their medication use reviewed by a multidisciplinary team, 1,489 patients in the first round and 976 patients in the second round (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Recruitment to the Medication Review Project

The MRs consisted of a structured evaluation of each patient's drug use. A multidisciplinary panel made up by an externally hired clinical pharmacist, the NH physician and the nurse responsible for the patient conducted the MRs. Altogether five pharmacists from a pharmacy chain (Apotek1) were involved in the MRs, each with responsibility for several hundred MRs. Training sessions were held for the involved physicians, nurses and pharmacists before project start. The MR procedure was standardized in line with the national guideline for MRs (60).

# The MR procedure

The NHs provided to the study pharmacists the patients' medication charts, which contained all the current drugs administered on a regular or prn schedule. Information that could identify the patient was removed from the charts, the patient being identified by a study number. The charts contained information about gender, age (in years), type of bed unit (RU or SCU) and the NH (identified by a number). The pharmacist documented the drugs according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system (115) and by the administration mode (regular or prn).

The pharmacist systematically reviewed the information from the patients medication charts and identified DRPs by using the explicit criteria for pharmacological inappropriateness STOPP/START (35) and the NORGEP-criteria (45), and the drug-drug interaction database (102). The DRPs were defined according to the PCNE: "an event or circumstance involving drug therapy that actually or potentially interferes with desired health outcomes" (63).

The pharmacist presented the identified DRPs for the NH physician and the nurse at face-toface MR meetings held at the respective NHs. The meetings lasted about two hours and about eight patients had their medication use reviewed at each meeting.

The panel discussed each patient's medication use and the potential DRPs identified by the pharmacist, aiming at consensus on measures to improve the patient's medication use. The physician and nurse provided supplementary clinical (e.g. diagnosis, lab-tests) and functional information about the patient from the patient's medical record. The DRPs could be accepted or rejected, and in case of disagreement, the physician held the final decision.

The accepted DRPs were classified according to the Norwegian classification system (70). Six DRP categories were applied: 1) Drug choice problem (with subcategories 1a) need for additional drug, 1b) unnecessary drug, 1c) inappropriate drug choice); 2) Dosing problem (with subcategories 2a) too high, 2b) too low, 2c) sub-optimal dosing scheme, 2d) sub-optimal formulation); 3) Adverse drug reactions; 4) Interactions; 5) Inappropriate drug use (with subcategories 5a) administered by health personnel, 5b) administered by patient) and 6) Other (with subcategories 6a) monitoring required, 6b) unclear documentation, 6c) not classified).

The panel agreed upon interventions to resolve the DRPs. The interventions were classified as follows: stop the drug, drug switch (the discontinued drug is replaced by a new drug), start new drug, adjust the drug dose, monitor the drug use and other measures (70).

At the end of the meeting, the pharmacist documented the DRPs and the interventions agreed upon by the panel. The potential DRPs identified by the pharmacist alone that were rejected by the physician were not recorded. After the meeting, the NH physician implemented the changes to the medication list that were accepted by the patient/next of kin. The pharmacist documented whether the interventions were implemented or not.
#### Organizing of the data files

A database in SPSS was created with data on all the patients with MR (n = 2,465). Drugs were categorized according to the ATC classification system (116). All listed drug items without ATC codes (like nutritional supplements, multivitamins, omega-3 products, cranberry products) were excluded.

A drug-drug interaction was recorded as one DRP.

A new file with the drug use after MR was created by adding or removing drugs according to the interventions implemented after the MR (*article I*).

#### Drug use data from the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD)

The drug use of people living at home was retrieved from the NorPD. The NorPD is a pseudonymous registry including information about all prescription drugs dispensed at pharmacies in Norway and covers all people living in the country, except those living in long-term care institutions such as NHs.

The age threshold of  $\geq$  70 years was defined in line with the explicit NORGEP criteria.

Cross-sectional NorPD data were extracted on all prescription drugs purchased during the year 2012 by persons  $\geq$  70 years living in Oslo municipality (n = 48,944 people). Drug data in terms of defined daily dose were not retrieved due to lack of corresponding drug use data in the NHs. The following variables were recorded in the data set: the person's gender, age group (70 - 79 years, 80 - 89 years and  $\geq$  90 years) and the drugs in use by ATC-code.

# Statistical analyses

The independent variables used in the three articles are listed in the table below.

Variables	Article I	Article II	Article III
Gender	Х	X	X
Age	X	X	X
Nursing home		X	
Total drugs at baseline	X		
Regular drugs at baseline	X	X	
Prn drugs at baseline	X		
Total drugs after MR	X		
Regular drugs after MR	X		
Prn drugs after MR	X		
Drug-related problems (DRP)	X	X	
Intervention to resolve DRPs	X		
User of drug (baseline)		X1	X <sup>2</sup>

Table 5: Overview of the independent variables

Drugs as counts and drug name (ATC-code); <sup>1</sup>defined as using that particular drug on a regularschedule; <sup>2</sup>defined as using that particular drug on a regular and/or prn schedule

In *article II*, explanatory variables comprised of the size of the NHs, defined as the number of beds for long-term care (otherwise the NHs were comparable) and the pharmacist involved in the MR.

In *article III*, the drug prevalence rate in the population living at home was defined as the proportion of people who received at least one supply of a drug in 2012. Drugs for chronic and stable use are dispensed at pharmacies in quantities corresponding to about three months' use, therefore, prevalence rates were calculated based on purchase data for both three and twelve months. Because the prevalence rates were almost identical, the annual drug prevalence rates were used for the statistical analyses for reasons of feasibility.

The drug prevalence rate for the NH population was defined as the proportion of patients who used the drug in question at the time of the MR.

The same drug issued both regularly and prn to the same person was defined as one prescription; this approach fits better to the data available from the general outpatient population and it is commonly used in pharmacoepidemiological studies based on registry data (116).

In all three articles, data were presented using descriptive analyses; continuous variables were described using means with standard deviations (SDs) and the categorical variables using frequencies and percentages.

Differences between proportions (percentages) where established from the two-sample test of proportions and presented with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) (*article I*).

We used relative risks (RRs) with 95% CIs to estimate the likelihood of using the drug groups in the NHs compared to the likelihood of using them in the homes (*article III*). Associations between numerical variables were determined using the Pearson's correlation coefficient "r" (*article II*). The chi-square test for trend in proportions was used to assess the presence of a linear trend across levels of a factor variable (*article III*). Count data related to drug use and to DRPs were analyzed in terms of incidence rate ratios (IRR) with 95% CIs, using a Poisson regression model with random effects (RE) at NHs and adjusted for age and gender (*article I*).

In *article II*, the NHs were grouped into four quartiles, based on their mean number of drugs per patient, the upper quartile comprising NHs with highest numbers. When a NH was allocated to a particular quartile, data from all patients in that institution were allocated to that quartile. The upper and lower quartiles were compared using independent samples t-test and presented with 95% CI.

For all analyses, the significance level was set at  $\alpha \leq 0.05$ . Analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) and Stata SE (Stata Corp LP, College Station, TX).

Table 6: Overview on study design, data materials and statistics

Article/Title/ Design	Data materials	Variables / statistical analyses
I. Drug-related problems and changes in drug utilization after medication reviews in nursing homes in Oslo, Norway Cross-sectional before/after study	2,465 long-term NH <sup>1</sup> patients at 41 NHs	<ul> <li>Drug use and DRPs<sup>2</sup>/ descriptive analyses</li> <li>Changes in drug use after MR<sup>3</sup>/ two-sample test of proportions with 95% CI<sup>4</sup></li> <li>Factors associated with DRPs and with change in the number of drugs after MR/ Poisson regression model with IRR<sup>5</sup> with 95% CI</li> </ul>
II. Variation between nursing homes in drug use and in drug-related problems Cross-sectional, clustered at NH level	41 NHs with 2,465 long-term NH patients	<ul> <li>-Variation in drug use and in DRPs/ descriptive analyses at NH level</li> <li>- Differences in DRPs and in use of particular drug groups between NHs with highest and lowest mean number of drugs per patient/ independent samples t-test with 95 % CI and p- value</li> <li>- Relationships between drug use and DRPs at the NH-level/ Pearson's correlation coefficient "r"</li> <li>- Factors associated with DRPs at the NHs/ Poisson regression model with IRR with 95% CI</li> </ul>
III. Drug use differs by care level. A cross-sectional comparison between older people living at home or in a nursing home in Oslo, Norway Cross-sectional	2,313 people $\geq$ 70 years old living in NH 48,944 people $\geq$ 70 years old living at home	<ul> <li>Drug prevalence rates/ descriptive analyses</li> <li>Differences in drug prevalence rates between the two populations and by gender and by age groups/ relative risk (RR) with 95% CI</li> <li>Associations between drug prevalence rates and age groups/ chi-square test for trend in proportions</li> </ul>

<sup>1</sup>NH (nursing home); <sup>2</sup>DRPs (drug-related problems); <sup>3</sup>MR (medication review); <sup>4</sup>CI (confidence interval); <sup>5</sup>IRR (incidence rate ratio);

# 10 ETHICS AND DATA SECURITY

After reviewing the research study protocol, the Regional Committee in Medical Research Ethics in South-East Norway (reference no. 2015/786) and the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (reference no. 2015/43659) concluded that their approvals were not needed.

The database is stored on the server of the University of Oslo and all data are anonymous.

The NH Agency submitted the Medication Review Project to the Regional Committee in Medical Research Ethics in South-East Norway in 2011. The committee concluded that it was a quality improvement project and therefore neither committee clearance nor informed consent procedure were required (2011/1989). However, all patients and their next of kin were informed in written about the project, including that the data generated by the project will later be used for research. Patients, who refused (themselves or their next of kin) to participate, were not included in the project.

# 11 FUNDING

The research was financed through a shared public sector ph.d. grant (offentlig-sektor ph.d. stipend) from the Research Council of Norway and from the NH Agency, municipality of Oslo. The Department of General Practice at the Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo partly financed the candidate during 2018-2019.

# 12 SYNOPSIS OF THE ARTICLES

## 12.1 Article I

# Drug-related problems and changes in drug utilization after medication reviews in nursing homes in Oslo, Norway

*Objectives:* To describe the DRPs identified during MRs and the changes in drug utilization after the MRs, and to explore factors associated with the observed changes.

*Methods:* Observational before-after study of 2,465 long-term care patients at 41 NHs in Oslo. Multidisciplinary teams (pharmacist, NH physician and NH nurse) agreed upon the DRPs and interventions to resolve them. Changes in drug use after MR were analyzed using the two-sample test of proportions with 95% CI; factors associated with DRPs and with changes in drug use were tested by logistic regression.

*Results:* The mean age of the 2,465 patients was 85.9 years, 74.2% of the patients were women; women were older than men were (mean 86.9 and 82.8 years, respectively). The MRs identified 6,158 DRPs, an average of 2.6 DRPs per patient, 2.0 for regular and 0.6 for prn drugs. Of these patients, 17.3% had no DRPs. The remaining 82.7% of the patients had on average 3.0 DRPs per patient. Use of unnecessary drugs (43.5%), excess dosing (12.5%) and monitoring of drug use required (11%) were the most frequent DRPs. Being a woman was associated with an 11% increased risk of DRPs, but not age.

Of the 6,283 interventions to change the drug therapy, 42.4% were to discontinue the drug, almost half (47.6%) being prn drugs. Need for closer monitoring of the drug use (22.7%) and dosage adjustments (17.8%) involved almost exclusively drugs for regular use (96%).

The mean number of drugs decreased after the MR from 6.8 to 6.3 (p < 0.001) for regular drugs and from 3.0 to 2.6 (p < 0.001) for prn drugs. Patients with DRPs experienced a decrease of 1.1 drugs after MR (0.5 for regular and 0.6 for prn drugs). No associations were found between the change in the number of drugs (regular or prn) and the patients' age or gender. The reduction was significant for the regular use of diuretics (4.7%), antidepressants (3.9%), hypnotics/sedatives (3.7%), antithrombotic agents (2.7%), antacid drugs (2.1%) and antipsychotics (1.8%). For prn use, the reduction was significant for opioids (11.2%),

anxiolytics (7.1%), hypnotics/sedatives (5.8%), metoclopramide (3.5%), NSAIDs (2.9%), expectorants (2.7%) and antipsychotics (1.5%).

*Conclusions:* The MRs resulted in overall less drug use due to discontinuation of drugs, especially psychotropic and opioid drugs and to lowering the drug dosages. MRs lead to a closer follow-up to optimize the potential benefits of the drug use. Future research on MRs should include patient-related clinical outcomes.

**Addendum:** The table below was not included in *article I* for reasons of space. It summarizes the most frequent DRPs associated with the use of psychotropic, analgesic and cardiovascular drugs.

Drugs			Three most frequently DRP categories related to the drug classes listed								
Therapeutic	Ν	Nprn	No. 1	n	n	No. 2	n	n	No. 3	Ν	n
group					(prn)			(prn)			(prn)
Hypnotics	515	185	Unnecessary	296	160	Dosing too	92	9	Inappropriate	43	7
/sedatives			drug			high			drug choice		
Opioids <sup>1</sup>	509	323	Unnecessary	249	226	Inappropriate	80	49	Drug-drug	50	21
			drug			drug choice			interaction		
Antidepressants	456		Drug-drug	124		Unnecessary	115		Monitoring	43	
			interaction			drug			required		
Anxiolytics	403	244	Unnecessary	213	164	Inappropriate	56	32	Dosing too	50	22
			drug			drug choice			high		
Paracetamol	354	146	Dosing too	108	36	Unnecessary	104	59	Additional	103	25
			high			drug			drug		
Diuretics	308	22	Unnecessary	152	20	Dosing too	65		Inappropriate	43	
			drug			high			drug choice		
Antithrombotic	262		Unnecessary	81		Drug-drug	66		Dosing too	33	
agents <sup>2</sup>			drug			interaction			high		
Antipsychotics	228	40	Unnecessary	66	30	Monitoring	52	2	Adverse drug	28	
			drug			required			reaction		
Beta-blockers	190		Drug-drug	48		Unnecessary	28		Dosing too	28	
			interaction			drug			high		
Heart therapy <sup>3</sup>	150	32	Unnecessary	46	25	Monitoring	36		Dosing too	20	
			drug			required			high		
Renin-	125		Monitoring	46		Unnecessary	16		Drug-drug	15	
angiotensin			required			drug			interaction		
Antidementia	114		Monitoring	48		Unnecessary	38		Dosing too	6	
drugs			required			drug			high		

Table 7: The three drug-related problems most frequently associated with the use of psychotropic drugs, analgesics and cardiovascular drugs

N = the total number of drugs involved in the problem listed, both regular and prn drugs; Nprn = the share within the therapeutic group comprised by prn drugs involved in the problem listed; n = number of DRPs; n(prn) = the share within the DRP category associated with prn drugs; <sup>1</sup>ATC-N02A comprising weak opioids (codeine, tramadol) and strong opioids; <sup>2</sup>ATC- B01A (mainly warfarin, acetylsalicylic acid and heparin); <sup>3</sup>ATC-C01A (digitalis) and ATC-C01D (nitrates).

# 12.2 Article II

#### Variation between nursing homes in drug use and in drug-related problems

Objectives: To analyze variations in drug use and DRPs between different NHs.

*Methods:* Cross-sectional medication review study including 2465 long-term care residents at 41 NHs in Oslo. Regular drug use was retrieved from the patients' medical records. DRPs were identified by using STOPP/START and NORGEP criteria and a drug-drug interactions database. NHs were grouped in quartiles based on average levels of drug use. The upper and lower quartiles were compared using independent samples t-test and associations between drug use and DRPs were tested by logistic regression.

*Results:* Patients' mean age was 85.9 years, 74.2% were women. Mean numbers of regular drugs per patient was 6.8 and varied between NHs from 4.8 to 9.3. The proportion of patients within each NH using psychotropic or analgesic drugs varied largely: antipsychotics from 3% to 50%, benzodiazepines from 24% to 99%, antidepressants from 9% to 75%, antidementia drugs from no use to 42%, opioids from no use to 65% and paracetamol from 16% to 74%. NHs using more drugs also used more opioids (r = 0.7) and more benzodiazepines (r = 0.4). Mean DRPs per patient was 2.0 and varied between NHs from 0.5 to 3.4 (Figure 3).



Each bar represents one NH with their respective mean number of drugs per patient (upper part of each bar) and mean number of DRPs per patient (lower part of each bar below the zero line).

Figure 3: Variation between nursing homes in drug use and in drug-related problems

The use of unnecessary drugs was associated with excessive dosing (r = 0.8), inappropriate drug choice (r = 0.5) and need for additional drug (r = 0.4) at the respective NHs. The quartiles of NHs with highest and lowest mean number of drugs per patient (7.7 vs. 5.7, p < 0.001) had comparable mean number of DRPs per patient (2.2 vs. 1.8, p = 0.2). Using more drugs or being a woman were associated with a 7% and 9% increase in DRPs, respectively. The use of antipsychotics, antidepressants, benzodiazepines and opioids were associated with an increased risk for DRPs at the respective NHs of 20%, 18%, 8% and 7%, respectively.

*Conclusions:* The use of psychotropic and analgesic drugs was high and varied substantially between different NHs, suggesting different drug prescription cultures at several institutions. There was no difference in DRPs between the group of NHs with highest and lowest drug use, although using more drugs, opioids and psychotropic drugs was associated with an increased risk for DRPs at the respective NHs.

#### 12.3 Article III

Drug use differs by care level. A cross-sectional comparison between older people living at home or in a nursing home in Oslo, Norway.

*Objectives:* To identify areas of concern and in need for quality improvement in the drug use of people aged  $\geq$  70 years living at home or in a NH.

*Methods:* Cross-sectional observational study from Oslo, Norway. Information about drug use by people living at home in 2012 was retrieved from the NorPD. Drug use in NHs was recorded by MRs performed during November 2011- February 2014. Prevalence rates and relative risk (RR) with 95% CI were compared between uses of therapeutic groups with prevalence rates of  $\geq$  5%. Drug use was compared for the total population and by gender and age group.

*Results:* Older people (both genders; n = 2,313) in NHs were more likely than people living at home (n = 48,944) to use antidementia drugs (RR = 5.7), antipsychotics (RR = 4.0), paracetamol (RR = 4.0), anxiolytics (RR = 3.0), antidepressants (RR = 2.8), dopaminergic drugs (RR = 2.7), antiepileptic drugs (RR = 2.4), loop diuretics (RR = 2.3), cardiac nitrates (RR = 2.1) or opioids (RR = 2.0).

By contrast, people living in a NH were less commonly prescribed statins (RR = 0.2), NSAIDs (RR = 0.3), osteoporosis drugs (RR = 0.3), thiazide diuretics (RR = 0.4), calcium channel blockers (RR = 0.5) or renin–angiotensin inhibitors (RR = 0.5). Each of the populations had only minor differences in drug use by gender and a trend towards less drug use with increasing age (p < 0.01).

Ten drugs in both settings were identified to be in particular need for critical rethinking during future educational interventions or MRs (table 8).

Table 8:	Drugs in	need for	critical	rethinking

Drug	Nursing home	Home
Antidementia drugs	Severe dementia: overuse?	Mild dementia: underuse?
Antipsychotic drugs	BPSD <sup>1</sup> : Too much, too long? Deprescribing should be tried	(little use)
Antidepressants	Overuse: Poor effect in people with dementia. Consider tapering down dosage and deprescribing	Possible overuse: Consider tapering down dosage and deprescribing
Anxiolytics Hypnotics/sedatives	Overuse	Probable overuse
Opioids <sup>2</sup>	Overuse	Probable overuse
Clomethiazole	Overuse: should be avoided whenever possible for reasons of safety	(almost no use at all)
NSAIDs	(little use)	Overuse - try paracetamol instead
Osteoporosis drugs	Possible underuse?	Possible underuse?
Statins	(little use)	Possible overuse (oldest age group?)
Drugs for peptic ulcer	Possible overuse	Possible overuse

<sup>1</sup>Behavioral and psychiatric symptoms in dementia; <sup>2</sup>Opioids comprise minor and major opioids

*Conclusions:* Drug use by older people differs according to care level, and so do areas probably in need for quality improvement and further research. In NH residents, this relates to a probable overuse of psychotropic drugs and opioids. Among older people living at home, the probable overuse of NSAIDs and a possible underuse of cholinesterase inhibitors and osteoporosis drugs should be addressed.

#### 13 GENERAL DISCUSSION

#### **13.1** Methodological considerations

This thesis has some methodological limitations because the research protocol was prepared after the quality improvement project that generated the MR data was completed:

• The lack of sample size calculation and of a control group was mitigated by using a crosssectional observational design in all three studies.

• The recruitment of NHs and of the bed units may possibly have been subjected to selection bias. It was not documented the NHs' reasons to accept or to decline the invitation to participate, neither the process to recruit the bed units at the respective NHs. Further, there were no minimum requirements for how many MRs that should be performed at each NH. However, this possible bias was mitigated by the high number of MRs performed and because a vast majority of the invited NHs participated in the project.

• After the MRs were completed in November 2012, it was decided to continue the project and perform a second round with MRs. In this second round, participants were eleven new NHs and thirteen NHs that had participated in the first round. However, the latter now with new bed units and therefore with new patients. In this research, all patients with MR were treated as one cohort where one single MR generated cross-sectional data for each subject. Due to the large number of patients, we consider that the results had not been affected if some few patients by chance had two MRs because they had moved to another NH or to another bed unit during the project period.

• The DRPs identified alone by the pharmacist were not documented, neither the physicians' reasons for rejecting some DRPs. Without documenting the DRPs identified by the pharmacist alone, it was not possible to determine the acceptance rate of the DRPs at the NHs. A Norwegian study reported that NH physicians rejected one third of all DRPs identified by the pharmacist in a multidisciplinary MR team (76), whereas in a study from Spain, the physician rejected slightly more than one in eight STOPP recommendations to discontinue drugs and two thirds of the START recommendations (117). It is therefore possible that different acceptance rates have influenced the variation in DRPs found between the NHs (*article II*).

#### The internal and external validity of our findings

*Article I and article II*: We consider that the internal validity is high because the vast majority of the invited NHs participated in the project and they provided complete datasets. Furthermore, the MRs were performed in a reliable way at all sites, ensured by training the staff before the MRs and using the same standardized tools (35;45;102) and classification system during the reviews (70). Each of the five pharmacists participated in several hundred MRs at many different NHs, which also contributed to the use of similar procedures at all sites.

In general, the use of explicit criteria for PIMs might be questioned, as they do not address individual differences or the appropriateness of the entire medication (33). This was compensated for through face-to-face discussions on the entire medication list for each patient and taking into consideration clinical data on functioning, lab-tests and other clinical information about the patient. We therefore consider that the explicit criteria to identify DRPs was appropriate for the NH population at the time the MRs were performed and this thesis was in preparation. The results are representative for the NH population in Oslo municipality because 82% of the NHs and 61% of all long-term care patients in the municipality participated in the MRs. Further, the patient-mix across the participating NHs is quite similar and the NHs are quite comparable with respect to staffing. Using the same DRP classification system as in other Norwegian studies and because the NH-sector in Norway is quite uniform, our findings are representative at national level. The multidisciplinary MR procedure and the international drug classification system contribute to the external validity of our results in comparable NH-settings in other countries.

*Article III*: In this drug utilization study, the drug use was investigated in terms of prescription prevalence rates. The home population was one cohort without differentiating between robust and frail home-dwelling older people. The drug prevalence rates for those living at home differed only marginally between data captured over three vs. twelve months, thus being comparable with the point prevalence data for those living in NHs. We consider that our data are representative for each of the populations and that they have an acceptable validity for identifying the most significant differences in drug use patterns between older people living in the two settings. Because we included large populations in both settings, we regard our results to be representative for comparable health care settings.

# 13.2 Discussion of results13.2.1 Drug utilization at NHs

#### Number of drugs

We found an average of 6.8 regular drugs per patient, whereas previous studies from Bergen reported 5.0 (79) and 6.1 regular drugs per patient (81); the higher number of drugs in our study possibly reflects a general tendency of higher drug use at NHs during the last decades, probably among others, due to an increased use of psychotropic drugs (85). Other MR studies performed in Oslo and Bergen around the same time as our study reported 7.5 (104), 8.0 (103), 8.1 (76) and 10.5 (105) regular drugs per patient, whereas recent studies from other regions (108;110) reported an average of 8.0 drugs per patient. The somewhat higher drug use in these studies might reflect prescription or organizational differences at the NHs, or that the relatively few NH included in these studies were, by chance, HNs with higher prescription rates. MR studies from Switzerland (107) and Sweden (109) reported means of 12.8 and 8.5 drugs per patient, whereas a large European study on drug utilization at NHs found a mean of 8.0 drugs per patient with a large variation between the participating countries (19). Although there are possible different prescription traditions between the countries, e.g. lower overall drug use in Norwegian NHs as compared to Swedish NHs (118), our findings are in general consistent with literature. The mean number of regular drugs per patient varied largely between the NHs, from 4.8 to 9.3 (article II), probably explained by differences in the proportion of patients at SCUs who tend to be younger and less multimorbid and by different prescribing traditions among physicians. Other Norwegian studies found, among less institutions, variation in drug use from 7.0 to 9.5 (103) and from 6.0 to 9.3 regular drugs per patient (110), that is consistent with our findings.

# Psychotropic drugs

Unfortunately, we just have point prevalence data without information on dosage and duration of treatment or what drug combinations were used to treat BPSD. Nevertheless, we conclude that regular use of psychotropic drugs were probably overused in the total NH population (*article I*) and especially at some NHs (*article II*), both before and after the MR, possibly reflecting the patients' need for continued treatment or perhaps more importantly, reluctance among physicians and nursing staff to discontinue the drugs (90).

The considerable variation between the NHs in the proportion of patients using psychotropic drugs on a regular schedule (*article II*), is generally consistent with those reported by other Norwegian NH studies (81;98), as well as with studies from Europe (99), US (100;119) and

Canada (120). We do not know the reasons for this variation, but one explanation may be that local prescription habits (119) for calming down noisy patients also reflect a need for relieving staff pressure (90). A previous study with comparable NHs located in Western Norway and staffed with general practitioners, also reported great variations in psychotropic drug use between the NHs that hardly could be explained by quantitative differences between the institutions (98). Another study found that NHs with high prevalence rates also tended to use higher dosages (81). This is of concern because these drugs may have many and serious side effects in particular in frail old people with dementia (97). The probable psychotropic overuse in NH residents represent an important challenge for future quality improvement measures, emphasizing the need for continuous training of both NH physicians and nurses in geriatric pharmacotherapy.

Antipsychotics administered on a regular schedule were used by 18.3% of the patients (article *I*), which is less than figures reported in previous Norwegian studies where almost one in four (23.0 - 24.4%) residents used an antipsychotic drug (81;98) and more in line with a more recent study (83) where the prevalence was about one in five (19.9%). The lower prevalence of antipsychotic drug use seen in more recent studies, ours included, may possibly reflect an increased concern about their modest efficacy in reducing aggression and psychosis (97;121) and poor safety in older people, with increased risk for all-cause mortality, stroke and extrapyramidal symptoms (96;122;123). However, the use of antipsychotic drugs varied substantially between different NHs in Oslo, from 3.0% to 50.0% (article II). Others have also reported large variations in the antipsychotic use ranging from 10% to 61% (98) and from 14% to 36% (81). Somewhat more use may be justified by more patients at SCUs, however, not to the extent as reported here. Even if we did not have access to data on duration of treatment, we suggest that most regular users of antipsychotics were long-term users. Tapering down and deprescribing unnecessary antipsychotic drugs can safely be done in most patients without worsening of symptoms (121;124), including in long-term users (125). Initiatives for more restrictive prescribing were shown to reduce antipsychotic use by 40% (from 23.9% to 14.3%) in NHs in US (126). The high prescription rates of antipsychotics reflect inappropriate prescription practices in need of educational interventions for quality improvement.

*Antidepressants* were used by 37.5% of the patients (*article I*), whereas other Norwegian studies found rates ranging from 31.0 to 50.9% (81;83;98;104). The unacceptable variation from 9.1% to 75.0% between the NHs in Oslo is even larger than variations previously

reported from Bergen in 2012 from 22% to 56% (81) and in 2001 from 10% to 61% (98). It is unlikely that the large observed variation between how antidepressants are used in different NHs reflect corresponding variations between patients. It is more likely that the variation has something to do with the attitudes, beliefs or knowledge among the health professionals working at the institution. There is no clear evidence for the efficacy of antidepressants in people with dementia and depressive symptoms (92;127) and the probable overuse of antidepressants calls for initiatives to avoid unnecessary long-term use, like more nonpharmaceutical treatment, systematic use of tests like the Cornell-test (128;129) and routines for trying to taper down and discontinue antidepressants at regular intervals (94).

We found that 11.6% of the patients used *cholinesterase inhibitors* and *memantine*, whereas others have reported slightly higer rates of 12.7% and 13.7% (81;83). The variation between the NHs in our study was very large, from no use at all to 41.7%, a much larger variation than that found by Krüger, from 7.0% to 26% (81). Here may be several reasons for the differences that should be addressed in future research.

Respectively 32.6% and 21.4% of the patients regularly used *hypnotics/sedatives* or *anxiolytics (article I)*. The overall benzodiazepine use varied largely between the NHs ranging from 23.7% to 98.6% (*article II*). Compared to our study, two older Norwegian studies found lower use of hypnotics/sedatives and anxiolytics, respectively 14% and 15% in the study by Ruths (98) and 19.3% and 22.0% in the study by Kruger (81), consistent with the trend of increased use of benzodiazepines in NHs during the last years (85). A recent study by Gulla (83) found quite similar results with ours with 30.5% of the patients using hypnotics/sedatives and 23.9% using anxiolytics (83). Although we do not know the duration of the treatment or what benzodiazepines dosages were used, the high use of benzodiazepines at the NHs (*article I*) and at some NHs in particular (*article II*), is an issue of concern. Available data, although limited, do not support the routine use of benzodiazepines for the treatment of BPSD (130) and their use is associated with sedation and falls (131).

#### Analgesic drugs

We found that 34.3% of the patients used *opioids* (*article I*), with a variation between NHs from no use at all to 65.2% (*article II*) whereas Krüger found a prevalence of 14.6% and a variation from 4% to 31% (81). The differences may be related to including minor opioids in our findings, but also due to a more general trend of higher opioid use in NHs during the last decades in Norway (86) and other countries (132;133). Thus, an increase in opioid use may reflect improved recognition and treatment of pain (132) as chronic pain may be

communicated in terms of BPSD (73) and may be undertreated in patients with dementia (134). However, initiatives are needed to monitor opioid-related adverse reactions like sedation, falls and respiratory depression, especially when used concurrently with benzodiazepines. We cannot explain why opioids were not used at all at one NH. A possible explanation may be physician's reluctance to prescribe opioids. *Paracetamol* was used by 44.5% of the patients (*article I*), whereas other studies found comparable or higher rates of 40.2% and 70.2% (81;110). The variation in paracetamol use between the NHs was from 15.8% to 73.9% and it is possible that paracetamol was underused at some NHs. The very low use of NSAIDs is consistent with the national trend in the NH-setting (86).

#### Other drugs

Numerous other therapeutic drug groups were used by a high proportion of NH patients, e.g. cardiovascular drugs, anti-anemia drugs, antacid drugs (mainly proton pump inhibitors), drugs used in hypothyroidism, drugs for osteoporosis, drugs for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes and glaucoma (article I), reflecting the high disease burden in NH residents. Compared with the drug use of their peers living at home (article III), we found a higher risk for using psychotropic drugs in NHs, which is consistent with the higher rate of people with dementia and BPSD in that setting. Perhaps due to higher rate of disability and shorter life expectancy, NH patients tend to use a more symptomatic than prophylactic treatment for cardiovascular disease, such as cardiac nitrates and diuretics. The palliative approach in NH setting may also explain higher use of opioids and paracetamol and a corresponding low use of NSAIDs that, although efficient in reliving musculoskeletal pain and inflammation, have a poor safety in old age, including side effects like life threatening bleedings (135) and cardiovascular events (136). However, the large variation between the NHs (article II) and the significant decrease in the number of drugs per patient after the MRs (article I), support that there is a potential for further reducing the drug utilization, especially at NHs with high prescription levels.

#### 13.2.2 Medication review to reduce drug related problems

In *article I* we found a mean of 2.0 DRPs per patient for problems associated with the use of regular drugs. Other Norwegian studies with similar MR procedures reported means of 2.0 (105), 2.5 (104), 3.5 (76), 3.7 (108), 4.0 (103) and 4.6 (110), whereas studies from Sweden, The Netherlands and Switzerland reported means of 2.2 (109), 3.5 (106) and 3.7 (107). One study using implicit criteria found 1.8 DRPs per patient (98). The lower prevalence of DRPs in our study compared with most other studies can be explained by the fact that we only recorded DRPs agreed upon by the team, not all problems suggested by the pharmacist alone. Regional differences in patient-mix and NHs might also play a role here, the most recent studies (108;110) being performed in the middle and northen part of Norway at smaller mostly rural NHs. It may be speculated that full-time working NH physicians might also be part of a possible explanation here. In spite of lower DRPs rates, the distribution of the problems was comparable to those reported in other studies, with most problems associated with unnecessary use of drugs, excess dosing or inadequate monitoring of the drug therapy. Almost all the recommended interventions to resolve the DRPs were implemented, in line with other studies using multidisciplinary MRs (76;107).

The average number of regular drugs used per patient decreased after the MR (*article I*). However, the intervention did not change the patterns of drug use in the NH population, hence the same drug groups being used most frequently before and after the MR. The use of all drug groups showed a downward tendency after the MR, except for drugs for thyroid therapy that remained unchanged. However, the reduction was significant only for few drug groups, such as antipsychotics, hypnotics/sedatives, antidepressants, diuretics, antithrombotic agents and antacid drugs (mainly PPI).

The MRs reduced the average prn drugs per patient, the largest decrease being found for opioids and anxiolytics, probably because of their overuse for BPSD (90). In another study, two thirds of the prn medication was never administered to the patients during the 15 weeks follow-up (137). This suggests that the prn medication should be included in the regular MRs, to reflect the actual needs of the patient.

Underprescribing was less common, just 7.4% of all DRPs. Most new drugs issued after the MRs were iron supplements, B12-vitamin or folic acid for anemia, paracetamol for pain and calcium and vitamin D for osteoporosis (*article I*). The MR method in itself might contribute

to less focus on the identification of unmet medical needs. Physicians may also have a higher threshold for adding a new drug to a person already taking many. Polypharmacy may therefore paradoxically represent a risk factor for underprescribing (28).

Potential adverse drug reactions comprised only 4.7% of the DRPs, however, mainly involving drugs with safety hazards like hypnotics/sedatives, anxiolytics and antipsychotics. Also potential drug-drug interactions were rare (4.4%), possibly because the physician mainly accepted clinically relevant interactions; the very low use of NSAIDs may also have contributed here.

Finally, we can conclude that drugs administered regularly for BPSD dominated the DRP categories that led to drug discontinuation or a re-evaluation of the rationale for continued drug treatment. We do not know if the implemented changes remained stable over time, but this should be expected based on other studies that found that 88% of the changes were maintained after three months (104).

## Variation in DRP

The variation between NHs regarding the mean number of DRPs per resident per NH (from 0.5 to 3.4) was large, up to seven-fold, although the NHs were otherwise comparable: publicly funded, administered by the same agency, with the same type of bed units, staffed according to county standard and providing care for comparable patient-mix (*article II*). For comparison, the mean DRPs per patient per NH was higher but varied less in other Norwegian studies, from 1.6 to 2.4 (105), from 2.7 to 5.6 (110) and from 3.0 to 5.5 (103). In one of these studies, performed at two NHs located in Oslo, the higher rate for DRPs was found at the NH with less physician time (103).

When we compared the group of NHs with highest vs. lowest mean number of drugs per patient, we found no difference in the prevalence of DRPs (*article II*). Although the somewhat limited number of NHs in the quartiles might challenge this finding, the descriptive analysis (figure 3) shows that some NHs in the quartile with highest levels of drug use also had very low levels of DRPs. One should therefore be cautious to use the average number of drugs per patient as a measure for prescription quality at the respective NH. The strong correlations found between need for additional drug, use of unnecessary drug, excessive dosing and inappropriate drug choice, suggest that prescription quality is multifaceted and hence, in case it is suboptimal, e.g. high rate of DRPs, this will affect several areas of drug prescribing practice. In *article II*, the large differences in DRP levels between otherwise comparable NHs might also to some extent be explained by NH physicians' different acceptance rates

regarding suggested DRPs. Because we did not record the proposed DRPs, only the accepted ones, we are not able to explore this further. Although the DRP system is a practical tool to sort out different categories of problems, it is not known if their use in fact lead to better patient-related outcomes than MR procedures undertaken without using DRPs. This should be investigated in future research.

# 14 CONCLUSIONS

The use of psychotropic and analgesic drugs was high in the NHs and the regular use of these drugs varied largely between the different NHs. These drugs were most commonly involved in all types of DRPs and in interventions on the patients' medication use. Although the MRs reduced the regular use of antipsychotics, hypnotics/sedatives and antidepressants, their use was still high after the MRs. Our data do not permit us to conclude if this high use reflects patients' need for continued treatment or a reluctance among the staff to discontinue them. However, their use in NHs needs critical rethinking due to their poor effect and safety in older people with dementia.

The most frequent DRPs were use of unnecessary drugs and too high dosing, hence the MRs reduced the overall drug utilization by withdrawal of regular and prn drugs and by lowering the dosing of regular drugs. The third most frequent DRP was a requirement to monitor the effect and safety of the drug, thus the MRs probably ensured a more appropriate monitoring of long-term medicine use. Because the vast majority of the interventions to resolve DRPs were accepted by the patients/next of kin, we consider that the MRs contributed to a more appropriate medication for the benefit of the patients. We also believe that the MRs had an educational effect on the NH staff involved in the reviews, leading to more awareness on balancing efficacy and safety issues, which is needed for safer drug use at NHs.

The current low evidence for the effect of MRs on clinical outcomes does not change our view that MRs are recommended tools to improve medication appropriateness in NHs. We support that standardized MRs should be part of the regular clinical follow up of the NH residents, at least annually, but preferably every six months due to the short life expectancy of most residents

The large variation in drug use and DRPs between otherwise comparable NHs, along with a significant decrease in drug use after MRs suggest a potential for further reducing the drug utilization, especially at NHs with high prescription levels. We therefore support educational outreach and other interventions to increase the skills of the NH staff in geriatric pharmacology to improve medication appropriateness.

While we have reliable drug use data for older people living at home, we still lack a similar registry for people living in NHs. The large differences in drug use between older people

living in a NH or at home show that these two settings are completely different worlds when it comes to pharmacoepidemiology. Thus, it is urgently needed to include the drug use of the NH residents in the national prescription registry NorPD.

# 15 CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH

The translation of knowledge into clinical practice at the NHs in Oslo was initiated by discussing the DRPs and the changes in drug use after MRs (*article I*) at a meeting with NH physicians held by the NH Agency in 2018. Among future interventions was identified the need to systematically record the clinical indication for each drug prescription on the medication lists.

The results from this thesis, supplemented with clinical feedback from the NH physicians should be used by the NH Agency to critically evaluate and improve the procedures for MRs in the municipality. Such improved procedures might be of interest also for others in the NH-sector. There is a need to organize regular educational meetings for the NH physicians highlighting different therapeutic challenges as disclosed during MRs, with discussions on experiences, challenges and initiatives for further improving the procedure.

The large variation in drug use between different NHs needs to be debated with the NH physicians, with the aim to find out how we could avoid unacceptable variations, and how to determine if a variation is due to a particular patient-mix at a particular NH – or not. Such initiative would give a better foundation for comparisons between the NHs than the annual drug purchase statistics, and it may lead to identifying areas in need for improvement across the NHs or at particular NHs. Further, it will also be a good start for identifying topics for courses in geriatric pharmacotherapy for the NH physicians.

# Future research

It is urgently needed to investigate patient-related outcomes related to interventions following the MRs, primarily quality of life outcomes due to the short life expectancy of the NH residents. Further, one could explore the validity of the DRP concept related to patient outcomes.

The unexpected large variation in the use of regular drugs between the NHs should be investigated further. Such study might find out if variations are unacceptable and if so, suggest interventions to reduce them. NHs with unexpected high drug/PIM use might be in need for educational outreach interventions and perhaps comprehensive collaborative MRs. The NHs in Oslo now systematically perform MRs by physician and nurse for each patient at admission and thereafter every six months. It is therefore to be hoped that these efforts may have improved the all over drug use quality. This may possibly also have led to less variation between different NHs in how they treat comparable patients. At present, the NHs in Oslo are using multidose dispensed drugs. One should investigate whether the pharmacy supplying multidose dispensed drugs has a database with the NH users and if their personal number identifies the users in the database. If this is the case, efforts should be undertaken to make that database available for research in collaboration with the NH Agency. If this is feasible, assessment of the drug use at the NHs using multidose dispensed drugs will be much easier and it could be done regularly to monitor the changes in drug use patterns and the variations between institutions.

We substantiated a large difference in the pharmacotherapy of older people by care setting, with more use of PIMs and a palliative approach in NHs. In my experience, new residents commonly present polypharmacy, including concomitant use of psychotropic drugs at admission. It would be of interest to follow up longitudinally the residents' drug use based on the MRs performed at admission and thereafter every six months. Because such MRs are already part of routine care at the NHs in Oslo, research may be part of routine care and hence feasible.

Finally, inappropriate medication use in NHs represents a serious challenge for the quality of care of older people. However, research on drug utilization among NH residents in Norway suffers from lack of registry data for people living in NHs. Including the NH residents into the NorPD would therefore represent a huge step forward. This would enable monitoring and evaluating the drug utilization in NHs at national, regional and local levels - both cross-sectional and longitudinally. Since the NorPD is no longer pseudo-anonymous, this will make record linkage with other data sources much easier based on the eleven-digit person number.

I hope that this thesis will contribute to research activities initiated by among others, the NH Agency in Oslo, to improve procedures for drug utilization at NHs and the pharmacotherapy of older people.

# 16 **REFERENCES**

- 1 Singh S, Bajorek B. Defining 'elderly' in clinical practice guidelines for pharmacotherapy. Pharm Pract (Granada). 2014;12(4):489
- Marengoni A, Angleman S, Melis R, Mangialasche F, Karp A, Garmen A, et al. Aging with multimorbidity: a systematic review of the literature. Ageing Res Rev. 2011;10(4):430-9
- 3 Salive ME. Multimorbidity in older adults. Epidemiol Rev. 2013;35:75-83
- 4 Prince M, Bryce R, Albanese E, Wimo A, Ribeiro W, Ferr CP. The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Alzheimers Dement. 2013;9:63-75.e2
- 5 Collard RM, Boter H, Schoevers RA, Oude Voshaar RC. Prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older persons: a systematic review. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60:1487-1492
- 6 Moe JO, Hagen TP. Trends and variation in mild disability and functional limitations among older adults in Norway, 1986–2008. Eur J Ageing. 2011;8:49-61
- 7 Christensen K, Doblhammer G, Rau R, Vaupel JW. Ageing populations: the challenges ahead. Lancet. 2009;374:1196-1208
- 8 European Medicines Agency (EMA), Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP), Doc. Ref. EMEA/498920/2006. Adequacy of guidance on the elderly regarding medicinal products for human use. [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from:

http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Scientific\_guideline/2010/01/ WC500049541.pdf

- 9 Mangoni AA, Jackson SH. Age related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: basic principles and practical applications. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2004;57(1):6-14
- Langballe EM, Evensen M. Eldre i Norge: Forekomst av psykiske plager og lidelser.
   Rapport [Prevalence of psychical symptoms and diseases. Report] 11 April 2011
   [updated 12 April 2016; accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: https://www.fhi.no/publ/2011/eldre-i-norge-forekomst-av-psykiske/
- 11 Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research and medical education: a cross-sectional study. Lancet. 2012;280:37-43

- Ryan A, Wallace E, O'Hara P, Smith SM. Multimorbidity and functional decline in community-dwelling adults: a systematic review. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2015;13:168
- 13 Vetrano DL, Palmer K, Marengoni A, Marzetti E, Lattanzio F, Roller-Wirnsberger R, et al. Frailty and Multimorbidity: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2019;74(5):659-666
- 14 Onder G, Palmer K, Navickas R, Jurevičienė E, Mammarella F, Strandzheva M, et al. Joint Action on Chronic Diseases and Promoting Healthy Ageing across the Life Cycle (JA-CHRODIS). Time to face the challenge of multimorbidity. A European perspective from the joint action on chronic diseases and promoting healthy ageing across the life cycle (JA-CHRODIS). Eur J Intern Med. 2015;26(3):157-159
- 15 Starfield B, Lemke KW, Bernhardt T, Foldes SS, Forrest CB, Weiner JP. Comorbidity: implications for the importance of primary care in 'case' management. Ann Fam Med. 2003;1:8-14
- 16 Mutasingwa DR, Ge H, Upshur RE. How applicable are clinical practice guidelines to elderly patients with comorbidities? Can Fam Physician. 2011;57(7):e253-262
- 17 Boyd CM, Vollenweider D, Puhan MA. Informing evidence-based decision-making for patients with comorbidity: availability of necessary information in clinical trials for chronic diseases. PLoS One. 2012;7(8):e41601
- 18 Viktil KK, Blix HS, Moger TA, Reikvam A. Polypharmacy as commonly defined is an indicator of limited value in the assessment of drug-related problems. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2007;63(2):187-195
- 19 Onder G, Liperoti R, Fialova D, Topinkova E, Tosato M, Danese P, et al. SHELTER Project. Polypharmacy in nursing home in Europe: results from the SHELTER study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2012;67(6):698-704
- Nørgaard A, Jensen-Dahm C, Gasse C, Hansen ES, Waldemar G. Psychotropic
   Polypharmacy in Patients with Dementia: Prevalence and Predictors. J Alzheimers Dis.
   2017;56(2):707-716
- 21 Bjerrum L, Gonzalez Lopez-Valcarcel B, Petersen G. Risk factors for potential drug interactions in general practice. Eur J Gen Pract. 2008;14:23-29
- 22 Søraas IA, Staurset HB, Slørdal L, Spigset O. Legemiddelinteraksjoner hos pasienter i sykehjem [Drug-drug interactions in nursing home residents]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2014;10:1041-1046

- 23 Ranhoff AH, Brørs O. Legemidler som kan gi delirium hos eldre [Medications that can give delirium in older people]. Tidskr Nor Laegeforen. 2005;17:2366-2367
- Hajar ER, Cafiero AC, Hanlon JT. Polypharmacy in elderly patients. Am J Geriatr Pharmacother. 2007;5(4):345-351
- 25 Van Dijk KN, De Vries CS, Van Den Berg PB, Dijkema Am, Brouwers JR, de Jong van den Berg LT. Constipation as an adverse effect of drug use in nursing home patients: an overestimated risk. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 1998;46(3):255-261
- 26 Salazar JA, Poon I, Nair M. Clinical consequences of polypharmacy in elderly: expect the unexpected, think the unthinkable. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2007;6(6):695-704
- 27 Cadogan CA, Ryan C, Hughes CM. Appropriate Polypharmacy and Medicine Safety: When Many is not Too Many. Drug Saf. 2016;39(2):109-116
- 28 Kuijpers MAI, van Marum RJ, Egberts ACG, Jansen PAF. Relationship between polypharmacy and underprescribing. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2008;65(1):130-133
- 29 Hanlon JT, Schmader KE, Samsa GP, Weinberger M, Uttech KM, Lewis IK, et al. A method for assessing drug therapy appropriateness. J Clin Epidemiol. 1992;45(10):1045-1051
- 30 Spinewine A, Schmader KE, Barber N, Hughes C, Lapane KL, Swine C, Hanlon JT. Appropriate prescribing in elderly people: how well can it be measured and optimized? Lancet. 2007;370:173-184
- 31 Beers HM, Ouslander JG, Rollinger I, Reuben DB, Brooks J, Beck JC. Explicit criteria for determining potentially inappropriate medication use in nursing homes residents. Arch Intern Med. 1991;151(9):1825-1832
- Alldred DP, Kennedy MC, Hughes C, Chen TF, Miller P. Interventions to optimise prescribing for older people in care homes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2(2):CD009095
- Kaufmann CP, Tremp R, Hersberger KE, Lampert ML. Inappropriate prescribing: a systematic overview of published assessment tools. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;70:1-
- By the 2019 American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria® Update Expert Panel.
   American Geriatrics Society 2019 Updated AGS Beers Criteria® for Potentially
   Inappropriate Medication Use in Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2019;67(4):674-694
- 35 Gallagher P, Ryan C, Byrne S, Kennedy J, O'Mahony D. STOPP (Screening Tool of Older Person's Prescriptions) and START (Screening Tool to Alert doctors to Right Treatment). Consensus validation. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008;46(2):72-83

- O'Mahony D, O'Sullivan D, Byrne S, O'Connor MN, Ryan C, Gallagher P.
   STOPP/START criteria for potentially inappropriate prescribing in older people:
   version 2 [published correction appears in Age Ageing. 2018 May 1;47(3):489]. Age Ageing. 2015;44(2):213–218
- 37 Hill-Taylor B, Sketris I, Hayden J, Byrne S, O'Sullivan D, Christie R. Application of the STOPP/START criteria: a systematic review of the prevalence of potentially inappropriate prescribing in older adults, and evidence of clinical, humanistic and economic impact. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2013;38:360-372
- 38 Hill-Taylor B, Walsh KA, Stewart S, Hayden J, Byrne S, Sketris IS. Effectiveness of the STOPP/START (Screening Tool of Older Persons' potentially inappropriate Prescriptions/Screening Tool to Alert doctors to the Right Treatment) criteria: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2016;41(2):158-169
- 39 McLeod PJ, Huang AR, Tamblyn RM, Gayton DC. Defining inappropriate practices in prescribing for elderly people: a national consensus panel. CMAJ. 1997;156(3):385-391
- 40 Laroche ML, Charmes JP, Merle L. Potentially inappropriate medications in the elderly: a French consensus panel list. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2007;63:725-731
- 41 Basger BJ, Chen TF, Moles RJ. Inappropriate medication use and prescribing indicators in elderly Australians, development of a prescribing indicators tool. Drugs Aging. 2008;25:777-793
- 42 Holt S, Schmiedl S, Thurmann PA. Potentially inappropriate medications in the elderly: the PRISCUS list. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2010;107:543-551
- Maio V, Del Canala S, Abouzaid S, GAP investigators. Using explicit criteria to evaluate the quality of prescribing in elderly Italian outpatients: a cohort study. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2010;35:219-229
- Mann E, Bohmdorfer B, Fruhwald T, Roller-Wirnsberger RE, Dovjak P, Duckelmann-Hofer C, et al. Potentially inappropriate medication in geriatric patients; the Austrian consensus panel list. Wien KlinWochenschr. 2012;124(5-6):160-169
- 45 Rognstad S, Brekke M, Fetveit A, Spigset O, Wyller TB, Straand J. The Norwegian general practice (NORGEP) criteria for assessing potentially inappropriate prescriptions to elderly patients. Scand J Prim Health care. 2009;27:153-159

- 46 Nyborg G, Straand J, Klovning A, Brekke M. The Norwegian General Practice-Nursing Home criteria (NORGEP-NH) for potentially inappropriate medication use: A webbased Delphi study. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2015;33(2):134-141
- 47 Forsetlund L, Eike MC, Gjerberg E, Vist GE. Effect of interventions to reduce potentially inappropriate use of drugs in nursing homes: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. BMC Geriatr. 2011;11:16
- 48 Rognstad S, Brekke M, Fetveit A, Dalen I, Straand J. Prescription peer academic detailing to reduce inappropriate prescribing for older patients: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Br J Gen Pract. 2013;63(613):e554-e562
- 49 Kunstler BE, Lennox A, Bragge P. Changing prescribing behaviours with educational outreach: an overview of evidence and practice. BMC Med Educ. 2019;19(1):311
- 50 Hanlon JT, Schmader KE. The medication appropriateness index at 20: where it started, where it has been, and where it may be going. Drugs Aging. 2013;30(11):893-900
- 51 Lipton HL, Bero LA, Bird JA, McPhee SJ. The impact of clinical pharmacists' consultations on physicians' geriatric drug prescribing. A randomized controlled trial. Med Care 1992;30(7):646-658
- 52 Alldred DP, Raynor DK, Hughes C, Barber N, Chen TF, Spoor P. Interventions to optimise prescribing for older people in care homes. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD009095
- 53 Pharmaceutical Care Network Europe. Position Paper on the PCNE definition of Medication Review. April 2016. [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: <u>https://www.pcne.org/upload/files/149\_Position\_Paper\_on\_PCNE\_Medication\_Review\_final.pdf</u>
- Griese-Mammen N, Hersberger KE, Messerli M, Leikola S, Horvat N, van Mil JWF, et al. PCNE definition of medication review: reaching agreement. Int J Clin Pharm. 2018;40(5):1199-1208
- 55 Clyne W, Blenkinsopp A, Seal R. A guide to medication review 2008. NHS, National Prescribing Centre. 30 June 2008 [accessed 20 March 2021]. Availabale from: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10026.1/16326</u>
- 56 Leikola S, Tuomainen L, Peura S, Laurikainen A, Lyles A, Savela E, Airaksinen M. Comprehensive medication review: development of a collaborative procedure. Int J Clin Pharm. 2012;34:510-514
- 57 American Pharmacists Association, National Association of Chain Drug StoresFoundation Medication Therapy Management in community pharmacy practice: core

elements of an MTM service (version 1.0) J Am Pharmaceut Assoc. 2005;45(5):573-579

- 58 Ryan C, O'Mahony D, O'Donovan DÓ, O'Grady E, Weedle P, Kennedy J, et al. A comparison of the application of STOPP/START to patients' drug lists with and without clinical information. Int J Clin Pharm. 2013;35:230-235
- 59 Bulajeva A, Labberton L, Leikola S, Pohjanoksa-Mäntylä M, Geurts MM, de Gier JJ, et al. Medication review practices in European countries. Res Social Adm Pharm. 2014;10(5):731-740
- Helsedirektoratet. Veileder om legemiddelgjennomganger [The Norwegian Directorate of Health. Guidelines for medication reviews]. June 2021 [updated Sept 2015; accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from:
   <a href="https://helsedirektoratet.no/Lists/Publikasjoner/Attachments/465/Veileder-legemiddelgjennomgang\_IS\_1998.pdf">https://helsedirektoratet.no/Lists/Publikasjoner/Attachments/465/Veileder-legemiddelgjennomgang\_IS\_1998.pdf</a>
- Kwan JL, Lo L, Sampson M, Shojania KG. Medication reconciliation during transitions of care as a patient safety strategy: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med. 2013;158:397-403
- 62 McNab D, Bowie P, Ross A, MacWalter G, Ryan M, Morrison J. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the effectiveness of pharmacist-led medication reconciliation in the community after hospital discharge. BMJ Qual Saf. 2018;27(4):308-320
- 63 Pharmaceutical Care Network Europe. PCNE Classification for drug-related problems
   V5.01. 29 May 2006. [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: https://www.pcne.org/upload/files/16\_PCNE\_classification\_V5.01.pdf
- 64 Strand LM, Morley PC, Cipolle RJ, Ramsey R, Lamsam GD. Drug-related problems: their structure and function. DICP. 1990;24(11):1093-1097
- Basger BJ, Moles RJ, Chen TF. Application of drug-related problem (DRP)
   classification systems: a review of the literature. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;70:799 815
- 66 Cipolle RJ, Strand LM, Morley PC (1998) Pharmaceutical care practice. McGraw-Hill, New York: 78-79
- 67 Hepler CD, Strand LM. Opportunities and responsibilities in pharmaceutical care. Am J Hosp Pharm. 1990;47(3):533-543
- 68 van Mil JW, Westerlund LO, Hersberger KE, Schaefer MA. Drug-related problem classification systems. Ann Pharmacother. 2004;38(5):859-867

- 69 Westerlund TLO, Bjork HT. Pharmaceutical care in community pharmacies; practice and research in Sweden. Ann Pharmacother. 2006;40:1162-1169
- 70 Ruths S, Viktil KK, Blix HS. Classification of drug-related problems. Tidskr Nor Laegeforen. 2007;127(23):3073-3076
- Pharmaceutical Care Network Europe. Classification for Drug Related Problems V9.1.
   10 May 2020 [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: https://www.pcne.org/upload/files/417\_PCNE\_classification\_V9-1\_final.pdf
- Statistisk Sentralbyrå. Sykehjem, hjemmetjenester og andre omsorgstjenester [Statistics Norway. Nursing homes, home services and other care services]. 18 June 2020
   [accessed 20 March 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.ssb.no/pleie</u>
- Selbaek G, Kirkevold O, Engedal K. The prevalence of psychiatric symptoms and behavioral disturbances and the use of psychotropic drugs in Norwegian nursing homes. Int J Geriat Psychiatry. 2007;22:843-849
- 74 Helsedirektoratet. Riktig legemiddelbruk til eldre pasienter/beboere på sykehjem og i hjemmesykepleien. [Norwegian Directorate of Health. Appropriate medication of older patients/residents living in nursing homes and at home with care services]. 2011 [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/11250/2445243</u>
- 75 Folkehelseinstituttet. Halvparten av oss dør i sykehjem [Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Half of us die in nursing homes]. 1 November 2016 [updated 2 November 2016; accessed 20 March 2021] Available from: <u>https://www.fhi.no/historisk-arkiv/nyheter/20162/dodsarsaker/halvparten-av-oss-dor-i-sykehjem/</u>
- 76 Halvorsen KH, Ruths S, Granas AG, Viktil KK. Multidisciplinary intervention to identify and resolve drug-related problems in Norwegian nursing homes. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2010;28:82-88
- Tinetti ME, Bogardus Jr ST, Agostini JV. Potential pitfalls of disease-specificguidelines for patients with multiple conditions. N Engl J Med. 2004; 351:2870-2874
- Maher RL, Hanlon J, Hajjar ER. Clinical consequences of polypharmacy in elderly.
   Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2014;13:57-65
- 79 Ruths S, Straand J, Nygaard HA. Multidisciplinary medication review in nursing home residents: what are the most significant drug-related problems? The Bergen district nursing home (BEDNURS) study. Qual Saf Health Care. 2003;12:176-180
- 80 Rytter E, Nakken K, Mørch-Reiersen LT, Efjestad A, Selvig K. Bruk av antiepileptika hos sykehjemsbeboere [Use of antiepileptic drugs in nursing home residents]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2007;127(9):1185-1187

- 81 Krüger K, Folkestad M, Geitung JT, Eide GE, Grimsmo A. Psychoactive drugs in seven nursing homes. Prim Health Care Res Dev. 2012;13(3):244-54
- 82 Andreassen LM, Halvorsen KH, Granas AG. P.r.n. medication in nursing homes varying content, formulation and quality in administration guidelines. Sykepleien forskning. 2011;46-52
- 83 Gulla C, Selbaek G, Flo E, Kjome R, Kirkevold Ø, Husebø BS. Multi-psychotropic drug prescription and the association to neuropsychiatric symptoms in three Norwegian nursing home cohorts between 2004 and 2011. BMC Geriatr. 2016;16:115
- 84 Nygaard HA, Naik M, Ruths S, Straand Jal. Nursing home residents and their drug use: a comparison between mentally intact and mentally impaired residents. The Bergen district nursing home (BEDNURS) study. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;59:463-469
- Ruths S, Sorensen PH, Kirkevold Ø, Husebø BS, Krüger K, Halvorsen KH, Selbaek G.
   Trends in psychotropic drug prescribing in Norwegian nursing homes from 1997 to
   2009: a comparison of six cohorts. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2013;28(8):868-876
- 86 Sandvik R, Selbaek G, Kirkevold O, Aarsland D, Husebo BS. Analgesic prescribing patterns in Norwegian nursing homes from 2000 to 2011: trend analyses of four data samples. Age Ageing. 2016;45(1):54-60
- Helvik AS, Engedal K, Benth JŠ, Selbæk G. Prevalence and Severity of Dementia in Nursing Home Residents. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2015;40:166-177
- 88 Stordal E, Solhaug HI, Bosnes I, Følstad A. Prevalens av depresjon hos eldre: en kort oversikt basert på erfaringer med epidemiologisk forskning fra Helseundersøkelsen i Nord-Trøndelag (HUNT). Norsk Epidemiologi. 2012;22(2):197-201
- 89 Testad I, Auer S, Mittelman M, Ballard C, Fossey J, Donabauer Y, Aarsland D. Nursing home structure and association with agitation and use of psychotropic drugs in nursing home residents in three countries: Norway, Austria and England. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2010;25(7):725-731
- 90 Iden KR, Hjørleifsson S, Ruths S. Treatment decisions on antidepressants in nursing homes: A qualitative study. Scan J Primary Health Care. 2011;29:252-256
- 91 Coupland C, Dhiman P, Morriss R, Arthur A, Barton G, Hippisley-Cox J. Antidepressant use and risk of adverse outcomes in older people: population based cohort study. BMJ. 2011;343:d4551
- 92 Nelson JC, Devanand DP. A systematic review and meta-analysis of placebo-controlled antidepressant studies in people with depression and dementia. J Am Geriatric Soc. 2011;59(4):577-585

- 93 Sepehry AA, Lee PE, Hsiung GYR, Beattie BL, Jacova C. Effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in Alzheimer's disease with comorbid depression: a meta-analysis of depression and cognitive outcomes. Drugs Aging. 2012;29(10):793-806
- 94 Bergh S, Selbaek G, Engedal K. Discontinuation of antidepressants in people with dementia and neuropsychiatric symptoms (DESEP study): double blind, randomised, parallel group, placebo controlled trial. BMJ. 2012;344:e1566
- 95 Helsedirektoratet. Nasjonal faglig retningslinje om demens [Norwegian Directorate of Health. National guideline on dementia]. 2018 [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: <u>https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/demens</u>
- 96 Schneider L, Dagerman K, Insel P. Efficacy and adverse effects of atypical antipsychotics for dementia: meta-analysis of randomised, placebo-controlled trials. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2006;14(3):191-210
- 97 Schneider LS, Dagerman KS, Insel P. Risk of death with atypical antipsychotic drug treatment for dementia: meta-analysis of randomized placebo-controlled trials. JAMA. 2005;294:1934-1943
- 98 Ruths S, Straand J, Nygaard HA. Psychotropic drug use in nursing homes diagnostic indications and variations between institutions. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2001;57:523-528
- 99 Kleijer BC, van Marum RJ, Frijters DH, Jansen PA, Ribbe MW, Egberts AC, Heerdink ER. Variability between nursing homes in prevalence of antipsychotic use in patients with dementia. Int Psychogeriatr. 2014;26(3):363-371
- Cioltan H, Alshehri S, Howe C, Lee J, Fain M, Eng H, et al. Variation in use of antipsychotic medications in nursing homes in the United States: A systematic review.
   BMC Geriatr. 2017;17(1):32
- 101 Wallerstedt SM, Kindblom JM, Nylén K, Samuelsson O, Strandell A. Medication reviews for nursing home residents to reduce mortality and hospitalization: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;78(3):488-497
- 102 Legemiddelinteraksjoner for norske klinikere [Drug-drug interaction database for Norwegian clinicians]. [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: http://www.interaksjoner.no/
- 103 Kersten H, Ruth S, Wyller TB. Farmakoterapi i sykehjem [Pharmacotherapy in nursing homes]. Tidssk Nor Laegeforen. 2009;2:9-12
- 104 Davidsson M, Vibe OE, Ruths S, Blix HS. A multidisciplinary approach to improve drug therapy in nursing homes. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2011;4:9-13

- 105 Tverborgvik E, Aasen H, Krüger K, Irgens MM. Legemiddelgjennomganger på sykehjem i Bergen kommune [Medication reviews in nursing homes in Bergen county].
   Norsk Farmaceutisk Tidsk. 2012;6:14-17
- 106 Finkers F, Maring JG, Boersma F, Taxis K. A study of medication reviews to identify drug-related problems of polypharmacy patients in the Dutch nursing home setting. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2007;32:469-476
- 107 Brulhart MI, Wermeille JP. Multidisciplinary medication review: evaluation of a pharmaceutical care model for nursing homes. Int J Clin Pharm. 2011;33:549-557
- 108 Devik SA, Olsen RM, Fiskvik IL, Halbostad T, Lassen T, Kuzina N, et al. Variations in drug-related problems detected by multidisciplinary teams in Norwegian nursing homes and home nursing care. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2018;36(3):291-299
- 109 Lenander C, Bondesson Å, Viberg N, Beckman A, Midlöv P. Effects of medication reviews on use of potentially inappropriate medications in elderly patients; a crosssectional study in Swedish primary care. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):616
- Halvorsen KH, Stadeløkken T, Garcia BH. A Stepwise Pharmacist-Led Medication Review Service in Interdisciplinary Teams in Rural Nursing Homes. Pharmacy. 2019;7(4):148
- Helsedirektoratet. Legemiddelbehandling av eldre mennesker [Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Medication of older people]. 30 April 2018. [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: <u>https://nhi.no/forskning-og-intervju/legemiddelbehandling-av-eldre/</u>
- 112 Nyborg G, Straand J, Brekke M. Inappropriate prescribing for the elderly a modern epidemic? Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2012;68(7):1085-1094
- 113 Halvorsen KH, Granas AG, Engeland A, Ruths S. Prescribing quality for older people in Norwegian nursing homes and home nursing services using multidose dispensed drugs. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2012;21:929-936
- Ti år med Gerica. Rapport 20/2010 fra Kommunerevisjonen i Oslo [Ten years with Gerica. Report 20/2010 from Oslo municipality]. 9 Sept 2010 [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from:
   <u>https://www.nkrf.no/filarkiv/File/Alle\_rapporter\_i\_pdf/Oslo\_kommunerevisjon/Ti\_aar\_</u>med\_Gerica.pdf
- 115 WHO Collaborating Center for Drug Statistics Methodology, Guidelines for ATC Classification and DDD Assignment. WHO collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. Oslo: Norway; 15 March 2021. [accessed 20 March 2021]. Available from: <u>https://www.whocc.no/</u>

- Pottegård A, Schmidt SAJ, Wallach-Kildemoes H, Sørensen HT, Hallas J, Schmidt M.
   Data Resource Profile: The Danish National Prescription Registry. Int J Epidemiol.
   2017;46(3):798-798f
- 117 Lozano-Montoya I, Vélez-Diaz-Pallarés M, Delgado-Silveira E, Montero-Errasquin B, Cruz Jentoft AJ. Potentially inappropriate prescribing detected by STOPP–START criteria: are they really inappropriate? Age Ageing. 2015;44(5):861-866
- 118 Ruths S. Legemiddelbehandling i sykehjem holder kvaliteten mål? [Pharmacotherapy in nursing homes – is the quality according to aims?]. Norsk Farmaceutisk tidsskrift 2011;4:29-32
- Chen Y, Briesacher BA, Field TS, Tjia J, Lau DT, Gurwitz JH. Unexplained variation across US nursing homes in antipsychotic prescribing rates. Arch Intern Med. 2010;170(1):89-95
- 120 Rochon PA, Stukel TA, Bronskill SE, Gomes T, Sykora K, Wodchis WP, et al. Variation in Nursing Home Antipsychotic Prescribing Rates. Arch Intern Med. 2007;167(7):676-683
- Ballard C, Waite J. The effectiveness of atypical antipsychotics for the treatment of aggression and psychosis in Alzheimer's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;(1):CD003476
- 122 Huybrechts KF, Gerhard T, Crystal S, Olfson M, Avorn J, Levin R, et al. Differential risk of death in older residents in nursing homes prescribed specific antipsychotic drugs: population-based cohort study. BMJ (Clinical research ed.). 2012;344 e977
- 123 Ralph SJ, Espinet AJ. Increased all-cause mortality by antipsychotic drugs: Updated review and meta-analysis in dementia and general mental health care. J Alzheimers Dis Rep. 2018;2:1-26
- 124 Ruths S, Straand J, Nygaard HA, Aarsland Dl. Stopping antipsychotic drug therapy in demented nursing home patients: a randomized, placebo-controlled study –the Bergen District Nursing Home Study (BEDNURS). Int J Geriat Psychiatry. 2008;23:889–895
- 125 Declercq T, Petrovic M, Azermai M, Vander Stichele R, De Sutter AIM, van Driel ML, et al. Withdrawal versus continuation of chronic antipsychotic drugs for behavioural and psychological symptoms in older people with dementia. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews 2013;(3):CD007726

- 126 Crystal S, Jarrín OF, Rosenthal M, Hermida R, Angell B. National Partnership to Improve Dementia Care in Nursing Homes Campaign: State and Facility Strategies, Impact, and Antipsychotic Reduction Outcomes. Innov Aging. 2020.;4(3):igaa018
- 127 Orgeta V, Tabet N, Nilforooshan R, Howard R. Efficacy of Antidepressants for Depression in Alzheimer's Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;58(3):725-733
- 128 Alexopoulos GS, Abrams RC, Young RC, Shamoian CA. Cornell Scale for Depression in Dementia. Biol Psychiatry. 1988;23(3):271-284
- 129 Barca ML, Engedal K, Selbaek G. A reliability and validity study of the Cornell scale among elderly inpatients, using various clinical criteria. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2010;29(5):438-447
- 130 Tampi RR, Tampi DJ. Efficacy and tolerability of benzodiazepines for the treatment of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen. 2014;29:565-574
- 131 Lapeyre-Mestre M. A review of adverse outcomes associated with psychoactive drug use in nursing home residents with dementia. Drugs Aging. 2016;33:865-888
- Pitkala KH, Juola AL, Hosia H, Teramura-Gronblad M, Soini H, Savikko N, et al.
   Eight-Year Trends in the Use of Opioids, Other Analgesics, and Psychotropic
   Medications Among Institutionalized Older People in Finland. JAMDA.
   2015;16(11):973-978
- 133 Iaboni A, Campitelli MA, Bronskill SE, Diong C, Kumar M, Maclagan LC, et al. Time trends in opioid prescribing among Ontario long-term care residents: a repeated crosssectional study. CMAJ Open. 2019;7(3):E582-E589
- 134 Husebo BS, Ballard C, Sandvik R, Nielsen OB, Aarsland D. Efficacy of treating pain to reduce behavioral disturbances in residents of nursing homes with dementia: cluster randomized clinical trial. BMJ. 2011;343:d4065
- 135 Castellsague J, Riera-Guardia N, Calingaert B, Varas-Lorenzo C, Fourrier-Reglat A, Nicotra F, et al. Individual NSAIDs and upper gastrointestinal complications: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies (the SOS project) Drug Saf. 2012;15:1127-1146
- Barthelemy O, Limbourg T, Collet JP, Beygui F, Silvain J, Bellemain-Appaix
  A. Impact of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) on cardiovascular outcomes in patients with stable atherothrombosis or multiple risk factors. Int J Cardiol. 2013;163:266-271
137 Rønningen SW, Bakken K, Granås AG. Behovsmedisinering i sykehjem: Forskrivning, bruk og dokumentasjon av effekt [Pro re nata drugs in nursing homes. Prescription, use and documention of effects]. Sykepleien Forskning. 2013;8:14-24

# 17 ARTICLES

I

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

Taylor & Francis Group

Taylor & Francis

OPEN ACCESS Check for updates

# Drug-related problems and changes in drug utilization after medication reviews in nursing homes in Oslo, Norway

Amura Francesca Fog<sup>a,b</sup>, Gunnar Kvalvaag<sup>a</sup>, Knut Engedal<sup>c</sup> and Jørund Straand<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Nursing Home Agency, Oslo, Norway; <sup>b</sup>Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway; <sup>c</sup>Norwegian National Advisory Unit for Aging and Health, Vestfold County Hospital HF, Toensberg and Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** We describe the drug-related problems (DRPs) identified during medication reviews (MRs) and the changes in drug utilization after MRs at nursing homes in Oslo, Norway. We explored predictors for the observed changes.

**Design:** Observational before-after study.

Setting: Forty-one nursing homes.

**Intervention:** MRs performed by multidisciplinary teams during November 2011 to February 2014.

Subjects: In all, 2465 long-term care patients.

**Main outcome measures:** DRPs identified by explicit criteria (STOPP/START and NORGEP) and drug–drug interaction database; interventions to resolve DRPs; drug use changes after MR.

**Results:** A total of 6158 DRPs were identified, an average of 2.6 DRPs/patient, 2.0 for regular and 0.6 for pro re nata (prn) drugs. Of these patients, 17.3% had no DRPs. The remaining 82.7% of the patients had on average 3.0 DRPs/patient. Use of unnecessary drugs (43.5%), excess dosing (12.5%) and lack of monitoring of the drug use (11%) were the most frequent DRPs. Opioids and psychotropic drugs were involved in 34.4% of all DRPs. The mean number of drugs decreased after the MR from 6.8 to 6.3 for regular drugs and from 3.0 to 2.6 for prn drugs. Patients with DRPs experienced a decrease of 1.1 drugs after MR (0.5 for regular and 0.6 for prn drugs). The reduction was most pronounced for the regular use of antipsychotics, antidepressants, hypnotics/sedatives, diuretics, antithrombotic agents, antacid drugs; and for prn use of anxiolytics, opioids, hypnotics/sedatives, metoclopramide and NSAIDs.

**Conclusion:** The medication review resulted in less drug use, especially opioids and psychotropic drugs.

# Introduction

In Norway, the nursing home (NH) sector comprising 42,000 beds provide care for both physically disabled and psychogeriatric patients. About 80% of NH patients are cognitively impaired and most have at least one significant neuropsychiatric symptom [1,2]. A typical NH patient is an old (mean age, 86 years) and frail female with short life expectancy [3]. Because of multiple comorbidities, they use around eight drugs on a regular basis [1,4,5] and have thus an increased risk of drug–drug interactions [4] and adverse drug reactions [6]. Frailty, cognitive impairment [3] and age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmaco-dynamics add further to these risks [7].

A drug-related problem (DRP) is 'an event or circumstance involving drug therapy that actually or potentially interferes with desired health outcomes' [8]. Previous Norwegian studies using different tools for identifying drug-drug interactions [9] and potentially inappropriate prescriptions for the elderly [10,11] have reported that NH patients are frequently exposed to DRPs [1,12,13].

In the NH setting, medication reviews (MRs) are recommended for improving the quality and the follow-up of the drug therapy by substantiating needs for continued use or for better balancing risks with potential benefits [14,15]. However, although MRs may identify and resolve DRPs, there is a lack of evidence about their effects on 'hard' patient outcomes such as adverse drug events, hospital admissions or death [15]. MRs involving collaboration between physicians, pharmacists and nurses have been used in NH settings in several

CONTACT Amura Francesca Fog 🖾 a.f.fog@medisin.uio.no 🖃 Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Postbox 1130 Blinderen, N-0318 Oslo, Norway

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2017 The Author(s). Published by Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/), which permits unrestricted non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

**ARTICLE HISTORY** Received 17 March 2017 Accepted 7 October 2017

KEYWORDS Drug-related problems; medication review; nursing home; elderly;

discontinuation

countries [1,13,16–18] and such collaboration is recommended in the Norwegian national guideline [14].

The aims of this study were to describe the DRPs identified at multidisciplinary MRs and the interventions that were carried out to resolve them, as well as changes in drug use that followed the MRs. We explored some predictors for the observed changes.

# **Methods**

# Patients

Of the 51 NHs in Oslo with long-term care patients (n = 4020), 41 accepted to participate in a MR project involving one or more units in their institutions. The project took place between November 2011 and February 2014. Except for those terminally ill, all patients (next of kin for patients with dementia) at the participating units were asked to participate in the MR project (n = 2625 patients). Eighteen refused and 142 scheduled MRs were not performed because the patient either died (n = 32), became terminally ill (n = 33), moved to another institution (n = 18), or for some other logistical reasons (n = 59). Therefore, a total of 2465 patients (on average 60 patients/NH, range 19–136) had their medication use reviewed by a multidisciplinary team.

# **Medication reviews**

The MRs were conducted as a structured evaluation of each patient's drug use by the NH physician and a registered nurse employed at the unit in collaboration with an externally hired clinical pharmacist. Training sessions were held for the involved physicians, nurses and pharmacists before project start.

From the patient's anonymized medication lists, the pharmacist identified potential DRPs using explicit criteria for pharmacological inappropriateness listed in the STOPP/START criteria [10] and the Norwegian general practice (NORGEP) criteria for assessing potentially inappropriate prescribing to older persons [11] together with the drug-drug interaction database DRUID [9]. At the MR meeting, the physician provided supplementary clinical information from the patient's medical record. The medication and the possible DRPs were discussed aiming at consensus on measures to improve the patient's medication use. In case of disagreement, the physician held the final decision. DRPs and interventions on the drug use were classified according to a consensus-based classification system [8] (see Box 1). Medication lists for about eight patients were reviewed at each meeting that lasted

about two hours. The interventions accepted by the patient (next of kin for patients with dementia) were thereafter implemented.

Box 1. Classification of DRPs [8]:

- 1. Drug choice problem, with subcategories: 1(a) need for additional drug, 1(b) unnecessary drug, 1(c) inappropriate drug choice;
- Dosing problem, with subcategories: 2(a) too high, 2(b) too low, 2(c) suboptimal dosing scheme, 2(d) suboptimal formulation;
- 3. Adverse drug reactions;
- 4. Interactions;
- 5. Inappropriate drug use, with subcategories 5(a) administered by health personnel, 5(b) administered by patient;
- 6. Other, with subcategories: 6(a) monitoring of drug use required, 6(b) unclear documentation, 6(c) not classified.

Classification of interventions to resolve DRPs:

- 1. Stop the drug
- 2. Drug switch
- 3. Start new drug
- 4. Adjust the drug dose
- 5. Monitor the drug use
- 6. Other measures

# Data retrieval for the present study

The following variables were recorded in our data set: NH identification number, patient's age and gender, patient's drugs in use before and after the MR (drug name, regular or prn use), DRPs (category linked to the drug involved) and interventions implemented (category linked to the drug involved).

Drugs were categorized according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system [19]. Drug items without ATC codes (e.g. nutritional supplements, multivitamins) were not included. A drug-drug interaction was recorded as only one DRP.

# **Statistics**

Descriptive statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics v.24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). We explored whether DRPs or the change in the number of drugs after the MR were associated with the patients' age or gender using a Poisson regression model with NH random effects (RE) in Stata SE 14 (Stata Corp LP, College Station, TX). The model was fitted to the individual data of each patient with MR (n = 2465), grouped at the level of the NHs (n = 41) and further adjusted for drug counts at baseline. Model estimates in terms of incidence rate ratios (IRR)

Table 1.	Baseline	characteristics	of the	long-term	care	natients	participating	in th	e medication	review	project
TUDIC II	Duschine	characteristics	or the	iong term	cure	putients	purciputing		c meancation	IC VIC VV	projecti

Variables	All patients	Age $<$ 80 years	Age 80–89 years	Age $\geq$ 90 years
Patients with MR, n (%)	2465 (100)	463 (18.8)	1023 (41.5)	979 (39.7)
Gender, n (%)				
Female	1828 (74.2)	274 (59.2)	752 (73.5)	802 (81.9)
Male	630 (25.6)	188 (40.6)	267 (26.1)	175 (17.9)
Number of drugs, n (%)				
Regular drugs	16,634 (69.3)	3324 (68.3)	6960 (70.7)	6350 (68.3)
Prn drugs	7369 (30.7)	1540 (31.7)	2881 (29.3)	2948 (31.7)
Total drugs	24,003 (100)	4864 (100)	9841 (100)	9298 (100)
Mean drugs/patient(±SD)				
Regular drugs	$6.8 \pm 3.3$	7.2 ± 3.6	$6.8 \pm 3.3$	$6.5 \pm 3.1$
Prn drugs	$3.0 \pm 2.1$	$3.3 \pm 2.3$	$2.8 \pm 2.0$	$3.0 \pm 2.2$
Total drugs	$9.8 \pm 4.4$	$10.5 \pm 4.7$	9.6 ± 4.3	$9.5\pm4.3$

Missing gender data (7 patients).

The mean numbers of drugs by gender were similar: 6.8 for regular drugs and 3.0 for prn drugs.

Table 2. Categories of drug-related problems and the three drugs (therapeutic groups) most commonly involved in the problem listed.

Drug-related problems ( $n = 6158$	)	The three drugs most commonly involved in the drug-related problems listed						
Problem	n (%)	No. 1	n of drugs	No. 2	n of drugs	No. 3	n of drugs	
Unnecessary drug	2680 (43.5)	Hypnotics/sedatives	296	Opioids <sup>b</sup>	249	Anxiolytics	213	
Excess dosing	770 (12.5)	Paracetamol	108	Antacid drugs	103	Hypnotics/sedatives	92	
Monitoring of drug use required	680 (11.0)	Antidepressants	103	Antidementia drugs	48	Renin-angiotensin system	46	
Inappropriate drug choice	503 (8.2)	Opioids	80	Anxiolytics	56	Hypnotics/sedatives	43	
Need for additional drug	453 (7.4)	Anti-anaemia drugs <sup>a</sup>	130	B-complex vitamins	62	Paracetamol	43	
Adverse drug reaction	287 (4.7)	Hypnotics/sedatives	37	Anxiolytics	32	Antipsychotics	28	
Drug-drug interactions	271 (4.4)	Antidepressants	124	Antithrombotic agents	66	Opioids	50	
Under-dosing	169 (2.7)	Paracetamol	27	Opioids	26	Thyroid therapy	23	
Suboptimal dosing/formulation	141 (2.4)	Beta-blockers	21	Paracetamol	18	Hypnotics/sedatives	6	
Other	127 (2.0)	Anti-thrombotic agents <sup>d</sup>	17	Opioids	7	Anxiolytics	7	
Inappropriate drug use	77 (1.2)	Paracetamol	12	COPD drugs <sup>c</sup>	9	Opioids	4	

<sup>a</sup>iron supplements, B<sub>12</sub> vitamin and folate.

<sup>b</sup>ATC-N02A comprising weak opioids (codeine, tramadol) and strong opioids.

<sup>c</sup>Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease drugs comprising adrenergic/anti-cholinergic drugs (systemic or inhalation use) and glucocorticoids (inhalation use).

<sup>d</sup>ATC-B01A (mainly warfarin, acetylsalicylic acid and heparin).

and their 95% confidence intervals for numbers of DRPs and drugs after MR were calculated for both genders and different age groups ( $\geq$ 90 years as reference group). The significance level was set at  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

# **Ethics**

After reviewing the research study protocol, the Regional Committee in Medical Research Ethics in South-East Norway (reference no. 2015/786) and the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (reference no. 2015/43659) concluded that their approvals were not needed.

# Results

The mean age of the 2465 patients was 85.9 years (range 36–108) and women were older than men (mean 86.9 and 82.8 years, respectively). Patients' baseline characteristics are presented in Table 1.

In total, the MR identified 6158 DRPs, an average of 2.6 DRPs/patient (range 0–14), 2.0 for regular and 0.6 for prn drugs. In total, 17.3% of the patients had no DRP at the MR. The 82.7% of the patients with DRPs

had an average of 3.0 DRPs/patient, 2.3 for regular and 0.7 for prn drugs. Female gender (IRR with 95% Cl: 1.11 [1.04–1.17]) was associated with an increased risk of DRPs, but not age.

The DRPs and the drugs most commonly related to them are listed in Table 2. Overall, 6409 drugs were involved in the DRPs (75.2% regular drugs and 24.8% prn drugs). Drugs used prn were most commonly involved in the DRP categories unnecessary drug use (43%), inappropriate drug choice (25%) and excess dosing (11%) and they most commonly consisted of opioids (20.7%), anxiolytics (15.6%) and hypnotics/sedatives (11.8%).

The 6158 DRPs led to 6283 interventions to change the drug therapy, including 125 drug–drug interactions that led to changes in the use of both drugs (Table 3). Of the 2662 discontinued drugs, 47.6% were drugs for prn use, most commonly opioids (20.6%), anxiolytics (14.5%) and hypnotics/sedatives (12.9%). Dosage adjustments and needs for closer monitoring the drug use involved almost exclusively drugs for regular use (96%). The proposed changes in drug therapy were implemented, except for 31 that were

Interventions to re $(n = 6283)$	solve DRPs		The three dru	ugs most commonly involve	d in the interve	entions listed	
Intervention	n (%)	No. 1	n of drugs	No. 2	n of drugs	No. 3	n of drugs
Stop drug	2662 (42.4)	Opioids <sup>a</sup>	293	Hypnotics/sedatives	242	Anxiolytics	217
Monitor drug use	1455 (22.7)	Antidepressants	182	Antithrombotic agents <sup>b</sup>	112	Hypnotics/sedatives	84
Dose adjustment	1141 (17.8)	Hypnotics/sedatives	131	Paracetamol	128	Antacid drugs <sup>c</sup>	112
Drug switch	438 (6.8)	Opioids	68	Hypnotics/sedatives	41	Diuretics	32
Start new drug	436 (6.8)	Anti-anaemia drugs <sup>d</sup>	124	B-complex vitamins	62	Paracetamol	41
Other	151 (2.4)	Paracetamol	17	Beta-blockers	13	Hypnotics/sedatives	8

Table 3. Interventions to resolve drug-related problems (DRPs) and the three drugs (therapeutic groups) most commonly involved in changes to the drug therapy regimens.

<sup>a</sup>ATC-N02A comprising weak opioids (codeine, tramadol) and strong opioids.

<sup>b</sup>ATC-B01A (mainly warfarin, acetylsalicylic acid and heparin).

<sup>c</sup>Mainly proton pump inhibitors.

<sup>d</sup> Iron supplements,  $B_{12}$  vitamin and folate.

declined by the patient (next of kin for patients with dementia).

After the MR, the total number of drugs used by all patients went down by 9.3% (from 24,003 to 21,777 drugs; p < .01). The mean number of drugs per patient went down from 9.8 to 8.9 (p < .001) and the decrease was significant (p < .001) for both regular (from 6.8 to 6.3) and prn drugs (from 3.0 to 2.6). For the 82.7% of the patients who had any DRPs, the average decrease in the number of drugs was 1.1 (0.5 for regular and 0.6 for prn drugs). No associations were found between the change in the number of drugs (regular or prn) and the patients' age or gender. The changes in the drug use following the MRs are presented for regular and prn drugs in Tables 4 and 5, respectively. Individual drugs for regular use, which were most commonly discontinued after the MR, were zopiclone (from 23.4% to 20.4%, p < .01) and furosemide (from 14.7% to 11.8%, p < .001). The prn drugs most often discontinued were oxazepam (from 37.5% to 32.8%, *p* < .001), zopiclone (from 15.6% to 12.9%, *p* < .01), metoclopramide (from 12.5% to 9%, p < .001), and clomethiazole (from 7.1% to 4.8%, *p* < .001).

# Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to report the effect of multidisciplinary MRs at NHs in terms of DRPs and drug use changes related to both regular and prn drugs.

We found on average 2.6 DRPs/patient (3.0 for patients with DRPs) and that regular drugs contributed to 77% of all DRPs. Psychotropic drugs and opioids were most commonly involved in all types of DRPs and the subsequent interventions. The use of all therapeutic drug groups went down after MR, except for thyroid therapy. In the 82.7% of the patients with DRPs, the number of drugs was reduced with on average 1.1 drugs; most discontinued medications

comprised opioids and psychotropic drugs, which should be used with caution in frail elderly.

Our study has some limitations that warrant consideration. We have analysed data from a pragmatic project without random patient selection or a control group for comparison. However, we consider the validity of the results to be reasonable high because 82% of all NHs included 61% of all long-term care patients in the municipality, and because terminal illness was the only exclusion criterion. Furthermore, the patients' age and sex distribution correspond well with that of the total NH population in the city and country [4,12,13,20-22]. Similar MR procedures at the various sites were ensured through training of the MR teams, standardized tools and classification systems [8-11] and because each pharmacist participated in several hundred MRs. The use of the NORGEP criteria [11] may be questioned because they were not developed in particular for nursing home settings and because more recent criteria tailored for the nursing home setting, the NORGEP-NH criteria [23] are now available. However, the NORGEP-NH criteria had not been published when this study started and it was the STOPP-START and NORGEP criteria that were included in in the national guideline for MRs in nursing homes [14].

Although direct comparison with other studies is challenged by differences in MR procedures or drugs targeted, the distribution of the DRPs is comparable to other studies [1,13,16], with problems most frequently associated with unnecessary drug use, excess dosing or inadequate monitoring/follow-up of the drug therapy. The lower prevalence of DRPs as compared to other Norwegian studies reporting 2.5–3.5 DRPs/ patient [1,12,13], might be related to more staffing with full-time rather than part-time physicians in Oslo and an increased focus in recent years on safer prescribing practice for the elderly. The average number of drug used per patient before the MR compares well or is slightly lower than in other studies reporting 6.1–9.8 regular [1,4,5,13,16,20,24,25] and 2.8–3.8 prn

**Table 4.** The proportion of patients using regular drugs before and after the medication review and reductions in drug use after the medication review.

	All patients % of patient dru	n = 2465 is using the ig	
Therapeutic group	Before MR	After MR	Reduction (95% Cl) <sup>a</sup>
Laxatives	82.0	81.6	0.4
Antithrombotic agents	46.2	43.5	2.7 (-1.0-5.5)
Paracetamol	44.5	43.7	0.8
Antidepressants	37.2	33.3	3.9 (1.2-6.6)
Opioids	34.3	33.1	1.2
Hypnotics/sedatives	32.6	28.9	3.7 (1.1–6.3)
Diuretics	32.0	27.3	4.7 (2.2–7.2)
Anti-anaemia drugs	27.1	26.2	0.9
Beta-blockers	24.9	23.9	1.0
Anxiolytics	21.4	20.2	1.2
Antacid drugs	21.0	18.9	2.1 (-0.1-4.3)
Osteoporosis drugs	20.3	19.5	0.8
Thyroid therapy	20.2	20.2	-
COPD drugs	18.8	17.4	1.4
Antipsychotics	18.3	16.5	1.8 (-0.3-3.9)
Drugs for glaucoma	15.6	15.4	0.2
Antiepileptic drugs	12.4	12.4	-
Drugs used in diabetes	11.9	11.4	0.5
Digitalis and nitrates	11.9	10.8	1.1
Antidementia drugs	11.6	10.5	1.1
Antibiotics	9.8	9.1	0.7
Calcium blockers	8.6	7.5	1.1
Antihistamines	6.4	5.0	1.4
Lipid modifying agents	6.0	5.1	0.9
Oral corticosteroids	6.2	6.0	0.2
Anti-Parkinson drugs	5.4	5.2	0.2
Others	86.5	77.7	8.8 (6.4–11.2)
Total <i>n</i> of drugs	16,634	15,563	6.4 (2.2–4.4)

<sup>a</sup>The 95% confidence interval is shown only if significant.

**Table 5.** The proportion of patients using pro re nata drugs before and after the medication review and reductions in drug use after the medication review.

	All patients % of patie the c	, n = 2465 nts using Irug	
Therapeutic group	Before MR	After MR	Reduction (95% CI) <sup>a</sup>
Paracetamol	49.0	48.0	1.0
Anxiolytics	48.1	41.0	7.1 (4.3–9.9)
Opioids	38.9	27.7	11.2 (8.6–13.8)
Laxatives	29.1	26.3	2.8 (0.3-5.3)
Hypnotics/sedatives	24.9	19.1	5.8 (3.5-8.1)
Expectorants	12.9	10.2	2.7 (0.9-4.5)
Nitrates	12.7	11.8	0.9
Metoclopramide	12.5	9.0	3.5 (1.8–5.2)
NSAIDs	6.8	3.9	2.9 (1.6-4.2)
Diuretics	5.7	5.1	0.6
Drugs used in diabetes	5.2	5.0	0.2
Antipsychotics	4.9	3.4	1.5 (0.4–2.6)
Others	48.0	42.2	5.8 (1.7–9.9)
Total <i>n</i> of drugs	7369	6214	15.3 (6.6–10.0)

<sup>a</sup>The 95% confidence interval is shown only if significant.

drugs [4,20]. The high drug utilization at NHs may also partly reflect that the drug regiments are based on guidelines developed for younger patients with less comorbidity and the lack of consensus on best practice for pharmacotherapy in the oldest old. The higher use of opioids in our population as compared with findings in a previous Norwegian study [22] may be related to less use of NSAIDs and increased use for chronic pain. In NH patients with dementia, chronic pain is commonly communicated in terms of neuropsychiatric symptoms [2] and treatment of pain can reduce both agitation and other neuropsychiatric symptoms [26]. This may therefore also explain the more use of analgesics in our study.

Compared to other studies, we found a slightly higher use of hypnotics/sedatives [20,21], but less use of antidepressants [13,20,21] and antipsychotics [20,21] and a comparable use of anxiolytics [20,21]. Although reduced, their utilization was still high after the MR, possibly reflecting the patients' need for continued treatment or reluctance among physicians and nursing staff to discontinue the drugs [27]. Studies of withdrawing long-term use of antipsychotics [28] or anti-depressants [29] in Norwegian NHs have shown that in most cases, discontinuation does not result in more NPS or relapse of depression. We do not know of any studies on discontinuing anxiolytics in NH residents. However, based on their questionable therapeutic long-term effects on anxiety symptoms [30], we consider that these drugs probably are still overused in frail NH patients who are at particular risk of falls and fractures [6].

Based on the results of this study, we support that MRs should be part of the regular clinical follow up of NH residents [14].

# Conclusions

The MR resulted in overall less drug use, most pronounced for psychotropic drugs and opioids, and in a closer follow-up to optimise the potential benefits of the drug use. Future research on MRs should include patient-related clinical outcomes.

# Acknowledgements

We thank the Nursing Home Agency in the municipality of Oslo for allowing us to use the data collected by the medication review project.

# **Disclosure statement**

The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

# Funding

The study was financed through a shared PhD grant from the Research Council of Norway and the municipality of Oslo.

# Notes on contributors

*Amura Francesca Fog*, is a nursing home physician at the Nursing Home Agency in Oslo municipality and a phd candidate at the Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo. She has contributed to conception and design of the work, the interpretation of the results and wrote the manuscript.

*Gunnar Kvalvaag*, formerly chief medical officer at the Nursing Home Agency in Oslo municipality, has contributed to conception of the work and also assisted in the interpretation of the results and revision of the manuscript.

*Knut Engedal*, professor at the Norwegian National Advisory Unit for Aging and Health, Vestfold County Hospital HF in Toensberg and Oslo University Hospital, has contributed to design of the work and also assisted in the interpretation of the results and revision of the manuscript.

*Jørund Straand*, is professor at the Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo. He has contributed to conception and design of the work, the interpretation of the results and revision of the manuscript.

# References

- Halvorsen KH, Ruths S, Granas AG, et al. Multidisciplinary intervention to identify and resolve drug-related problems in Norwegian nursing homes. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2010;28:82–88.
- [2] Selbaek G, Kirkevold O, Engedal K. The prevalence of psychiatric symptoms and behavioral disturbances and the use of psychotropic drugs in Norwegian nursing homes. Int J Geriat Psychiatry. 2007;22:843–849.
- [3] Vossius C, Selbaek G, Ystebø AE, et al. Ressursbruk og sykdomsforløp ved demens [Resource use and disease course in dementia] 2015.
- [4] Soraas IA, Staurset HB, Slordal L, et al. Legemiddelinteraksjoner hos pasienter i sykehjem [Drug-drug interactions in nursing home patients]. Tidsskr nor Laegeforen. 2014;134:1041–1046.
- [5] Onder G, Liperoti R, Fialova D, et al. Polypharmacy in nursing home in Europe: results from the SHELTER study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2012;67:698–704.
- [6] Maher RL, Hanlon J, Hajjar ER. Clinical consequences of polypharmacy in elderly. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2014;13:57–65.
- [7] Mangoni AA, Jackson SHD. Age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: basic principles and practical applications. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;57:6–14.
- [8] Ruths S, Viktil KK, Blix HS. Klassifisering av legemiddelrelaterte problemer [Classification of drug-related problems]. Tidsskr nor Laegeforen. 2007;127:3073–3076.
- [9] Interaksjonsdatabase for norske klinikere FEST (tidligere DRUID) [Drug-drug interaction database for Norwegian clinicians (previous DRUID database)] [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2017 Jan 20]. Available from: http://www.interaksjoner.no.
- [10] Gallagher P, Ryan C, Byrne S, et al. STOPP (Screening Tool of Older Person's Prescriptions) and START

(Screening Tool to Alert doctors to Right Treatment). Consensus validation. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008;46:72–83.

- [11] Rognstad S, Brekke M, Fetveit A, et al. The Norwegian General Practice (NORGEP) criteria for assessing potentially inappropriate prescriptions to elderly patients. A modified Delphi study. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2009;27:153–159.
- [12] Ruths S, Straand J, Nygaard HA. Multidisciplinary medication review in nursing home residents: what are the most significant drug-related problems? The Bergen District Nursing Home (BEDNURS) study. Qual Saf Health Care. 2003;12:176–180.
- [13] Davidsson M, Vibe OE, Ruths S, et al. A multidisciplinary approach to improve drug therapy in nursing homes. J Multidiscip Healthc. 2011;4:9–13.
- [14] Helsedirektoratet. Veileder om legemiddelgjennomganger (IS-1998). Oslo: Helsedirektoratet; 2015. [cited 18 Jan 2017]. Available from: https://helsedirektoratet.no.
- [15] Alldred DP, Kennedy MC, Hughes C, et al. Interventions to optimise prescribing for older people in care homes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2:CD009095.
- [16] Brulhart MI, Wermeille JP. Multidisciplinary medication review: evaluation of a pharmaceutical care model for nursing homes. Int J Clin Pharm. 2011;33:549–557.
- [17] Furniss L, Burns A, Craig SKL, et al. Effects of a pharmacist's medication review in nursing homes. Randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry. 2000;176: 563–567.
- [18] Finkers F, Maring JG, Boersma F, et al. A study of medication reviews to identify drug-related problems of polypharmacy patients in the Dutch nursing home setting. J Clin Pharm Ther. 2007;32:469–476.
- [19] WHO Collaborating Center for Drug Statistics Methodology. [Internet]. Guidelines for ATC classification and DDD assignment Oslo. 2015. Available from: http://www.whocc.no/.
- [20] Krüger K, Folkestad M, Geitung JT, et al. Psychoactive drugs in seven nursing homes. Prim Health Care Res Dev. 2012;13:244–254.
- [21] Ruths S, Sorensen PH, Kirkevold O, et al. Trends in psychotropic drug prescribing in Norwegian nursing homes from 1997 to 2009: a comparison of six cohorts. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2013;28:868–876.
- [22] Sandvik R, Selbaek G, Kirkevold O, et al. Analgesic prescribing patterns in Norwegian nursing homes from 2000 to 2011: trend analyses of four data samples. Age Ageing. 2016;45:54–60.
- [23] Nyborg G, Straand J, Klovning A, et al. The Norwegian General Practice – Nursing Home criteria (NORGEP-NH) for potentially inappropriate medication use: A web-based Delphi study. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2015; 33:134–141.
- [24] Olsson J, Bergman A, Carlsten A, et al. Quality of drug prescribing in elderly people in nursing homes and special care units for dementia: a cross-sectional computerized pharmacy register analysis. Clin Drug Investig. 2010;30:289–300.
- [25] Hosia-Randell HM, Muurinen SM, Pitkala KH. Exposure to potentially inappropriate drugs and drug-drug interactions in elderly nursing home residents in

Helsinki, Finland: a cross-sectional study. Drugs Aging. 2008;25:683–692.

- [26] Husebo BS, Ballard C, Sandvik R, et al. Efficacy of treating pain to reduce behavioral disturbances in residents of nursing homes with dementia: cluster randomized clinical trial. BMJ. 2011;343:d4065.
- [27] Iden KR, Hjorleifsson S, Ruths S. Treatment decisions on antidepressants in nursing homes: a qualitative study. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2011;29:252–256.
- [28] Ruths S, Straand J, Nygaard HA, et al. Stopping antipsychotic drug therapy in demented nursing home patients: a randomized, placebo-controlled study-the

Bergen District Nursing Home Study (BEDNURS). Int J Geriat Psychiatry. 2008;23:889–895.

- [29] Bergh S, Selbaek G, Engedal K. Discontinuation of antidepressants in people with dementia and neuropsychiatric symptoms (DESEP study): double blind, randomised, parallel group, placebo controlled trial. BMJ. 2012;344:e1566.
- [30] Tampi RR, Tampi DJ. Efficacy and tolerability of benzodiazepines for the treatment of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen. 2014;29:565–574.

# 

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

# **BMC** Geriatrics

# **Open Access**

# Variation between nursing homes in drug use and in drug-related problems



Amura Francesca Fog<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Ibrahimu Mdala<sup>2</sup>, Knut Engedal<sup>3</sup> and Jørund Straand<sup>2</sup>

# Abstract

**Background:** Residents at nursing homes (NHs) are at particular risk for drug related harm. Regular medication reviews using explicit criteria for pharmacological inappropriateness and classification of drug related problems (DRPs) have recently been introduced as measures to improve the quality of medication use and for making the treatment more uniform across different institutions. Knowledge about variation in DRPs between NHs is scarce. To explore if increased attention towards more appropriate drug treatment in NHs have led to more uniform treatment, we have analyzed variations between different nursing homes' drug use and DRPs.

**Methods:** Cross-sectional medication review study including 2465 long-term care residents at 41 NHs in Oslo, Norway. Regular drug use was retrieved from the patients' medical records. DRPs were identified by using STOPP/ START and NORGEP criteria and a drug-drug interactions database. NHs were grouped in quartiles based on average levels of drug use. The upper and lower quartiles were compared using independent samples t-test and associations between drug use and DRPs were tested by logistic regression.

**Results:** Patients' mean age was 85.9 years, 74.2% were women.

Mean numbers of regular drugs per patient was 6.8 and varied between NHs from 4.8 to 9.3.

The proportion of patients within each NH using psychotropic and analgesic drugs varied largely: antipsychotics from three to 50%, benzodiazepines from 24 to 99%, antidepressants from nine to 75%, anti-dementia drugs from no use to 42%, opioids from no use to 65% and paracetamol from 16 to 74%.

Mean DRPs per patient was 2.0 and varied between NHs from 0.5 to 3.4.

The quartiles of NHs with highest and lowest mean drugs per patient (7.7 vs. 5.7, p < 0.001) had comparable mean number of DRPs per patient (2.2 vs. 1.8, p = 0.2). Using more drugs and the use of opioids, antipsychotics, benzodiazepines and antidepressants were associated with more DRPs.

**Conclusions:** The use of psychotropic and analgesic drugs was high and varied substantially between different NHs. Even if the use of more drugs, opioids and psychotropic drugs was associated with DRPs, no difference was found in DRPs between the NHs with highest vs. lowest drug use.

Keywords: Older people, Nursing homes, Medication review, Psychotropic drugs, Opioids, Drug related problems

\* Correspondence: a.f.fog@medisin.uio.no

<sup>1</sup>Nursing Home Agency, Oslo Municipality, Norway

<sup>2</sup>General Practice Research Unit, Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Postbox 1130 Blinderen, N-0318 Oslo, Norway

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2020 **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

# Background

Residents in nursing homes (NHs) are often old and due to multimorbidity and frailty have short life expectancies and extensive needs for assistance for carrying out activities of daily living. Dementia and BPSD (Behavioural and Psychological Symptoms in Dementia) represent the most significant mental health challenges in the NH setting affecting respectively 80 and 72% of the residents [1]. Due to multiple diagnoses and symptoms, NH residents often use many drugs and in Norway during the last decades, the use of regular drugs has increased from about five to eight drugs per NH resident [2, 3]. The use of psychotropic drugs [4] and opioids [5] has increased, except for the prevalent use of antipsychotics that now seem to decline [6]. About one in five residents, uses more than one psychotropic drug at the same time [6], in most cases as long-term treatment for BPSD [7].

Due to age-related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics, frail and old people are at higher risk for drug related harms [8] and the presence of dementia ads further to this risk due to impaired ability to communicate drug effects. The widespread use of antipsychotic drugs, benzodiazepines and antidepressants for BPSD is largely inappropriate, because they are commonly used instead of recommended non-pharmacological interventions [9, 10], they have limited effects and their use is associated with an increased risk for adverse drug reactions like delirium, impaired balance and falls and stroke [11]. Substantial variations in drug use have previously been reported among residents in otherwise similar NHs with comparable patient populations [12-15], even if located in the same geographical area [13], and that institutions with high prevalence of drug use tend to use higher dosages [14], probably due to different prescription cultures and organizational factors at the institutions.

Potentially inappropriate medications (PIM), as defined by explicit criteria [16] are common in NHs [17]. In Norway, medication reviews (MRs) are now recommended for the identification of drug related problems (DRPs) among NH residents [18]. The Norwegian national guidelines on dementia also recommend that in NHs, MRs should be done at least once every year [9]. DRP, defined as "an event or circumstance involving drug therapy that actually or potentially interferes with desired health outcome" [19], are identified by using explicit criteria for pharmacological inappropriateness and drug-drug interaction databases.

According to previous studies, DRPs are common in the NH-setting [2, 3, 13]. However, little is known about the variation in DRPs between comparable NHs and how this variation relates to corresponding variations in drug use [20].

Based on a cross sectional study in 41 NHs with 2465 residents [21], we aim to describe the variation between

the NHs with respect to their drug use (in particular for psychotropic drugs and analgesics) and corresponding variation in DRPs, and to explore the associations between the two.

# Methods

This is a clustered (by NH) cross-sectional study of the baseline data from a multidisciplinary MR project in 41 NHs (2465 long-term care patients) in Oslo, Norway, that took place during November 2011 and February 2014 [21].

The NHs were recruited by invitation. Of the 51 NHs in Oslo municipality with long-term patients (n = 4020), 41 NHs accepted to performed MRs at one, several or all the bed units in their institutions. All patients, and next of kin for patients with dementia at the participating bed units, were asked to participate in the study (n =2625 patients) with the exception of those terminally ill. Eighteen patients refused and 142 scheduled MRs were not performed because the patient died (n = 32), became terminally ill (n = 33), moved to another NH (n = 18) or due to logistical reasons (n = 59) during the study period. In average 60 patients per NH (range 19-136 patients per NH) underwent MR. The MRs were conducted as a structured evaluation of each patient's entire drug use and the assessment of DRPs was standardized across the NHs. Training sessions were held for the involved physicians, nurses and pharmacists (n = 5) before project start.

At each NH, a multidisciplinary panel made up by the responsible physician and nurse from the NH together with an externally hired clinical pharmacist, performed MRs according to a standardized procedure in line with the national guideline for MRs [18]. Medication lists for about eight patients were reviewed at each meeting that lasted about 2 h. Prior to the MR meetings, and based on anonymized medication list, the pharmacist collected data on the drugs used and reviewed the medication charts to identify possible DRPs by using the explicit criteria for pharmacological inappropriateness STOPP/ START [22] and the Norwegian NORGEP criteria targeting population 70 years and older seen in primary care [23], as well as the national drug-drug interaction database [24]. At the review meetings, the panel assessed the drug use and possible DRPs taken into consideration clinical information (e.g., diagnoses, lab-tests) from the patient's medical record. The panel then agreed upon and classified the DRPs according to a national consensus classification system [25]. Six DRP categories were applied: 1) Drug choice problem (with subcategories 1a) need for additional drug, 1b) unnecessary drug, 1c) inappropriate drug choice); 2) Dosing problem (with subcategories 2a) too high, 2b) too low, 2c) sub-optimal dosing scheme, 2d) sub-optimal formulation); 3) Adverse drug reactions; 4) Interactions; 5) Inappropriate drug use (with subcategories 5a) administered by health personnel, 5b) administered by patient) and 6) Other (with subcategories 6a) monitoring required, 6b) unclear documentation, 6c) not classified). In case of disagreement, the physician held the final decision.

For each patient we retrieved the following variables from the baseline-data of the MR project: patient's age, gender, regularly used drugs (name, ATC-code [26], DRPs (category and drug involved), NH identification number, residency at regular (RU) or special care unit for dementia (SCU), and the pharmacist involved in the MR. We especially focussed on the use of psychotropic and analgesic drugs because their use, although largely considered potentially inappropriate [9, 10], has increased in NHs [4, 5] and because they are frequently involved in DRPs [3, 13, 14, 20, 21]. Psychotropic drugs comprise antipsychotics (ATC code: N05A), benzodiazepines (anxiolytics N05B and hypnotics/sedative N05C), antidepressants (N06A), and antidementia drugs (N06D). Analgesics comprise opioids (N02A) and paracetamol (N02B). For each NH we recorded the total number of beds for long-term care and the bed unit mix (RU, SCU or both). All NHs were publicly funded and had comparable staffing of physicians and qualified nurses in line with the county standard; all NHs were non-academic and did not have in-house pharmacists.

## Statistical analyses

Depending on data distribution, numerical data were summarized using mean with standard deviation (SD) or median and range.

For each NH, we calculated the mean number of regular drugs per patient, the mean number of DRPs per patient, the proportion of patients using the targeted psychotropic and analgesic drugs and the proportion of patients exposed to any DRPs. We grouped the NHs into four quartiles, based on their mean number of drugs per patient, the upper quartile comprising those with highest numbers. When a NH was allocated in a particular quartile, data from all residents in that institution were allocated to the quartile. The NHs with highest levels (comprising the upper quartile) were compared to the NHs in the lowest quartile, and mean differences with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated using independent t-test. Relationships between the drug use and the DRPs at the respective NHs were identified using Pearson's correlation coefficient (r). Counts of DRPs per patient were analyzed using a Poisson regression model with random effects clustered by NH and adjusted for gender and age. We obtained estimates of incidence rate ratios (IRR) from the Poisson regression model, which showed the relative change in counts in one category of a variable relative to the referent category. The analyses were performed using Stata SE 15 (Stata Corp LP, College Station, TX) and IBM SPSS Statistics v.24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY).

# Results

The 41 NHs had in average 102 beds (range 32 to 185). Seven NHs had only RUs, three NHs had only SCUs and 31 NHs had both types of bed units.

Of the 2465 patients with MR, 1868 were residents living in RUs and 597 at SCUs. The mean age of the residents was 85.9 years (range 36-108 years). The age distribution was comparable across the NHs, except for two institutions especially designed for younger people with dementia (61.3 and 68.4 years, respectively). There were more women (74.2%), who on average were older than men (86.9 vs. 82.8 years). The gender distribution was comparable across the NHs. In total 16,634 drugs were used on a regular schedule, the mean proportion of drugs per patient was  $6.8 \pm 0.9$  and the mean number of drugs per patient varied between the NHs from 4.8 to 9.3. Overall, the most commonly used drugs were for the 'nervous system' (2.2 drugs per patient, range of 1.4-3.1) and of these, 2.0 drugs per patient (range 1.3-2.7) were psychotropic and analgesic drugs. At the MR meetings, 4847 DRPs in 84.1% of the patients were identified. Psychotropic drugs and analgesics were involved in 33.9% of all DRPs (Table 1). The most frequent problems were use of unnecessary drug (31.9%), excess dosing (14.2%) and requirement to monitor the drug use (14.2%).

The mean number of drugs per patient and the mean number of DRPs per patient at each of the 41 NHs are presented in Fig. 1. (Fig. 1).

The proportion of patients within each NH using different psychotropic drugs varied substantially between the NHs: antipsychotics from 3.0 to 50.0%, benzodiazepines from 23.7 to 98.6%, antidepressants from 9.1 to 75.0%, and antidementia drugs from none to 41.7%. For opioids and paracetamol, the variation in use ranged from respectively no use to 65.2% and from 15.8 to 73.9%. (Table 2) NHs using more drugs also used more opioids (Pearson correlation coefficient r = 0.682) and benzodiazepines (r = 0.411). Regardless of the total drug use, associations were found between the use of antidepressants and antidementia drugs (r = 0.451), opioids and benzodiazepines (r = 0.434), opioids and paracetamol (r = 0.358), opioids and antidementia drugs (r = -0.315) and between antidementia drugs and antipsychotics (r = 0.432).

Between the NHs, the mean DRPs per patient varied substantially, from 0.5 to 3.5. The use of unnecessary drugs was associated with excessive dosing (Pearson correlation coefficient r = 0.801), inappropriate drug choice

Drug-related problems (DRPs) Drugs				The drug groups commonly involved in the drug-related problems listed				
Categories of DRPs	n (%)	ATC-N drugs <sup>a</sup> n (%)	All other drugs n (%)	No. 1	n of drugs	No. 2	n of drugs	
Need for additional drug (1a)	372 (7.7)	50 (13.4)	322 (86.6)	B vitamins <sup>b</sup>	155	Iron supplements	39	
Unnecessary drug (1b)	1544 (31.9)	474 (30.7)	1070 (69.3)	$Benzodiazepines^{c}$	185	Antidepressants	121	
Inappropriate drug choice (1c)	382 (7.9)	131 (34.3)	251 (65.7)	Benzodiazepines	60	Opioids <sup>d</sup>	31	
Excess dosing (2a)	688 (14.2)	291 (42.3)	397 (57.7)	Benzodiazepines	110	Proton pump inhibitors	103	
Under-dosing (2b)	160 (3.3)	71 (44.4)	89 (55.6)	Opioids	23	Thyroid therapy	23	
Adverse drug reaction (3)	276 (5.7)	134 (48.6)	142 (51.4)	Benzodiazepines	63	Antipsychotics	28	
Drug–drug interactions <sup>e</sup> (4)	419 (8.6)	207 (49.4)	212 (50.6)	Antidepressants	115	Antithrombotic agents <sup>f</sup>	55	
Monitoring of drug use required (6a)	687 (14.2)	329 (47.9)	358 (52.1)	Antidepressants	105	Antipsychotics	50	
Other <sup>g</sup>	364 (6.5)	88 (24.2)	276 (75.8)	Beta-blockers	33	Paracetamol	25	
DRPs (total)	4847 (100)	1775 (36.6%)	3072 (63.4%)	Benzodiazepines	489	Antidepressants	456	

Table 1 The drug groups commonly involved in drug-related problems in the total cohort (2465 patients at 41 nursing homes)

<sup>a</sup>Psychotropic drugs and analgesics *n* = 1642 (92.5% of all ATC-N drugs) <sup>b</sup>B12 vitamin, folate and B-complex vitamins <sup>c</sup>Benzodiazepines comprising anxiolytics (N05B) and hypnotics/sedatives (N05C) <sup>d</sup>Weak opioids (codeine, tramadol) and strong opioids (N02A) <sup>e</sup>Ope drug drug interaction was recorded as two problems

<sup>e</sup>One drug-drug interaction was recorded as two problems <sup>f</sup>Mainly warfarin, acetylsalicylic acid and heparin (ATC-B01A)

<sup>9</sup>The remaining DRP categories



Fig. 1 Variation in the number of drugs and of drug-related problems per patient at the 41 nursing homes . Each bar represents one NH with their respective mean drugs per patient (above) and mean DRPs per patient (below the zero line, respectively). The NHs are listed in the same order as in Table 2

Nursing Home	Patients n	Antipsychotics %	Benzodiazepines %	Antidepressants %	Antidementia %	Opioids %	Paracetamol %
1	30	23	67	47	7	53	37
2	57	39	98	42	11	51	32
3	23	9	65	57	0	65	74
4	19	37	37	16	5	26	16
5	61	13	39	38	8	30	38
6	49	12	33	53	18	35	73
7	92	21	63	29	13	46	45
8	88	14	78	45	9	61	45
9	88	13	48	30	10	31	51
10	60	30	67	35	15	38	40
11	64	13	64	36	6	50	73
12	72	19	49	50	22	33	49
13	85	18	56	51	7	49	55
14	73	21	63	27	7	51	27
15	94	10	83	28	3	48	66
16	34	12	59	26	9	26	44
17	80	43	84	34	15	31	46
18	136	21	52	39	18	32	44
19	55	4	51	9	0	36	35
20	68	15	59	47	10	26	44
21	66	14	41	29	21	27	41
22	72	18	42	42	14	47	44
23	59	3	53	42	14	39	47
24	38	11	61	32	5	32	45
25	42	31	36	50	12	26	33
26	48	23	29	71	42	19	46
27	78	17	77	36	12	28	44
28	63	13	41	24	10	29	62
29	41	17	46	59	12	27	54
30	52	33	40	50	0	15	54
31	65	11	26	25	14	29	40
32	38	21	24	45	11	37	26
33	24	50	71	75	33	0	21
34	38	21	24	26	3	21	32
35	19	5	53	37	11	21	42
36	53	42	72	28	36	23	34
37	73	12	55	25	8	36	32
38	81	10	42	25	7	23	43
39	61	21	43	28	8	30	34
40	63	16	38	41	2	16	32
41	63	11	37	24	2	14	44

**Table 2** Variation in the proportion of patients using psychotropic and analgesic drugs at the 41 nursing homes

(r = 0.490) and need for additional drug (r = 0.399) at the respective NHs.

The NHs with highest levels of mean drugs per patient (10 NHs, comprising the upper quartile) used more opioid drugs than the NHs with lowest levels of mean drugs/patient (10 NHs, comprising the lower quartile), whereas there were no significant differences in the prevalence of DRPs, except for drug-to-drug interactions. (Table 3).

In the total cohort clustered by NH, using more drugs or being a woman were associated with a 7% [IRR 95% CI: 1.07 (1.06, 1.08), p < 0.001] and a 9% [IRR: 1.09 (1.0, 1.2), p = 0.007] increase in DRPs, respectively. The use of opioids [IRR: 1.07 (1.0, 1.1) p = 0.01], antipsychotics [IRR: 1.20 (1.1, 1.3) p < 0.001], benzodiazepines [IRR: 1.08 (1.0, 1.1) p = 0.007] and antidepressants [IRR: 1.18 (1.1, 1.2) p < 0.001] were associated with an increased risk for DRPs at the respective NHs. Residing at SCU was associated with less DRPs [IRR: 0.85 (0.8, 0.9)

p < 0.001], whereas age, size of NH or the participating pharmacist (out of in total five) involved in the MRs were not associated with the frequency of DRPs at the NHs.

# Discussion

We found considerable variation in the drug use among the NHs, in terms of number of drugs used on regular basis. This was in particular pronounced for the use of analgesics and psychotropic drugs where the variation was extremely large. We believe that this variation reflect local therapeutic subcultures involving inappropriate drug use. Our findings here represent an important challenge for future quality improvement measures, especially because the psychotropic drugs include risk for many and serious side effects in frail old people with dementia [11]. However, our results are generally consistent with those reported elsewhere for long-term care

**Table 3** Variation between the 41 nursing homes in drug use and drug-related problems and the differences between the quartile of nursing homes using highest and lowest number of drugs

Variables	All NHs ( <b>n</b> = 41)	Differences between the NHs using highest ( $\mathbf{n} = 10$ ) and lowest ( $\mathbf{n} = 10$ ) number of drugs					
	Mean (range)	Mean Q <sub>4</sub>	Mean Q <sub>1</sub>	Diff (95%Cl) <sup>a</sup>	P-value		
Drug use							
Drugs/patient	6.8 (4.8–9.3)	7.7	5.7	2.0 (1.6, 2.6)	< 0.001		
Proportion of patients using:							
≥9 drugs	34.2 (15.9–52.2)	44.2	22.0	22.2 (18.5, 25.9)	< 0.001		
Opioids	33.1 (0.0–65.2)	42.1	22.0	20.1 (8.7, 31.4)	0.002		
Paracetamol	43.5 (15.8–73.9)	44.7	34.0	10.6 (-1.5, 22.7)	0.08		
Antipsychotics	19.1 (3.0–50.0)	20.3	20.9	- 0.6 (-12.3, 11.0)	0.9		
Benzodiazepines	52.8 (23.7–98.6)	57.8	45.7	12.1 (-4.9, 29.1)	0.2		
Antidepressants	37.8 (9.1–75.0)	38.2	35.3	2.8 (-10.2, 15.9)	0.6		
Antidementia drugs	11.4 (0.0–41.7)	10.7	12.0	- 1.3 (-10.6, 8.1)	0.8		
Drug-related problems (DRPs)							
Proportion of patients with DRPs	84.1 (31.8–100.0)	85.2	86.2	- 1.0 (-14.9, 12.8)	1.0		
DRPs/patient	2.0 (0.5–3.4)	2.2	1.8	0.4 (-0.3, 1.0)	0.2		
Categories of DRPs:							
- Unnecessary drug	0.6 (0.1–1.3)	0.6	0.6	0.0 (-0.2, 0.3)	1.0		
- Excessive dosage	0.3 (0.1–0.6)	0.3	0.3	0.0 (-0.1, 0.2)	0.2		
- Monitor use required	0.3 (0.0–0.7)	0.3	0.3	0.0 (-0.1, 0.2)	0.9		
- Need for new drug	0.2 (0.0–0.4)	0.2	0.1	0.1 (-0.01, 0.1)	0.1		
- Drug-drug interaction	0.2 (0.0–0.5)	0.2	0.1	0.1 (0.01, 0.2)	0.03		
- Adverse drug reaction	0.1 (0.0–0.4)	0.2	0.1	0.1 (-0.04, 0.2)	0.2		
- Inappropriate drug	0.1 (0.1–0.5)	0.1	0.2	- 0.1 (-0.1, 0.1)	0.9		
Demographics							
Mean age, years	85.9 (61.3–90.0)	84.6	84.5	0.1 (-6.4, 6.7)	1.0		
Proportion of males	25.8 (13.6–47.4)	27.5	24.5	3.0 (-6.0, 12.0)	0.5		

<sup>a</sup>The mean of the lower quartile (Q<sub>4</sub>) was compared to the mean of the lower quartile (Q<sub>1</sub>) using the Independent samples T test, with difference in means with 95% CI and *p*-value

home residents in Norway [12, 14], Europe [27], US [15, 28] and Canada [29].

Further, the study documented that the rates of DRPs varied up to seven-fold (from 0.5 to 3.4) between the NHs. To the best of our knowledge, only two medication review studies have previously reported variation in DPRs between NHs: one in two urban NHs, from 3.0 to 5.5 mean DRPs per patient [20] and another study in four rural NHs, from 2.7 to 5.6 mean DRPs per patient [30]. The mean of 2.0 DRPs per patient found in the total cohort is below those previously reported in Norway [2, 3, 13], probably because we reported DRPs agreed upon by the team, not all DRPs suggested by the pharmacist.

The associations between the uses of opioids, antipsychotics, benzodiazepines or antidepressants and increased risk of DRPs are consistent with the fact that so many of these drugs are commonly considered potentially inappropriate and should therefore be avoided whenever possible in frail olds. In our study, psychotropic and analgesic drugs were involved in just one third of the total DRPs, and it would be expected that by including also drugs for pro re nata use ("as needed"), this would probably have increased even more the contribution of psychotropic and analgesic drugs to the numbers of DRPs [21]. The correlation between the use of many drugs and more opioids and benzodiazepines at the respective NHs might reflect local prescription cultures [28], or simply a way to relieve staff pressure [31], as prescription of psychotropic drugs and painkillers in combination is not recommended to treat neither pain nor BPSD [9, 32].

We found no difference in the levels of DRPs between the NHs with highest and lowest drug use, although using more drugs was associated with DRPs. This unexpected finding might be due to our analytic strategy by grouping the NHs into quartiles, in addition to a large variation in the levels of DRPs within each group (e.g., three high-drug use NHs with low levels of DRPs and four low-drug use NHs with high levels of DRPs). The strong correlations found between need for additional drug, use of unnecessary drug, excessive dosing and inappropriate drug choice, suggest that prescription quality is multifaceted and hence, in case it is suboptimal, e.g. due to a high rate of DRPs, this will affect several areas of drug prescription practice.

The large difference in DRP levels found between otherwise comparable NHs most probably reflect different institutional prescription cultures, with higher prescription rates at NH-level irrespective of the patient's clinical indications [29] or different organizational initiatives for patient safety at the NH [33]. To improve the quality of drug use in the NH setting, staff should be educated in geriatric pharmacotherapy and on alternative non-pharmacological interventions [9, 10]. Other measures should include implementing educational programs on person-centred care [34] and multidisciplinary medication reviews [18], which may also include collaboration with a geriatrician [35].

# Strengths and limitations

The strength of this close to practice study was the standardized procedure for MRs, with face-to-face meetings between pharmacist, physician and nurse, having access to patients' clinical information, and agreeing on actual DRPs for each patient.

It is an important limitation that we have only recorded the DRPs that were accepted by the physicians, without recording all the DRPs that were initially suggested by the pharmacists. Hence, we do not know how the physicians' acceptance rates varied between the different NHs and how appropriate their rejections were [30]. Some doctors may have experienced suggestions to change their treatment as a threat and criticism towards their own prescribing practice.

The explicit criteria used in this study were updated [16] and tailored for the NH-setting [36] after the study had started, however, we do not believe that using the updated criteria would have changed our results significantly. Instead, it may be questioned if the explicit criteria used were sensitive enough to detect over- and underprescription, or inappropriate medication among multimorbid, frail NH residents commonly exposed to extensive off-label pharmacological treatment for BPSD. Although DRPs, as identified in our study, might have limitations as quality indicators for drug prescription, the NHs with high levels of DRPs probably have proportionally larger potentials for quality improvement.

We believe that the sample of institutions and residents is representative for the long-term care NHsetting because the vast majority of the NHs in the municipality participated in the study. This is a crosssectional study, and thus we are not able to draw conclusions about causal relationships for the variation. The NHs in Oslo are quite similar: They are publicly financed and administered by the same agency, are nonacademic institutions operating in the same regulatory and clinical practice context. They are staffed with fulltime nursing home physicians and registered nurses according to the country standard. None of them had an in-house pharmacist. The patient-mix is quite similar due to equal admission criteria. Grouping the NHs in quartiles might be challenged due to the somewhat limited number of NHs.

# Conclusions

Drug use and DRPs varied substantially between comparable NHs. The use of psychotropic and analgesic

drugs was high and the unacceptable variation between NHs suggests different and inappropriate drug prescription cultures at several institutions. The use of unnecessary drugs and excessive dosing were common, suggesting overtreatment. There was no difference in DRPs between the group of NHs with highest and lowest drug use, although using more drugs, opioids and psychotropic drugs was associated with an increased risk for DRPs at the respective NHs. Future research on variation between NHs in drug use and DRPs should include variables that describe patient-level factors, such as degree of functional and cognitive impairment of the residents and organizational characteristics, such as leadership, staff number per resident, proportion of registered nurses and postgraduate training of the NH physicians in geriatric pharmacotherapy.

#### Abbreviations

ATC: Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification system; BPSD: Behavioural and psychiatric symptoms of dementia; DRP: Drug-related problems; IRR: Incidence rate ratios with 95% confidence interval;

MR: Medication review; NH: Nursing home; r: Pearson's correlation coefficient; RU: Regular unit; SCU: Special care unit for dementia

#### Acknowledgements

We thank the Nursing Home Agency in the municipality of Oslo for allowing us to use datasets collected by the medication review project.

#### Authors' contributions

AFF, JS, KE and IM were involved in the study design and contributed to writing the manuscript. AFF retrieved the data and IM together with AFF analysed the data. AFF drafted the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

#### Funding

The study was funded through a shared PhD grant from the Research Council of Norway and the Nursing Home Agency in Oslo municipality, and by the University of Oslo. The funding bodies had no role in the design of the study and collection, analysis, and interpretation of data and in writing the manuscript.

#### Availability of data and materials

All data generated or analysed during this study are included in this published article. The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available form the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### Ethics approval and consent to participate

According to the Norwegian act on medical and health research, no formal ethical approval was needed for the present study. Formal consent was not required because data is anonymous. The study protocol of the medication review project at the nursing homes, which generated the data used here, was presented to the Regional Committee in Medical Research Ethics in South-East Norway (reference no. 2015/786) and the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (reference no. 43659). Both bodies concluded that their formal approval was not needed.

#### Consent for publication

Not applicable.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>Nursing Home Agency, Oslo Municipality, Norway. <sup>2</sup>General Practice Research Unit, Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Postbox 1130 Blinderen, N-0318 Oslo, Norway. <sup>3</sup>Norwegian National Advisory Unit for Aging and Health, Vestfold County Hospital HF, Toensberg and Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway.

## Received: 19 December 2019 Accepted: 30 August 2020 Published online: 09 September 2020

#### References

- Helvik AS, Engedal K, Benth JŠ, Selbæk G. Prevalence and severity of dementia in nursing home residents. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2015;40: 166–77. https://doi.org/10.1159/000433525.
- Ruths S, Straand J, Nygaard HA. Multidisciplinary medication review in nursing home residents: what are the most significant drug-related problems? The Bergen District nursing home (BEDNURS) study. Qual Saf Health Care. 2003;12(3):176–80.
- Halvorsen KH, Ruths S, Granas AG, Viktil KK. Multidisciplinary intervention to identify and resolve drug-related problems in Norwegian nursing homes. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2010;28:82–8.
- Janus SI, van Manen JG, Izerman MJ, Zuidema SU. Psychotropic drug prescriptions in Western European nursing homes. Int Psychogeriatr. 2016; 28:1775–90. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610216001150.
- Sandvik R, Selbaek G, Kirkevold O, Husebo BS, Aarsland D. Analgesic prescribing patterns in Norwegian nursing homes from 2000 to 2011: trend analyses of four data samples. Age Ageing. 2016;45(1):54–60. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ageing/afv184.
- Gulla C, Selbaek G, Flo E, Kjome R, Kirkevold Ø, Husebo BS. Multipsychotropic drug prescription and the association to neuropsychiatric symptoms in three Norwegian nursing home cohorts between 2004 and 2011. BMC Geriatr. 2016;16:115. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-016-0287-1.
- Helvik AS, Šaltytė Benth J, Wu B, Engedal K, Selbæk G. Persistent use of psychotropic drugs in nursing home residents in Norway. BMC Geriatr. 2017;17:52. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-017-0440-5.
- Mangoni AA, Jackson SHD. Age related changes in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: basic principles and practical applications. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2003;57:6–14.
- The Norwegian Directorate of Health. 2017; Nasjonal faglig retningslinje om demens (Guidelines for dementia). https://helsedirektoratet.no/ retningslinjer/nasjonal-faglig-retningslinje-om-demens. Accessed on 14 Oct 2019.
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Dementia: supporting people with dementia and their carers in health and social care. https:// guidance.nice.org.uk/CG42. Accessed on 14 Oct 2019.
- Schneider L, Dagerman K, Insel P. Efficacy and adverse effects of atypical antipsychotics for dementia: meta-analysis of randomised, placebocontrolled trials. Am J Geriatr Psychiatr. 2006;14:191–210.
- Ruths S, Straand J, Nygaard HA. Psychotropic drug use in nursing homes diagnostic indications and variations between institutions. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2001;57:523–8.
- Davidsson M, Vibe OE, Ruths S, Blix HS. A multidisciplinary approach to improve drug therapy in nursing homes. J Multidisciplin Healthcare. 2011;4: 9–23. https://doi.org/10.2147/JMDH.S15773.
- 14. Krüger K, Folkestad M, Geitung JT, Eide GE, Grimsmo A. Psychoactive drugs in seven nursing homes. Prim Care Res Develop. 2012;13(3):244–54.
- Cioltan H, Alshehri S, Howe C, Lee J, Fain M, Eng H, Scachter K, Mohler J. Variation in use of antipsychotic medications in nursing homes in the United States: a systematic review. BMC Geriatr. 2017;17(1):32. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12877-017-0428-1.
- American Geriatrics Society. Updated AGS beers criteria<sup>®</sup> for potentially inappropriate medication use in older adults By the 2019 American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria<sup>®</sup> Update Expert Panel. J Am Geriatrics Society Vol. 2019;67:674–94. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs15766.
- Alldred DP, Raynor DK, Hughes C, Barber N, Chen TF, Spoor P. Interventions to optimize prescribing for older people in care homes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013;(2):CD009095. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009095.pub2.
- The Norwegian Directorate of Health. 2012; Veileder om legemiddelgjennomganger (Guidelines for medication reviews). https:// helsedirektoratet.no/Lists/Publikasjoner/Attachments/465/Veilederlegemiddelgjennomgang\_IS\_1998.pdf. Accessed on 14 Oct 2019.
- 19. Pharmaceutical Care Network Europe. Classification for drug-related problems. 2006. https://www.pcne.org/. Accessed on 14 Oct 2019.
- 20. Kersten H, Ruths S, Wyller TB. Farmakoterapi i sykehjem (pharmacotherapy in nursing homes). Tidssk Nor Legeforen. 2009;129:9–12.

- Fog AF, Kvalvaag G, Engedal K, Straand J. Drug-related problems and changes in drug utilization after medication reviews in nursing homes in Oslo. Norway Scand J Prim Health Care. 2017;35:329–35. https://doi.org/10. 1080/02813432.2017.1397246.
- Gallager P, Ryan C, Byrne S, Kennedy J, O'Mahony D. STOPP (screening tool of older Person's prescriptions) and START (screening tool to alert doctors to right treatment). Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2008;46:72–83.
- Rognstad S, Brekke M, Fetveit A, Spigset O, Wyller TB, Straand J. The Norwegian general practice (NORGEP) criteria for assessing potentially inappropriate prescriptions to elderly patients. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2009;27:153–9.
- Interaksjonsdatabase for norske klinikere FEST (tidligere DRUID) [Drug-drug interaction database for Norwegian clinicians (previous DRUID database)] http://www.interaksjoner.no Accessed 14 Oct 2019.
- Ruths S, Viktil KK, Blix HS. Klassifisering av legemiddelrelaterte problemer (Classification of drug-related problems). Tidskr Nor Legeforen. 2007;127: 3073–6 PMID 18049498.
- WHO Collaborating Center for Drug Statistics Methodology. Guidelines for ATC Classification and DDD Assignment. Oslo: Norway: WHO collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology; 2015. https://www.whocc.no/. Accessed 14 Oct 2019.
- Kleijer B, Van Marum R, Frijters D, Jansen PA, Ribbe MW, Egberts AC, Heerdink ER. Variability between nursing homes in prevalence of antipsychotic use in patients with dementia. Int Psychogeriatr. 2014;26(3): 363–71. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610213002019.
- Chen Y, Briesacher BA, Field TS, Tjia J, Lau DT, Gurwitz JH. Unexplained variation across US nursing homes in antipsychotic prescribing rates. Arch Intern Med. 2010;170(1):89–95. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2009.469.
- Rochon PA, Stukel TA, Bronskill SE, Gomes T, Sykora K, Wodchis WP, Hillmer M, Kopp A, Gurwitz JH, Anderson GM. Variation in nursing home antipsychotic prescribing rates. Arch Intern Med. 2007;167:676–83.
- Halvorsen KH, Stadeløkken T, Garcia BH. A stepwise pharmacist-led medication review Service in Interdisciplinary Teams in rural nursing homes. Pharmacy (Basel). 2019;7(4):148. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmacy7040148.
- 31. Iden KR, Hjørleifsson S, Ruths S. Treatment decisions on antidepressants in nursing homes: a qualitative study. Scan J Primary Health Care. 2011;29:252–6.
- Abdulla A, Adams N, Bone M, Elliott AM, Gaffin J, Jones D, Knaggs R, Martin D, Sampson L, Schofield P, British Geriatric Society. Guidance on the management of pain in older people (Review). Age Ageing. 2013; 42(Suppl1):1–57. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afs200.
- Cappelen K, Harris A, Aase K. Variability in staff perceptions of patient safety culture in Norwegian nursing homes - a longitudinal cross-sectional study. Safety in Health. 2018;4:9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40886-018-0076-y.
- Rokstad AM, Røsvik J, Kirkevold Ø, Selbaek G, Saltyte Benth J, Engedal K. The effect of person-centered dementia care to prevent agitation and other neuropsychiatric symptoms and enhance quality of life in nursing home patients: a 10-month randomized controlled trial. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord. 2013;36:340–53. https://doi.org/10.1159/000354366.
- 35. Romskaug R, Skovlund E, Straand J, Molden E, Kersten H, Pitkala KH, Lundqvist C, Wyller TB. Effect of clinical geriatric assessments and collaborative medication reviews by geriatrician and family physician for improving health-related quality of life in home-dwelling older patients receiving Polypharmacy: a cluster randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. Published on line October 16, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamainternmed.2019.5096.
- Nyborg G, Straand J, Klovning A, Brekke M. The Norwegian general practice–nursing home criteria (NORGEP-NH) for potentially inappropriate medication use: a web-based Delphi study. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2015; 33:134–41.

## **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- · rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

#### At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



# 

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

**BMC** Geriatrics

# **Open Access**

# Drug use differs by care level. A crosssectional comparison between older people living at home or in a nursing home in Oslo, Norway



Amura Francesca Fog<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Jørund Straand<sup>2</sup>, Knut Engedal<sup>3</sup> and Hege Salvesen Blix<sup>4</sup>

# Abstract

**Background:** Drug consumption increases with age, but there are few comparisons of drug use between old people living at home or in a nursing home. To identify areas of concern as well as in need for quality improvement in the two settings, we compared drug use among people aged  $\geq$ 70 years living at home or in a nursing home.

**Methods:** Cross-sectional observational study from Oslo, Norway. Information about drug use by people living at home in 2012 was retrieved from the Norwegian Prescription Database. Drug use in nursing homes was recorded within a comprehensive medication review during November 2011–February 2014. Prevalence rates and relative risk (RR) with 95% confidence intervals were compared between uses of therapeutic groups with prevalence rates of  $\geq$ 5%. Drug use was compared for the total population and by gender and age group.

**Results:** Older people (both genders) in nursing homes (n = 2313) were more likely than people living at home (n = 48,944) to use antidementia drugs (RR = 5.7), antipsychotics (RR = 4.0), paracetamol (RR = 4.0), anxiolytics (RR = 3.0), antidepressants (RR = 2.8), dopaminergic drugs (RR = 2.7), antiepileptic drugs (RR = 2.4), loop diuretics (RR = 2.3), cardiac nitrates (RR = 2.1) or opioids (RR = 2.0). By contrast, people living in a nursing home were less commonly prescribed statins (RR = 0.2), nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (RR = 0.3), osteoporosis drugs (RR = 0.3), thiazide diuretics (RR = 0.4), calcium channel blockers (RR = 0.5) or renin–angiotensin inhibitors (RR = 0.5). Each of the populations had only minor differences in drug use by gender and a trend towards less drug use with increasing age (p < 0.01).

**Conclusions:** Drug use by older people differs according to care level, and so do areas probably in need for quality improvement and further research. In nursing home residents, this relates to a probable overuse of psychotropic drugs and opioids. Among older people living at home, the probable overuse of NSAIDs and a possible underuse of cholinesterase inhibitors and osteoporosis drugs should be addressed.

**Keywords:** Older people, Community, Nursing homes, Drug use, Prevalence, Prescription database, Dementia, Cardiovascular drugs, Opioids, Psychotropic drugs

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2019 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

<sup>\*</sup> Correspondence: a.f.fog@medisin.uio.no; http://www.med.uio.no/helsam

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Nursing Home Agency, Oslo Municipality, Oslo, Norway

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>General Practice Research Unit, Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Postbox 1130 Blinderen, N-0318 Oslo, Norway

# Background

With the aging of populations, substantially more people are living with multi-morbidity [1, 2], dementia [3] or frailty [4]. Despite the prevalence of these conditions, older people today live longer with fewer functional limitations and disabilities than equally olds in earlier generations [5]. In Norway, it is a national priority to support people living in their own homes as long as possible. Based on individual needs and regardless of income, the municipality is responsible for providing either home-based nursing services or long-term care in a nursing home.

Direct comparisons of morbidity between older persons living at home and in nursing homes are lacking, but cognitive impairment, neuropsychiatric symptoms, Parkinson's disease and stroke are all more prevalent in nursing home residents than among those living in the community [6]. In Norway, almost half of all deaths take place in nursing homes [7].

Older people use more drugs than any other group, although the scientific evidence for drug efficacy and safety is limited, particularly for those older than 80 years. In Norway, people older than 67 years represent about 15% of the population but use 45% of all prescription drugs [8], the vast majority prescribed by general practitioners.

Because of differences in morbidity and life expectancy between older people living at home or in a nursing home, it is likely that the drug use differs by care level, for example with more symptomatic and palliative approach in the nursing home setting. It has been reported that nursing home residents use more psychotropic drugs and fewer cardiovascular drugs than their age-matched peers living in the community [9–11]. Clinical guidelines rarely take the clinical setting, or a patient's multi-morbidity or limited life expectancy into consideration. Strict adherence to guidelines may therefore also contribute to inappropriate polypharmacy in older people [12]. Due to the differences in morbidity, disability and drug use between older people residing in nursing homes or at home, measures to improve drug prescription practice for older people needs to be tailored for the care-level setting in question. For planning of future quality improvement studies to fit with the clinical setting, it is therefore relevant to analyse both differences and similarities in drug use between older people in these two settings. This may ensure that the most important problems in each setting will be addressed. Describing drug use patterns for older people residing in the two settings may identify areas of concern as well as in need for quality improvement, and it may guide the focus for further research into the field.

In this study we have described the drug use in older people living at home or in a nursing home to identify the most pronounced differences in drug use, aiming also to identify areas of concern as well as in need for quality improvement of the drug use in the two settings.

# Methods

We collected information about the drug use of people aged 70 years old or older who were living at home or in a nursing home in the Oslo municipality, Norway from two sources.

Drug use for people living at home in 2012 (n = 48,944 people) was retrieved from the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD). The NorPD contains information about all prescription drugs dispensed at pharmacies in Norway and covers all people living in the country, except those living in long-term care institutions such as nursing homes [8].

The drug use data for people living in a nursing home were retrieved from the database of a medication review project performed at 41 of 51 nursing homes in Oslo municipality during November 2011–February 2014 [13]. The 41 nursing homes were representative of nursing homes in the municipality. From that project's baseline data (i.e., before the medication review), we retrieved information about the drug use of the long-term nursing home residents  $\geq$ 70 years old (*n* = 2313) [13].

For both populations, the collected datasets included information about the drug names and the person's gender and age group (70–79 years, 80–89 years and  $\ge$  90 years).

Drugs were categorized according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification system [14].

# Statistical analyses

The drug use prevalence rate in the population living at home was defined as the number of people who received at least one supply of a drug in 2012. In Norway, drugs for chronic and stable use may be prescribed for 1 year's use, however dispensed at pharmacies in quantities corresponding to about 3 months' use. Therefore, we calculated drug prevalence rates based on purchase data for both 3 months and 12 months. Because the prevalence rates were almost identical, we have used the annual drug prevalence rates for the statistical analyses for reasons of feasibility.

The drug use prevalence rate in the nursing home population was defined as the number of people who used the drug in question at the time of the medication review. We defined the same drug issued both regularly and as needed (pro re nata, prn) to the same person living in a nursing home as one prescription. This approach fits better to the data available from the general outpatient population and it is often used in

 Table 1 Demographic characteristics of old people living at home and in a nursing home

Demographic characteristics	H (n = 48,944)	NH (n = 2313)
Women, n (%)	29,326 (59.9)	1752 (76.0)
Age 70–79 years, n (%)	27,299 (55.8)	311 (13.4)
Age 80–89 years, n (%)	17,645 (36.0)	1023 (44.3)
Age 90+ years, n (%)	4000 (8.2)	979 (42.3)

H (home population), NH (nursing home population). Gender information was missing for seven NH residents

pharmaco-epidemiological studies based on registry data [15].

The drug use in the two populations was compared in STATA SE 14 (Stata Corp LP, College Station, TX) using the relative risk (RR) with 95% confidence interval (95% CI) and the population living at home as the reference group. The analyses were performed also by gender and by age group. Associations between drug use and age group were determined using the chi-squared test for trend in proportions or Cochran–Armitage test for trend [16]. The level of significance was set at 0.05. We report statistical significance with RR (95% CI). We interpreted

Table 2 Drug	use in older	people living	i in a nursir	ng home versus	those living at home
--------------	--------------	---------------	---------------	----------------	----------------------

Drug therapeutic group (ATC-3th	Drug use prevalence (%)	1	Relative Risk (RR)		
level) <sup>a</sup>	H (n = 48,944)	NH (n = 2313)	95% Cl	<i>p</i> -value	
Opioids	22.7	46.3	2.0 (2.0, 2.1)	<0.01	
Paracetamol	18.2	72.1	4.0 (3.9, 4.1)	<0.01	
Antiepileptic drugs	4.0	9.5	2.4 (2.1, 2.7)	<0.01	
Dopaminergic drugs	1.5	3.9	2.7 (2.2, 3.4)	<0.01	
Antipsychotics	4.0	17.2	4.3 (3.9, 4.8)	<0.01	
Anxiolytics	16.2	48.4	3.0 (2.9, 3.1)	<0.01	
Hypnotics/sedatives	28.6	49.2	1.7 (1.7, 1.8)	<0.01	
Antidepressants	11.2	31.6	2.8 (2.7, 1.8)	<0.01	
Antidementia drugs	2.0	11.4	5.7 (5.0, 6.5)	<0.01	
Cardiac glycosides	3.2	5.8	1.8 (1.5, 2.2)	<0.01	
Cardiac nitrates	7.5	15.4	2.1 (1.9, 2.3)	<0.01	
Loop diuretics	14.0	31.7	2.3 (2.1, 2.4)	<0.01	
Other diuretics <sup>b</sup>	6.6	2.9	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	<0.01	
Beta-blockers	29.1	24.8	0.9 (0.8, 0.9)	<0.01	
Calcium channel blockers	19.6	9.0	0.5 (0.4, 0.5)	<0.01	
Renin–angiotensin drugs	41.1	18.6	0.5 (0.4, 0.5)	<0.01	
Statins	35.0	5.7	0.2 (0.1, 0.2)	<0.01	
Antithrombotic agents <sup>c</sup>	47.4	44.0	0.9 (0.9, 1.0)	<0.01	
Inhalators <sup>d</sup>	17.8	18.3	1.0 (0.9, 1.1)	0.55	
Corticosteroids, systemic	10.2	6.6	0.7 (0.6, 0.8)	<0.01	
Antihistamines, systemic	11.6	8.2	0.7 (0.6, 0.8)	<0.01	
Vitamin $B_{12}$ and folic acid	6.5	13.6	2.1 (1.9, 2.4)	<0.01	
Thyroid therapy	10.9	16.1	1.5 (1.4, 1.6)	<0.01	
Peptic ulcer drugs <sup>e</sup>	17.2	21.4	1.3 (1.2, 1.4)	<0.01	
Antidiabetics <sup>f</sup>	10.2	11.1	1.1 (1.0, 1.2)	0.15	
Drugs for glaucoma	9.3	10.4	1.1 (1.0, 1.3)	0.08	
Oestrogens	6.3	4.6	0.7 (0.6, 0.9)	<0.01	
Benign prostate hypertrophy drugs	6.1	2.3	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	<0.01	
Osteoporosis drugs	6.5	2.1	0.3 (0.3, 0.4)	<0.01	
NSAIDs	20.7	5.5	0.3 (0.2, 0.3)	<0.01	

H (home population), NH (nursing home population). RR (relative risk with 95% confidence interval and p-value and the population living at home as the reference group)

<sup>a</sup>Drugs with prevalence rates ≥5% in at least one of the populations, except for dopaminergic drugs

<sup>b</sup>The vast majority were thiazides <sup>c</sup>Mostly anti-platelet agents, such acetylsalicylic acid (36.2% vs. 31.2%) and warfarin (11.5% vs. 9.0%)

<sup>d</sup>Steroid, adrenergic and anticholinergic inhalators

<sup>e</sup>The vast majority were proton pump inhibitors

<sup>f</sup>Oral antidiabetic drugs RR = 2.4(2.0, 2.9) and insulin RR = 0.7(0.6, 0.9)

Drugs (ATC-5th level) <sup>a</sup>	Drug use prevalence (	%)	Relative Risk (RR)		
	H (n = 48,944)	NH (n = 2313)	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value <0.01	
Morphine	0.3	4.5	13.7 (10.7, 17.4)		
Oxycodone	1.8	10.1	5.7 (4.9, 6.5)	<0.01	
Fentanyl	0.5	6.2	12.4 (1.1, 15.2)	<0.01	
Buprenorphine	1.1	11.9	10.7 (9.3, 12.3)	<0.01	
Codeine analgesics	17.3	17.5	1.0 (0.9, 1.1)	0.75	
Tramadol	6.8	12.5	1.8 (1.6, 2.1)	<0.01	
Haloperidol	0.3	4.1	15.8 (12.1, 20.6)	<0.01	
Clozapine, olanzapine, quetiapine	0.8 5.3		6.9 (5.6, 8.4)	<0.01	
Risperidone	0.4	5.4	14.0 (11.2, 17.5)	<0.01	
Oxazepam	7.7	41.7	5.5 (5.2, 5.8)	<0.01	
Diazepam	8.1	8.6	1.1 (0.9, 1.2)	0.35	
Zopiclone, zolpidem	27.3	39.8	1.5 (1.4, 1.5)	<0.01	
Clomethiazole	0.1	8.5	68.8 (51.8, 91.4)	<0.01	
Citalopram, escitalopram sertraline, paroxetine	6.4	19.7	3.1 (2.9, 3.4)	<0.01	
Mianserin, mirtazapine, venlafaxine	4.6	14.8	3.2 (2.9 3.6)	<0.01	
Donepezil, rivastigmine, galantamine	1.8	5.7	3.2 (2.7, 3.9)	<0.01	
Memantine	0.4	5.7	15.0 (12.1, 18.7)	<0.01	

Table 3 Use of particular drugs in older people living in a nursing home or at home

H (home population), NH (nursing home population). RR (relative risk with 95% confidence interval and p-value and the population living at home as the

reference group)

<sup>a</sup>Drugs with prevalence rates  $\geq$ 4% in at least one of the populations

the findings on the assumption that differences reach clinical significance when the RR was  $\leq 0.5$  or  $\geq 2$ .

## Results

People living in a nursing home (n = 2313) were generally older and were more often women than those living at home (n = 48,944) (Table 1).

Compared with people living at home (the reference group), people living in a nursing home more frequently used antidementia drugs [RR = 5.7)], antipsychotics (RR = 4.0), paracetamol (RR = 4.0), anxiolytics (RR = 3.0), antidepressants (RR = 2.8), dopaminergic drugs (RR = 2.7), antiepileptic drugs (RR = 2.4), loop diuretics (RR = 2.3), cardiac nitrates (RR = 2.1) or opioids (RR = 2.0) (Table 2).

By contrast, people living in a nursing home were less commonly issued statins (RR = 0.2), nonsteroidal antiin-flammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (RR = 0.3), osteoporosis drugs (RR = 0.3), thiazide diuretics (RR = 0.4), calcium channel blockers (RR = 0.5) or renin–angiotensin drugs (RR = 0.5) (Table 2).

The RRs for use of opioids, antipsychotics, anxiolytics, hypnotic/sedatives, antidepressants and antidementia drugs in nursing home residents compared with those living at home are presented in Table 3. In particular clomethiazole (RR 68.8), haloperidol (RR = 15.8), memantine (RR = 15.0), risperidone (RR = 14.0), morphine (RR = 13.7), fentanyl (RR = 12.4) and buprenorphine (RR = 10.7) were indeed more often issued for nursing home

residents than for older people living at home. Weak opioids were frequently used in both settings; the use of tramadol was higher in nursing homes (RR = 1.8), but the use of codeine-containing analgesics did not differ between populations (RR = 1.0).

Differences in drug use by gender are presented in Table 4. Except for opioids, the differences between home and nursing home populations in the use of drugs affecting the nervous system were larger for men than for women (home population as the reference group).

Differences in drug use by age group are presented in Table 5. With the exception of antiepileptic drugs and dopaminergic agents, a negative trend in the percentage of people using particular drugs with increasing age was observed for people living at home (p < 0.01). For people living in a nursing home, a negative trend in the percentage of people using the drug with increasing age (p < 0.01) was observed for paracetamol, antiepileptic drugs, dopaminergic agents, antipsychotics, anxiolytics, antidepressants, antidementia drugs, cardiac glycoside and nitrates, loop diuretics, statins and antidiabetics (Table 5).

# Discussion

In this comprehensive comparison of the drug use among older people living at home or in nursing homes, we have reported data on drug groups and individual drugs not commonly reported by others [9–11, 17–19]. We found large differences in drug use by people aged 70 years and older according to their place of residence.

Drug groups	Women	( <i>n</i> = 31,078)		Men ( <i>n</i> =	= 20,152)		Women vs men	
	Н	NH		Н	NH		Н	NH
	%	%	RR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)	%	%	RR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)	RR <sup>b</sup> (95% CI)	RR <sup>b</sup> (95% CI)
Opioids	25.7	48.6	2.3 (2.2, 2.4)	18.3	38.7	2.2 (2.0, 2.5)	1.2 (1.2, 1.2)	1.1 (1.1, 1.2)
Paracetamol	22.4	73.6	3.3 (3.2, 3.4)	12.0	67.7	5.9 (5.5, 6.3)	1.3 (1.3, 1.3)	1.1 (1.0, 1.2)
Antiepileptic drugs	4.1	8.5	2.1 (1.8, 2.5)	3.9	12.6	3.4 (2.7, 4.3)	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)	0.9 (0.8, 1.0)
Dopaminergic agents	1.2	3.2	2.6 (2.0, 3.4)	1.8	6.3	3.7 (2.7, 5.2)	0.8 (0.8, 1.0)	0.8 (0.7, 1.0)
Antipsychotics	4.7	17.1	3.7 (3.3, 4.1)	2.9	17.5	6.2 (5.1, 7.6)	1.2 (1.1, 1.2)	1.0 (0.9, 1.1)
Anxiolytics	20.1	49.2	2.5 (2.3, 2.6)	10.5	45.9	4.6 (4.1, 5.0)	1.3 (1.2, 1.3)	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)
Hypnotics/sedatives	34.3	49.1	1.4 (1.4, 1.5)	20.2	49.5	2.6 (2.3, 2.8)	1.3 (1.2, 1.3)	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)
Antidepressants	13.8	33.0	2.4 (2.2, 2.6)	7.3	27.7	3.9 (3.4, 4.5)	1.3 (1.2, 1.3)	1.1 (1.0, 1.1)
Antidementia drugs	2.2	10.8	5.0 (4.3, 5.8)	1.8	13.7	8.0 (6.4, 0.1)	1.1 (1.0, 1.1)	0.9 (0.9, 1.0)
Cardiac glycosides	3.2	5.7	1.8 (1.5, 2.2)	3.2	5.9	1.9 (1.4, 2.7)	1.0 (1.0, 1.0)	1.0 (0.9, 1.1)
Cardiac nitrates	7.1	15.8	2.2 (2.0, 2.5)	8.2	14.1	1.8 (1.5, 2.2)	0.9 (0.9, 1.0)	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)
Loop diuretics	14.7	32.2	2.2 (2.0, 2.4)	12.9	29.9	2.4 (2.1, 2.8)	1.1 (1.0, 1.1)	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)
Other diuretics	7.5	3.0	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	5.3	2.3	0.5 (0.3, 0.8)	1.2 (1.1, 1.2)	1.1 (0.9, 1.2)
Beta-blockers	27.1	25.1	0.9 (0.9, 1.0)	32.1	23.6	0.8 (0.7, 0.9)	0.9 (0.9, 0.9)	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)
Calcium channel blockers	19.2	9.5	0.5 (0.4, 0.6)	20.1	7.6	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	1.0 (0.9, 1.0)	1.1 (1.0, 1.1)
Renin-angiotensin	40.1	17.9	0.4 (0.4, 0.5)	42.6	20.7	0.5 (0.4, 0.6)	1.0 (0.9, 1.0)	1.0 (0.9, 1.0)
Statins	31.8	4.7	0.1 (0.1, 0.2)	39.7	9.2	0.2 (0.2, 0.3)	0.9 (0.8, 0.9)	0.8 (0.7, 0.9)
Antithrombotic agents	42.7	42.0	1.0 (0.9, 1.0)	54.6	50.1	1.0 (0.9, 1.0)	0.8 (0.8, 0.8)	0.9 (0.9, 1.0)
Inhalators	18.6	17.8	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)	16.5	23.1	1.0 (1.0, 1.0)	1.1 (1.0, 1.1)	0.9 (0.9, 1.0)
Corticosteroids	11.1	6.3	0.6 (0.5, 0.7)	8.9	7.4	0.9 (0.6, 1.2)	1.1 (1.1, 1.1)	1.0 (0.9, 1.1)
Antihistamines	13.6	7.6	0.6 (0.5, 0.7)	8.7	9.9	1.2 (0.9, 1.5)	1.2 (0.2, 1.2)	0.9 (0.8, 1.0)
Drugs for peptic ulcer	18.2	21.7	1.2 (1.1, 1.3)	15.7	20.0	1.3 (1.1, 1.6)	1.1 (1.1, 1.1)	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)
Antidiabetics	8.5	8.6	1.0 (0.9, 1.2)	12.8	11.7	0.9 (0.7, 1.2)	0.8 (0.8, 0.8)	0.9 (0.8, 1.0)
Osteoporosis drugs	9.8	2.6	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)	1.4	0.7	0.5 (0.2, 1.4)	1.6 (1.6, 1.0)	1.2 (1.1, 1.3)
NSAIDs	22.7	5.6	0.6 (0.5, 0.7)	17.8	5.2	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)	1.1 (1.0, 1.1)	1.0 (0.9, 1.1)

 Table 4 Drug use in women and men living in a nursing home or at home

H (home population), NH (nursing home population). RR (relative risk with 95% confidence interval)

Number of women (H = 29,326, NH = 1752) and men (H = 19,618, NH = 554)

<sup>a</sup>RR values calculated using the home population as the reference group

Antidementia drugs were substantially more often used in those living in a nursing home, regardless of age or gender. This might be expected because about 80% of the nursing home residents are cognitively impaired [20], as compared with 18% of people aged 80 years and 41% of those older than 90 years living in the community [6]. However, the higher use of antidementia drugs by men than women in nursing homes (13.7% vs. 10.1%) should be investigated in further research. The use of cholinesterase inhibitors at home (1.8%) was lower than expected because these drugs are recommended palliative treatment for people with mild to moderate dementia [21, 22], most of whom are living at home. The very low use of memantine among those living at home is consistent with that the vast majority of people with severe dementia are being cared for in nursing homes.

Our observation that antipsychotics, antidepressants and anxiolytics were used more often in nursing homes is consistent with the findings of others [9-11, 18]. This probably reflects the high prevalence of significant behavioural and psychiatric symptoms of dementia (BPSD) [20] and obstacles for implementing non-pharmaceutical measures in the nursing home setting. The use of antipsychotics in nursing homes in our study was lower than in other studies [9, 11, 18, 19, 23, 24], perhaps explained by recent warnings against long term antipsychotic use because of severe side effects such as cognitive decline [25, 26], falls [27], stroke [28] and even death [29], as well as poor long-term effect on agitation [30]. We however still consider the overall use of psychotropic drugs in nursing homes to be too high because their efficacy in people with dementia is generally poor [31] and commonly harmful, and deprescribing is generally well tolerated [32, 33]. The prevalent use of clomethiazole in nursing home residents (8.5%) is surprising and it should be investigated further, given that this is a drug with a poor safety record that in general should be avoided in older people [34].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>RR values calculated using women as the reference group

Drug groups	Age 70–79 years <i>n</i> = 27,610		Age 80–89 years <i>n</i> = 18,668		Age ≥ 90 years <i>n</i> = 4979			Chi-square test for trend in proportion			
	Н	NH		Н	NH		Н	NH		<i>p</i> -value <sup>a</sup>	<i>p</i> -value <sup>b</sup>
	%	%	RR (95% CI)	%	%	RR (95% CI)	%	%	RR (95% CI)		
Opioids	20.4	51.0	2.5 (2.2, 2.8)	25.0	42.8	1.7 (1.6, 1.8)	28.4	48.5	1.7 (1.6, 1.9)	< 0.01	0.71
Paracetamol	14.0	68.3	4.9 (4.5, 5.3)	21.7	70.0	3.2 (3.1, 3.4)	31.6	75.5	2.4 (2.3, 2.6)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Antiepileptic drugs	3.9	20.8	5.4 (4.3, 6.8)	4.2	9.4	2.2 (1.8, 2.7)	3.5	6.0	1.7 (1.3, 2.4)	0.84	< 0.01
Dopaminergic agents	1.4	7.4	5.3 (3.5, 7.9)	1.6	4.7	2.9 (2.1, 3.8)	1.0	2.0	2.2 (1.3, 3.7)	0.48	< 0.01
Antipsychotics	3.8	25.0	6.7 (5.5, 8.2)	4.3	18.4	4.3 (3.7, 5.0)	4.4	13.5	3.1 (2.5, 3.8)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Anxiolytics	14.7	54.5	3.7 (3.3, 4.1)	17.8	49.6	2.8 (2.6, 3.0)	19.8	45.2	1.8 (1.6, 1.9)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Hypnotics/sedatives	24.0	48.1	2.0 (1.8, 2.3)	33.1	49.7	1.5 (1.4, 1.6)	41.0	49.0	1.2 (1.1, 1.3)	< 0.01	0.95
Antidepressants	10.1	39.7	4.0 (3.4, 4.6)	12.5	33.8	2.7 (2.5, 3.0)	13.3	26.8	2.0 (1.8, 2.3)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Antidementia drugs	1.1	13.5	12.4 (9.2, 16.8)	3.1	15.3	16.1 (14.1, 18.5)	3.4	6.7	2.0 (1.5, 2.6)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Cardiac glycosides	1.8	2.9	1.6 (0.9, 3.1)	4.6	5.0	1.1 (0.8, 1.4)	7.1	7.7	1.1 (0.8, 1.4)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Cardiac nitrates	5.1	9.9	1.0 (1.0, 1.0)	9.7	12.9	1.0 (1.0, 1.0)	14.6	19.8	0.9 (0.9, 1.0)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Loop diuretics	8.3	25.3	3.1 (2.5, 3.7)	18.4	27.9	1.5 (1.4, 1.7)	33.1	37.7	1.1 (1.0, 1.3)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Other diuretics	5.7	2.2	0.4 (0.2, 0.8)	7.8	2.4	0.3 (0.2, 0.5)	8.4	3.6	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	< 0.01	0.12
Beta-blockers	25.3	21.2	0.8 (0.7, 1.0)	33.2	25.0	0.8 (0.7, 0.8)	37.6	25.8	0.7 (0.6, 0.8)	< 0.01	0.14
Calcium channel blockers	17.6	6.4	0.4 (0.2, 0.6)	21.9	9.9	0.5 (0.4, 0.5)	23.1	9.0	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	< 0.01	0.42
Renin–angiotensin	40.1	20.8	0.5 (0.4, 0.6)	42.7	19.3	0.5 (0.4, 0.5)	40.6	17.0	0.4 (0.4, 0.5)	< 0.01	0.09
Statins	37.0	14.4	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	35.2	5.9	0.2 (0.1, 0.2)	20.0	2.9	0.1 (0.1, 0.2)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Antithrombotic agents	41.7	39.4	0.9 (0.8, 1.1)	53.9	45.9	0.9 (0.8, 0.9)	58.5	43.5	0.7 (0.7, 0.8)	< 0.01	0.60
Inhalators	18.5	25.1	1.0 (1.0, 1.0)	17.9	20.8	1.0 (1.0, 1.0)	11.6	15.0	0.9 (0.9, 1.0)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Corticosteroids <sup>3</sup>	9.6	6.4	0.7 (0.4, 1.0)	11.4	8.1	0.7 (0.6, 0.9)	9.4	5.1	0.5 (0.4, 0.7)	< 0.01	0.08
Antihistamines <sup>3</sup>	12.7	9.3	0.7 (0.5, 1.0)	10.7	8.5	0.8 (0.6, 1.0)	8.8	7.6	0.9 (0.7, 1.1)	< 0.01	0.28
Drugs for peptic ulcer	15.8	24.7	1.6 (1.3, 1.9)	19.0	20.8	1.1 (1.0, 1.2)	18.7	20.9	1.1 (1.0, 1.3)	< 0.01	0.27
Antidiabetics	11.4	16.3	1.4 (1.1, 1.8)	9.2	10.3	1.1 (0.9, 1.4)	5.9	6.0	1.0 (0.8, 1.3)	< 0.01	< 0.01
Osteoporosis drugs	5.1	0.3	0.1 (0.0, 0.4)	8.2	3.0	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	7.8	1.7	0.2 (0.1, 0.4)	< 0.01	0.70
NSAIDs	23.6	6.1	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)	18.1	5.2	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)	12.7	5.6	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	< 0.01	0.93

**Table 5** Drug use in people living in a nursing home or at home by age groups

H (home population), NH (nursing home population). RR (relative risk with 95% confidence interval and the population living at home as the reference group) Number of people in each age group: 70–79 years (NH = 311; H = 27, 299), 80–89 years (NH = 1023; H = 17, 645) and  $\geq$  90 years (NH = 979; H = 4, 000) <sup>a</sup>Chi-squared test for trend in proportion of drug usage at home

<sup>b</sup>Chi-squared test for trend in proportion of drug usage in nursing homes

Overall, there is generally poor evidence for the efficacy of antidepressants, including selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, in people with dementia and BPSD [35]. That the use of antidepressants in nursing homes declined with residents' age has also been reported by others [18, 19]. A possible explanation for this may also be decreasing prevalence of depressive symptoms with increasing dementia severity [36].

Consistent with findings by others [10, 11, 19], more paracetamol and opioids were used by nursing home residents. This may partly reflect the lower use of NSAIDs for osteoarthritis in nursing home residents, but may also reflect empiric analgesic treatment in people with dementia of agitated behaviour presumed to be caused by pain [37]. That at least 20% of older people living at home use NSAIDs is a matter of concern, especially because their use might be even higher due to their possible purchase without prescription. NSAIDs are probably most commonly issued for degenerative pain without inflammation (a simple analgesic might thus be a safer option) and they pose an increased risk for gastrointestinal bleedings and adverse cardiovascular events [38]. That we in both settings found a more prevalent use of opioids than reported by others [10, 11, 18, 19] also warrants further investigation. Opioids used as part of end-of-life palliative treatment in nursing homes cannot explain this finding because palliative units were not included in the medication review.

The differences found for the uses of cardiovascular drugs between the two settings suggest that cardiovascular treatment may be more symptomatic and palliative in nursing homes than for their home-dwelling peers [10, 19, 39]. Because of the lower rate of disability and

Drug	Nursing home	Home	
Antidementia drugs	Severe dementia: overuse?	Mild dementia: underuse?	
Antipsychotic drugs	BPSD <sup>1</sup> : Too much, too long? Deprescribing should be tried	(little use)	
Antidepressants	Overuse: Poor effect in people with dementia, consider tapering down dosage and deprescribing	Possible overuse: Consider tapering down dosage and deprescribing	
Anxiolytics Hypnotics/sedatives	Overuse	Probable overuse	
Opioids	Overuse	Probable overuse	
Clomethiazole	Overuse: should be avoided whenever possible for reasons of safety	(almost no use at all)	
NSAIDs	(little use)	Overuse – try paracetamol instead	
Osteoporosis drugs	Possible underuse?	Possible underuse?	
Statins	(little use)	Possible overuse (oldest age group)?	
Drugs for peptic ulcer	lgs for peptic ulcer Possible overuse		

**Table 6** Older people residing in nursing homes or at home: ten drugs in particular need for critical rethinking during educational interventions or medication reviews

<sup>1</sup>Behavioral and psychiatric symptoms in dementia

longer life expectancy among home-dwelling older people relative to nursing home residents, the potential benefits for both primary and secondary cardiovascular prevention are larger for those living at home.

Deprescribing of prophylactic drug treatment in nursing home residents with short life expectancies may explain the lower use of both statins and osteoporosis drugs by nursing home residents. However, the use of osteoporosis drugs was lower than expected among home-dwelling women because osteoporosis, with its consequent risk of fractures, is a leading health hazard in old people in Norway [40].

Based on the study results and our own clinical experience, we have identified ten drugs in particular need for critical rethinking during future educational interventions or medication reviews in the two settings (Table 6).

Our study has some limitations. We compared the drug use of two populations that differ in terms of morbidity and frailty without recording clinical data (e.g. diagnoses, Charleston morbidity scores, in-home care service use). We assumed that institutionalization is a proxy for frailty and a high prevalence of dementia, and we have not differentiated between robust and frail older people living at home. Drug use was investigated in terms of the prevalence of use, but we did not have access to the prescribed daily dosages or how often drugs intended for prn actually were used. Despite these limitations, we consider that our data are representative for each of the populations and have acceptable validity for identifying the most significant differences in drug use patterns between older people residing in the two settings. The prevalence rates of drug use for those living at home differed only marginally between data captured over 3 or 12 months, thus being comparable with the point prevalence data for those living in nursing homes. We included drug use data from more than half of the nursing home population in Oslo and the entire population living at home in the municipality. The patient demographics and findings in our study are also consistent with our clinical experience and with data reported in other studies [9–11, 18, 19]. We believe that the large number of participating nursing homes and the large size of the home-dwelling population account for the external validity of our findings.

# Conclusions

This study substantiates that older people living in a nursing home and at home represent two different pharmacologically realities. Further research should investigate when the changes in drug prescription occur in the process of institutionalization or if the two settings may have different therapeutic cultures that partly may explain their different prescription practices. In Norway, the inclusion of prescription data from nursing homes in the NorPD would enable monitoring their drug use over time and follow up on changes in drug use patterns.

### Abbreviations

ATC: Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification system; BPSD: behavioural and psychiatric symptoms of dementia; NorPD: Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD); NSAIDs: nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs; RR: relative risk with 95% confidence interval

#### Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

#### Funding

The study was funded by The Norwegian Research Council and the Nursing Home Agency in Oslo municipality. The funding bodies had no role in the design of the study and collection, analysis, and interpretation of data and in writing the manuscript.

#### Availability of data and materials

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article. The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request. The Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD) contains data about all dispensed drugs in Norway and it is publically accessible on http:// www.norpd.no/. Data from NorPD is intended for general scientific research purposes, statistical analysis and planning. No permissions were required to access the NorPD and to retrieve the study data.

### Authors' contributions

AFF, JS, KE and HSB were involved in the study design and contributed to writing the manuscript. HSB and AFF retrieved the drug use data. AFF drafted the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final draft of the manuscript.

# Ethics approval and consent to participate

According to the Norwegian act on medical and health research, no formal ethical approval was needed for the present study. Formal consent was not required because data is anonymous.

The study protocol of the medication review project at the nursing homes, which generated part of the data used here, was presented to the Regional Committee in Medical Research Ethics in South-East Norway (reference no. 2015/786) and the Norwegian Centre for Research Data (reference no. 43659). Both bodies concluded that their formal approval was not needed. The other part of the data used here was aggregated tabulated data retrieved from the Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD). No permissions were required to access and retrieve the study data. The privacy of the individual is strictly protected and data is anonymous.

## Consent for publication

Not applicable.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>Nursing Home Agency, Oslo Municipality, Oslo, Norway. <sup>2</sup>General Practice Research Unit, Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Postbox 1130 Blinderen, N-0318 Oslo, Norway. <sup>3</sup>Norwegian National Advisory Unit for Aging and Health, Vestfold County Hospital HF, Toensberg and Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway. <sup>4</sup>Department of Drug Statistics, Norwegian Public Institute of Health, Oslo, Norway.

### Received: 16 May 2018 Accepted: 12 February 2019 Published online: 19 February 2019

#### References

- Marengoni A, Angleman S, Melis R, Mangialasche F, Karp A, Garmen A, et al. Aging with multimorbidity: a systematic review of literature. Ageing Res Rev. 2011;10:430–9.
- Salive ME. Multimorbidity in older adults. Epidemiol Rev. 2013;35:75–83. https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxs009.
- Prince M, Bryce R, Albanese E, Wimo A, Ribeiro W, Ferr CP. The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Alzheimers Dement. 2013;9:63–75.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.007.
- Collard RM, Boter H, Schoevers RA, Oude Voshaar RC. Prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older persons: a systematic review. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2012;60:1487–92 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04054.x.
- Moe JO, Hagen TP. Trends and variation in mild disability and functional limitations among older adults in Norway, 1986–2008. Eur J Ageing. 2011;8: 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-011-0179-3.
- Langballe EM, Evensen M. Eldre i Norge: Forekomst av psykiske plager og lidelser. Rapport (Prevalence of psychical symptoms and diseases. Report) 2011. ISBN: 978-82-8082-449-3, ISBN (elektronisk): 978–82–8082-450-9. www. fhi.no. Accessed 16 May 2018.

- Pedersen AG, Ellingsen CL. Datakvaliteten I Dødsårsaksregisteret (Data quality in the Death Registry). Tidsskr Nor Legeforen 2015;135:768–70. doi: 104045/tidsskr.14.1065.
- The Norwegian Prescription Database (NorPD), 2015, http://www.norpd.no/. Accessed 8 Feb 2018.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. Drug use among seniors on public drug programs in Canada, 2012 (2014). https://secure.cihi.ca/estore/ productFamily.htm?pf=PFC2594&lang=en&media=0. Accessed 24 Apr 2018.
- Johnell K, Fastbom J. Comparison of prescription drug use between community-dwelling and institutionalized elderly in Sweden. Drugs Aging. 2012;29:751–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40266-012-0002-7.
- Halvorsen KH, Granas AG, Engeland A, Ruths S. Prescribing quality for older people in Norwegian nursing homes and home nursing services using multidose dispensed drugs. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2012;21:929–36.
- Tinetti ME, Bogardus ST Jr, Agostini JV. Potential pitfalls of disease-specific guidelines for patients with multiple conditions. N Engl J Med. 2004;351: 2870–4.
- Fog AF, Kvalvaag G, Engedal K, Straand J. Drug-related problems and changes in drug utilization after medication reviews in nursing homes in Oslo, Norway. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2017;35:329–35. https://doi.org/10. 1080/02813432.2017.1397246.
- WHO Collaborating Center for Drug Statistics Methodology, Guidelines for ATC Classification and DDD Assignment. WHO collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. Oslo: Norway; 2015.
- Pottegård A, Schmidt SAJ, Wallach-Kildemoes H, Sørensen HT, Hallas J, Schmidt M. Data resource profile: the Danish National Prescription Registry. Int J Epidemiol 2017;46(3):798-798f. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyw213.
- Agresti, Alan (2002). Categorical data analysis (second ed.). New Jersey US, Wiley.
- Halvorsen KH, Landmark CJ, Granas AG. Prevalence of different combinations of antiepileptic drugs and CNS drugs in elderly home care service and nursing home patients in Norway. Epilepsy res treat. 2016, article ID 5153093. In: 8 pages; 2016. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/5153093.
- Duco L, Legendre C, Cohen N, Blochet C, Demornandie P, Huon JF, et al. Observational study of drug use among elderly at home and in nursing homes in France. J Nurs Home Res Sci. 2016;2:71–5.
- Wastesson JW, Parker MG, Fastbom J, Thorslund M, Johnell K. Drug use in centenarians compared with nonagenarians and octogenarians in Sweden: a nationwide register-based study. Age Ageing. 2012;41:218–24.
- Selbaek G, Kirkevold O, Engedal K. The prevalence of psychiatric symptoms and behavioral disturbances and the use of psychotropic drugs in Norwegian nursing homes. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2007;22:843–9.
- Norwegian Directorate of Health. National guideline on dementia. 2018 (Helsedirektoratet. Nasjonal faglig retningslinje om demens) https:// helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/nasjonal-faglig-retningslinje-om-demens. Accessed 24 Apr 2018.
- Olsen C, Pedersen I, Bergland A, Enders-Slegers MJ, Jøranson N, Calogiuri G, et al. Differences in quality of life in home-dwelling persons and nursing home residents with dementia–a cross-sectional study. BMC Geriatr. 2016. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-016-0312-4.
- Janus SI, van Manen JG, Izerman MJ, Zuidema SU. Psychotropic drug prescriptions in Western European nursing homes. Int Psychogeriatr. 2016;28:1775–90.
- Shah SM, Carey IM, Harris T, Dewilde S, Cook DG. Antipsychotic prescribing to older people living in care homes and the community in England and Wales. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2011;26:423–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.2557.
- Eggermont L, De Vries K, Scherder E. Psychotropic medication use and cognition in institutionalized older adults with mild to moderate dementia. Int Psychogeriatr. 2009;21:286–94. https://doi.org/10.1017/ \$1041610209008552.
- Puustinen J, Nurminen J, Vahlberg T, Lyles A, Isoaho R, Räihä I, Kivelä SL. CNS medications as predictors of precipitous cognitive decline in the cognitively disabled aged: a longitudinal population-based study. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra. 2012;2:57–68. https://doi.org/10.1159/000336710.
- Hartikainen S, Lonnroos E, Louhivuori K. Medication as a risk factor for falls: critical systematic review. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2007;62:1172–81. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/62.10.1172.
- Douglas IJ, Smeeth L. Exposure to antipsychotics and risk of stroke: selfcontrolled case series study. BMJ. 2008;337:a1227. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.a1227.
- 29. Schneider LS, Dagerman KS, Insel P. Risk of death with atypical antipsychotic drug treatment for dementia: meta-analysis of randomized
placebo-controlled trials. JAMA. 2005;294:1934–43. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.294.15.1934.

- 30. Ballard C, Howard R. Neuroleptic drugs in dementia: benefits and harm. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2006;7:492–500. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1926.
- Wang J, Yu J-T, Wang H-F, Meng X-F, Wang C, Tan C-C, Tan L. Pharmacological treatment of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease; a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2015;86(1):101–9.
- Bergh S, Selbaek G, Engedal K. Discontinuation of antidepressants in people with dementia and neuropsychiatric symptoms (DESEP study): double blind, randomised, parallel group, placebo controlled trial. BMJ. 2012;344. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e1566.
- 33. Van Leeuwen E, Petrovic M, van Driel ML, De Sutter AIM, Vander Stichele R, Declercq T, Christiaens T. Withdrawal versus continuation of long-term antipsychotic drug use for behavioral and psychological symptoms in older people with dementia. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2018, Issue 3. CD007726. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD007726.pub3.
- Nyborg G, Straand J, Klovning A, Brekke M. The Norwegian general practice–nursing home criteria (NORGEP-NH) for potentially inappropriate medication use: a web-based Delphi study. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2015; 33(2):134–41. https://doi.org/10.3109/02813432.2015.1041833.
- Nelson JC, Devanand DP. A systematic review and meta-analysis of placebocontrolled antidepressant studies in people with depression and dementia. J Am Geriatric Soc. 2011 Apr;59(4):577–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03355.x.
- Selbæk G, Engedal K, Benth J, Bergh S. The course of neuropsychiatric symptoms in nursing-home patients with dementia over a 53-month follow-up period. Int Psychogeriatr. 2014;26(1):81–91. https://doi.org/10. 1017/S1041610213001609.
- Husebo BS, Ballard C, Sandvik R, Nilsen OB, Aarsland D. Efficacy of treating pain to reduce behavioral disturbances in residents in nursing homes with dementia; cluster randomized clinical trial. BMJ. 2011;343:1–10.
- Guidance on the management of pain in older people. Age Ageing. 2013; 42(Suppl 1), 1 March:11–i57.
- Ruths S, Straand J, Nygaard HA, Hodneland F. Drug treatment of heart failure – do nursing-home residents deserve better? Scand J Prim Health Care. 2000;18(4):226–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/028134300448797.
- Health and ageing in Norway: Public Health Report 2014, https://www.fhi. no/en/op/public-health-report-2014/helse-i-ulike-befolkningsgrupper/healthand-ageing-in-norway/. Accessed 24 Apr 2018.

## Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- $\bullet$  gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

## At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions

